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Corporate Information
NAEEHR
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Financial Highlights
MHRHE

RESULTS ¥EE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-hFE —ZT-TF T ZE-_Z —g-=

RMB'0O0O ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 [EIVIEVIN]
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARRTT Gk

Revenue WA 1,356,089 1,594,568 1,768,762 2,018,348 1,879,443
Gross profit EF 147,161 137,288 154,998 139,568 141,406
Profit before tax B B4 A1 A 60,679 29,697 39,394 46,958 43,793
Profit for the year FE R F 41,404 22,597 31,300 33,099 30,183
Profit attributable to owners VNG =N
of the Company J& 5 % 41,262 23,030 31,410 33,173 30,745
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

“E-NF ZEBE-ZF —T-—-F —ZEB-— —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT BNELEES

Cash and cash equivalents RehBeEEY 161,903 281,483 300,350 229,253 252,572
Total assets BEBH 2030637 2,221,143 2,290,208 2,288,592 2,325,983
Total liabilities BERE 1,170,759 1,338,668 1,376,433 1,341,718 1,348,926
Total equity B 859,878 882,475 913,775 946,874 977,057
Equity attributable to owners AR RHA A
of the Company JE 15 1 o 852,612 875,642 907,052 940,225 970,970
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEMBER
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-NF ZE2ZTF T —E-— —E&=-=
Gross margin (%) EME(%) 10.9% 8.6% 8.8% 6.9% 7.5%
Net profit margin (%) B % (%) 3.1% 1.4% 1.8% 1.6% 1.6%
Gearing ratio BELE 0.68 0.78 0.76 0.71 0.70
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Chanhigh Holdings
Limited, | present to all shareholders the audited results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Year 2023 represents the beginning of fully carrying out the
spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of
China, the 20th anniversary of the implementation of “Eight-
eight Strategies (J\/\E(f&)” and also the transition year of
three-year COVID-19 prevention and control measures.
Nonetheless, the domestic economy has not shown a
significant recovery trend, with low national consumption desire
and a lack of confidence in social and economic development.
International society conflicts edged up while international trade
tension kept on increasing. Upon the conclusion of the “Two
Sessions” in 2023, relevant policies were promulgated one after
the other. The government released signals continuously,
indicating its determination to quickly recover the economy. The
economic data of China also realized a stable recovering trend
in 2023.

In 20283, closely following the “14th Five-Year Plan” and under
the leadership of the Board of Directors, the Group seized the
opportunities of transformation and development in the
construction industry. While continuing to put in place
traditional infrastructure work, we timely deployed
comprehensive development measures for a new stage and
stably push forward the progress of various works for the year
while ensuring the healthy and green development of all project
aspects.

In 2024, a new journey has commenced. The Group will seize
the opportunities to rise with the trend, promote high-quality
and sustainable development, further enhance the business
scale and profitability of the Company, and strive to reward
shareholders with better operating results and contribute to the
well-being of society.

Peng Tianbin
Chairman and Executive Director

26 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE D

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, with continuous downturn of the real estate industry,
the environment for survival of construction enterprises,
especially small and medium-sized construction enterprises,
was worsened. Since the convening of the 20th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China, the direction of
relevant national policies changed, the prevention and control
of the pandemic was entirely released, national development
entered into a new stage, recovery of production and operation
were accelerated, with faster implementation of various policies
to promote economic recovery. Scope and scale of investments
in infrastructure increased successively. The trends of new
infrastructure and digital transformation of urbanization required
the acceleration of digital transformation in the construction
industry, and enterprises were facing new development
opportunities, with details as follows:

l. Total output value and incremental value of the
construction industry increased

According to the data released by the National Bureau of
Statistics in 2023, the total output value of the
construction industry in China amounted to RMB31.6
trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.8%. The
housing construction area of the national construction
industry amounted to 15.1 billion square meters,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.5%. The
incremental value of the construction industry for the full
year amounted to RMB8.6 trillion, representing a year-on-
year increase of 7.1%. The growth rate of the
construction industry is the highest in the last five years.
Under the harsh macroeconomic background, the total
output value of the construction industry still maintained a
steadily growing trend, and the position of the
construction industry in the national economy remained
stable and solid.

TERREERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWE DN (&)

8

| L=
According to statistics, the profits of the construction
enterprises with qualification grades of general
contracting and professional contracting were RMB832.6
billion, increased by 0.2% as compared with the previous
year, of which the profit of state-owned holding
enterprises amounted to RMB401.9 billion, increased by
4.3%. The number of standalone construction enterprises
was 158,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
10.5%. The increase in construction enterprises resulted in
intensified market competition, and the newly signed
contracts of top eight state-owned construction
enterprises amounted to RMB16.7 trillion in total in 2023,
representing a year-on-year increase of 8.0% and
accounting for approximately 46.8% of the overall market
share of the construction market. The increase in
concentration level indicates a significant trend of
concentration of leading enterprises in the industry.

Business activity index of the construction industry
grows steadily

According to the business activity index of the
construction industry for the Year, the construction
industry maintained steady growth and kept on
expanding. The business activity index of the construction
industry for December 2023 was 56.9%, which was 1.9
percentage points higher than that of the preceding
month, staying at a relatively high positive range above
55.0% and was 2.5 percentage points higher than that of
the same period of last year. Staying at a relatively high
positive range for nearly 80% of the time for the year
showed that under various policy measures that promote
significant project construction, construction enterprises
maintained a relatively faster progress in construction
work. The rebound of new order index, labor index and
business activities forecast index indicates the recovery of
the construction market upon full uplift of pandemic
prevention and control measures.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR

BHst 2EHAEBEESERANEBERABNE
ERPEEENEFES 326 L EF
HR0.2% « EFBAZER{EZE40198TT
BR43%  BERLEBMNEHISSER ' [
tEIE R 10.5% « BEDSEMILINESTHE
FET A - R\ RERERD2023F 3
FARAF16.78E AL K8.0% @ &
BREEAMBELHA468%  EPEIR
T fTERNMEBETBIAAE -

BEXBREDEBFRER

BEAFENEEXT TSR BE
EERFIE - RIFWEER - 2023F 12 8102
RERKEHIEHAE56.9% R EA19
EEDE  (IAE5.0% U FEESRERE
Bt EFRS T25EE D 2Fi80%
MEECASEaSERER  RPEHKSE
AEEERSSHEBRERTSET - #4%
ENERBERBTERE - Fal E4580-
WEABEY EBKETHEHEHDFA -
FPABERBEERE  BEMSEESE
BE o




Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (8)

Digital transformation of the construction industry

The construction industry development plan of the “14th
Five-Year Plan” pointed out that there is huge potential
and room for development in the deep integration of
advanced manufacturing industry and new generation of
information technology during the period of the “14th
Five-Year Plan” At the same time, the aging problem in
the construction industry has been increasing every year,
resulting in problems such as difficulty in employment
and higher costs in the construction industry. The digital
transformation of the construction industry has stimulated
new markets. Intelligent construction will optimize all
aspects of building construction, simplify the construction
process, and install on-site manufacturing at the factory.
Intelligent robots will be adopted to improve the degree
of construction automation, enhance work efficiency,
improve the working environment of workers, and solve
the problems of difficult employment and high costs in
the construction industry.

Vigorous promotion of village revitalization and
enhanced construction of water conservancy
infrastructure

The “14th Five-Year Plan” emphasizes prioritizing the
development of agriculture and villages for the full
promotion of village revitalization. According to the spirit
of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of
China and the 20th Second General Meeting of the
Central Committee, the spirit of the Important Speech of
General Secretary Xi Jinping on his Visit to Zhejiang as
well as 2023 Government Work Report, the determination
of the government on accelerating village revitalization
and new village construction is highlighted. The “14th
Five-Year Plan”, the long-term objectives through the year
2035 and the construction of “Two Major One New (A E
—%7)” require the construction of water conservancy
infrastructure to be strengthened. The construction of
water conservancy works is a great plan for a thousand
years by “performing works in the current era for the
benefits over a thousand years”. The great national efforts
to promote construction of water conservancy
infrastructure have stimulated the emergence of new
markets. In 2023, national investment in water
conservancy construction amounted to nearly RMB1.2
trillion, marking another new high in terms of investment
amount and scale.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWR DN (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the Year, the annual revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB1,879.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.9% over last year. The revenue was mainly
generated from: 1) landscape construction, 2) municipal works
construction, 3) building works, and 4) others, and accounted
for 10.0%, 36.8%, 50.1% and 3.1%, respectively.

In 2023, Chanhigh Construction was successfully conferred tier
two honor of water conservancy safe production
standardization of Zhejiang Province, “Leading Enterprise of the
Happy Community (ERBHEFEBEBREDEZE)" of Zhejiang
Province, Ningbo Top 100 Service Industry Enterprises (ranked
45th), Ningbo Top 100 Competitive Enterprises (rank 47th),
Yinzhou District's Advanced Enterprise with Achievements and
Competitiveness and Yinzhou District's “Dali Ding (KJ18&)”
High-quality Development Award. 28 provincial, municipal and
national honors were awarded for a number of high-quality
engineering works, including standardized work site of Zhejiang
Province, Provincial and Municipal (Quality Project) Gold Award,
Outstanding Landscape Architecture Award Gold Award of
Provincial Society of Landscape Architecture, provincial
intelligent work site, Yongjiang Cup, Camellia Cup and other
honors. Also, three QC results were conferred provincial awards
and two QC results were conferred municipal awards. In terms
of patented process, Chanhigh Construction has newly
registered three invention patents and six utility model patents
in the construction category. Focusing on the creation of a
high-quality project and a standardized work site, close
attention was paid to project quality management as well as
scientific and technological innovations.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company believes that risk management is essential to the
Group’s efficient and effective operation. The Company’s
management assists the Board in evaluating material risk
exposure existing in the Group’s business, including investment
risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk etc., and participates in
formulating appropriate risk management and internal control
measures, and to ensure its implementation in daily operational
management.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (8)

IMPORTANT RELATIONSHIP
Our Employees

The Group had a total of 545 employees as at 31 December
2023. For the Year, employee benefits expense were RMB45.0
million. Set forth below is a breakdown of the number of our
employees by functions as at 31 December 2023:

ERMRE
]

RIE-_=ZF+_A=+—H AEEHAE545
HEE -RAFE EERAMAIAAREKL0
BEL UTHIR=_ZE_=F+=-A=+—H
BMRBEEE D MEB ASPRA

Number of

employees
Function B3 &8 EE A"
Administrative and human resources TTBA AN ER 52
Engineering TR 74
Finance and internal audit B R A EBE T 25
Operational management EEERE 36
Procurement e i 9
Project management and technical team 18 B B 18 R B X 307
Quality and safety HEWHRE 35
Senior management SRERE 7
Total et 545

We believe that our long-term growth depends on the
expertise, experience and development of our employees. The
salaries and benefits of our employees depend primarily on
their type of work, position, length of service with us and local
market conditions. In order to improve our employees’ skills
and technical expertise, we provide regular training to our
employees. We have in-house training programs to train our
new joiners, mainly focusing on skills like construction
technique and working procedures. The goal of the training
programs is to train our employees and to identify talent, with
the aim of providing upward mobility within our Group,
fostering employee loyalty and incorporating customised
mentoring, coaching and training.

During the Year, we did not experience any material labour
disputes, strikes or other material labour conflicts, receive any
complaints, notices or orders from relevant government
authorities or third parties, or receive any claims from our
employees relating to social insurance or housing provident
funds that could materially impaired our business operation or
reputation. We made contributions to social insurance and
housing provident funds in accordance with the applicable
laws and regulations. The details in relation to retirement
benefit scheme are disclosed in notes 4(u) and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWR DN (&)

Our Suppliers

For the Year, we made procurement from 3,340 suppliers
across the PRC. Our suppliers are corporate entities or sole
proprietors who are principally engaged in the supply or
trading of plants and saplings and/or construction materials
and/or leasing of equipment and machineries in the PRC. It is
our policy to maintain multiple suppliers and seek quotations
from at least three suppliers for purchase of major raw
materials to avoid over-reliance on any single supplier. In
addition, to minimize cost and delivery time and given that
certain standardised construction materials such as cements
and steels are readily available in the PRC, we tend to make
procurement from local suppliers which are in close proximity to
the project sites whenever practicable. Our procurement
department maintains a list of qualified suppliers. Such list of
qualified suppliers are selected based on criteria such as price,
quality, record of timely delivery, proximity to the project site,
supply capacity and customer service. During the preparation
of budget for each project, potential price fluctuations of raw
materials are accounted for and any anticipated increase in
costs will be taken into consideration and could be passed to
our customers, to the extent feasible.

Our Customers

Our customers comprise state-invested enterprises, local
governments, property owners and developers in private sector,
entities that manage or operate construction projects and
construction companies who act as the main contractor of the
project and sub-contract a pre-defined section of the project to
us. For the Year, we had 188 customers, of which 122 were
state-invested enterprises or local governments, and the
remaining customers were private enterprises. As we secure
projects from major customers mainly through tendering and we
are awarded contracts mostly on a one-off basis, the
composition of our five largest customers varied from
period-to-period.

12 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR

HEE

REE - Fm 2 E3,340% R 1EH IR -
BZANEERARTREATENEHEXEERE
YRR B KSR SEA R R SRR B AR AR
MEXRERIBELESE - HAESZHERK
R YAEL=BHEFSRKEEZZRMHD
HE - L@ BEKBEERE—HER -t
REERMPDRARZNER - TERETREL
BEMBIAOER MM T2 HETEES - BT
AR TTH [RIBLAR TR B T3 M9 Ak (8 78 1 th 5%
B RMRBIERTF - HAERHEERRE -
ZEERHEAGENEERERRER &
B REXRE  BERE THmEniRE - #
FERENAREFIRY - RABEHENERE
BAEH REMBOEBEEERNE - ZERAH
EAIFERIE N - WAERTTER MEBMEET R
(REE=

P

BFNEFRREBEELE - WABM - MEmH
MMERAANERRE  BREBNEENZE
ERLERAR (EEHEANAABALKIER
MEEEERD DB TRM - AFE - HHE
BEF188% » EF 1228 REE S ESTT BT
EBEPR/LEDLE - AR E EEBIRRE
BEZEFEBEERMNEENAGORITOE X
MEERER  MBRMAAREPHNEKESHISEE
) o




Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (8)

PROSPECTS

Year 2023 represents the beginning of fully carrying out the
spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of
China, the 20th anniversary of the implementation of “Eight-
eight Strategies” and also the transition year of three-year
COVID-19 prevention and control measures. Nonetheless, the
domestic economy has not shown a significant recovery trend,
with low national consumption desire and a lack of confidence
in social and economic development. International society
conflicts edged up while international trade tension kept on
increasing. For the industry, China maintains macro control over
the construction industry, and industry competition is
increasingly keen. Under such backdrop and with the precise
leadership of the board of directors and operation
management team, Chanhigh managed to advance amidst
difficulties, united and strived to continuously broaden various
channels, optimize structures and enhance efficiency, thereby
achieving relatively good results in operation.

In 2024, the Central Government has made a budget to invest
RMB700.0 billion in new investment growth points with focus on
new infrastructure. Construction of infrastructure related to flood
control, drainage and disaster relief will be facilitated, while key
engineering projects of the “14th Five-year Plan” will be
accelerated. At the same time, Ningbo region places emphasis
on the construction of dual-cycle hub with full efforts, and
plans to build a batch of public infrastructure for “both ordinary
and emergency uses (‘F=MHMA)", with a goal to invest
RMB150.0 billion in infrastructure. Public infrastructure
construction will remain as the key investment and
development direction of China in the future.

In the future, the Group will closely follow the national strategic
planning and industrial policies, continue to build the dream
constructions of Chanhigh and create a new chapter in the
future.

EVS
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group decreased by 6.9% or RMB138.9 million
from RMB2,018.3 million for last year to RMB1,879.4 million for
the Year. This mainly due to the fact that for the Year the
decrease in revenue of landscape construction segment and
municipal works construction segment offset the increase in
revenue of building works segment and others segment, and
led to overall decrease in the Group’s total revenue.

The revenue recognised during the Year for projects completed
during the Year and in progress as at 31 December 2023 as
compared with that of last year is tabulated as follows:

5t %5 [0 iR
L'ON

AEBNBABEZFHNARE20183EE TR
16.9%HARMEIZBBIBEETEAFEMNARKE
187948 &L ' AT ERRANFERMERS
BRI TRRER D HBUWMAN TR TEET
BOoBREMS WA EFH  FAREEREEK
ABFTTBE -

AFEEENHWBENR _Z_=F+=-A=+—
B IEAETHIEE WAL F—FEHEL - 7
REATR

2023 2022
—E-= - —F
No. of No. of No. of No. of
projects projects projects projects
completed in progress completed in progress
during the as at the during the as at the
Business segments EB A Revenue year year end Revenue year year end
FEERE FEERE
FRTTH HEET FRTEK T
LON HEHE HEHE A HE#E HEHE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETF T
Landscape construction BEMER 187,077 19 23 406,734 43 77
Municipal works construction M Ti2E:& 691,265 40 78 797,275 37 46
Building works BETRR 942,411 12 25 775,128 12 20
Others Hit 58,690 16 31 39,211 16 27
Total 85t 1,879,443 87 157 2,018,348 108 170

As compared with that of last year, the revenue for the Year
decreased by 6.9% while the number of projects for the Year
decreased by 12.2%. The overall decrease in revenue was
mainly due to (i) landscape construction segment of which the
revenue and number of projects for the Year decreased by
54.0% or RMB219.6 million and 65.0% respectively; (ii)
municipal works construction segment of which the revenue
and number of projects decreased by 13.3% or RMB106.0
million and increased by 42.2% respectively as a result of
decrease in average contract value; and (iii) building works
segment of which the revenue and number of projects for the
Year increased by 21.6% or RMB167.3 million and 15.6%
respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (8)

Landscape construction

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue from the
landscape construction segment, from RMB406.7 million for last
year to RMB187.1 million for the Year, representing a decrease
of 54.0% or RMB219.6 million. As mentioned above, the
decrease was mainly due to decrease in number of projects for
the Year as compared with that of last year.

Municipal works construction

The Group recorded a decrease in revenue from the municipal
works construction segment, from RMB797.3 million for last
year to RMB691.3 million for the Year, representing a decrease
of 13.3% or RMB106.0 million. As mentioned above, the
decrease was mainly due to decrease in average contract
value for the Year as compared with that of last year.

Building works

The Group recorded an increase in revenue from the building
works segment, from RMB775.1 million for last year to
RMB942.4 million for the Year, representing an increase of
21.6% or RMB167.3 million. As mentioned above, the increase
was mainly due to increase in number of projects value for the
Year as compared with that of last year.

Others

The Group recorded an increase in revenue from the others
segment, from RMB39.2 million for last year to RMB58.7 million
for the Year, representing an increase of 49.7% or RMB19.5
million. The increase was mainly due to increase in average
contract value and number of projects for the Year as
compared with that of last year.

Cost of services rendered

Cost of services rendered decreased by 7.5% or RMB139.6
million from RMB1,871.0 million for last year to RMB1,731.4
million for the Year. Generally, the decrease in cost of services
rendered was in line with the decrease in revenue for the
Year.

B M ER

AEEFSEMBER S FNRABEFHNARE
406. 7B & LR L 54.0% K ARE2196EELE
AEEMAREA87ABETT - W0 LA - B E
ZHRNIBEEERD -

THRIRER

AEENTHRIZESRSBBAHEFHARKE
797 3EETH A 13.3% K ARKE106.0EETE
REEMAREGCIT.3HET o 0 AT - B =E
BHAEEFLE  AFEFHEOEETR -

BEIR

REBMEETRERSBBAREFHARET75.1
BEILEM21.6%HARE1673BELELAFE
MARK42 4B ETT o 10 LTI - ENEZHP
BEFLE  AFEEEHBE M-

Hft

REBMNEMDBRABREFHAREI2ES
T4 7% K ARBEIOSABLEAFENA
RES87TAEEIL - HEWMEBERARNEEFLLE
NEFFHENEBEKRBEZEEM-

R A

RERBEABEFHARE,871.08ETED
75%HFARBIEELEAFEMARE
1,731.4B &0 o B8 F1RHARFES A AR AR A B 7K
FEWARR DB -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by 1.3% or RMB1.8 million
from RMB139.6 million for last year to RMB141.4 million for the
Year. Gross profit margin of the Group increased from 6.9% for
last year to 7.5% for the Year because the average profit
margin of building works segment for the Year was slightly
higher than that of last year.

Other income, and gains and losses

Other income, and gains and losses decreased by 30.1% or
RMB8.1 million from RMB26.9 million for last year to RMB18.8
million for the Year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease
in interest income arising from contract revenue.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses slightly increased by 3.3%
or RMB2.0 million from RMB59.8 million for last year to
RMB61.8 million for the Year.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased by 17.2% or RMBA4.1
million from RMB23.8 million for last year to RMB27.9 million for
the Year, which was mainly due to decrease in portion of
interest capitalised.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense slightly decreased by 2.2% or
RMBO0.3 million from RMB13.9 million for last year to RMB13.6
million for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Net Current Assets

The table below sets forth selected information for current
assets and current liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and

2022, respectively:

REBEEFE

TREIWAZZF_=FR_F

e el P

—BNRBEERRDABNEEER

2023 2022
—_E—= SEOET s
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T

Current Assets RBEE
Inventories FE — 1,353
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b E R FRIA 616,393 739,563
Contract assets GHEE 1,175,371 1,107,154
Bank and cash balances R1TMIR® 5k 416,098 332,906
2,207,862 2,180,976

Current Liabilities RBEE
Trade and bills payables ZE SR RERENEE 406,624 359,898
Accruals and other payables FEET B R K& E fh FE 7T 58 64,014 85,110
Contract liabilities BRNEaE 66,733 100,731
Lease liabilities HEARE 301 —
Borrowings &R 573,700 560,000
Current tax liabilities BNERT IR B & 135,012 129,977
1,246,384 1,235,716
Net current assets RBEERE 961,478 945,260

The Group’s net current assets increased by 1.7% or RMB16.2 A&SBERBEEFER T _—_F+-_A=1+—

million from RMB945.3 million as at 31 December 2022 to
RMB961.5 million as at 31 December 2023. The increase was
primarily due to increase in year end bank and cash balances
as a result of continuous debt collection effort put in by the

management during the Year.

HMW AR5 3HEELIEMI1.7%HARKE16.2
BAETE T _=F+-_A=+t—HWAR®
WBISEBETL - ENETEARATFEERERE
BAEBEBRFERFRBIT MBS EH L -
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BZ R EMERRIE

TREIIRAR - _=FR_FB__F+-_A=+
—BESREMBUTIBEH DT

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The following table sets forth an analysis of trade and other
receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 indicated:

2023 2022
—E-= ket Lt 7
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFT
Trade and bills receivables EHEZERMEREE
Trade receivables FEW B ZBR K 301,138 325,686
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIZEREE (75,702) (79,291)
225,436 246,395
Bills receivables JE W 1R 3,786 7,086
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIZIREHE (2,624) (639)
1,162 6,447
226,598 252,842
Other receivables H 1th FE WK
Construction contracts performance BEAVOBHRESR
guarantees and deposit for tender KRIERES 34,832 14,180
Retentions receivables FE AR [E & 40,851 44,574
Receivables for demolition expenses FEULTE A R B 5 IE
paid in advance 32,075 32,065
Amount due from an associate JFE U Bt 2 (b EE 5R0A 28,403 32,903
Others HAp 52,830 27,955
188,991 151,677
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIBEREE (18,420) (2,865)
170,571 148,812
Prepayments and deposits EAREAS
Advance of suppliers and other prepayments &1 {H & 5 K2 H 78 1< 7% 219,128 337,909
Lease deposits HERS 96 —
219,224 337,909
616,393 739,563
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The trade and other receivables decreased by 16.7% or
RMB123.2 million from RMB739.6 million as at 31 December
2022 to RMB616.4 million as at 31 December 2023. The
decrease was primarily due to the fact that more effort was put
into receivables collection.

The following table sets forth the ageing analysis of trade and
bills receivables, based on the contract terms for the work
certified, net of allowance for bad and doubtful debts, as at
31 December 2023 and 2022:

B REMERRER-_"TE-_—_F+=-_A=1+—
HMAR®B739.6E B L L 16.7% AR K
1282BBTEZE_ZT_=ZF+_A=+—HMA
REG164EBIL - BRALEZEHRBAEZE )
e g B UK o

TREIR - E-_=ZFR T -_—F+_A=+
—HERAHBERDRELREL RINK RER
BENE SR8 R IEW =R DT

2023 2022
S = =

—_— =

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
N ARBTT

0 to 90 days 0ZE90Kk 87,250 100,407
91 to 180 days 91EF 180k 4,892 9,450
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 41,430 47,632
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1F A EEDR2F 23,789 51,116
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA FBDRR3E 32,226 11,127
Over 3 years 3FM 37,011 33,110

226,598 252,842

The table below sets forth a summary of average turnover days
of trade and bills receivables for the years indicated:

TREFIRNARE NE S ERHA R R R
FHEEREBE

2023 2022
—Z2=-= —ZF-=
Average turnover days of trade and B 5 RUGRIE R ERER
bills receivables” 5 R B R B 46.6 63.5

Note (1) Average turnover days of trade and bills receivables for the
year is derived by dividing the arithmetic mean of the
opening and closing balances of trade and bills
receivables for the relevant period by revenue and
multiplying by 365 days.

Biat(1) FREFHERRGFERERZERETFIAEX
HIZERB RN Y R RS 5 R UGKIE
REWEEEHNEN FHERNKEE
FLABBHRAFTEF T -
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1 |

ZoORNRBRERERTFYEERSHEFE
HB3.5KBMEARFEML6.6K TEHNAEE
BEEBIRARTZE B ZESRIKK -

The average turnover days of trade and bills receivables
decreased from 63.5 days in last year to 46.6 days in the Year,
mainly due to the fact that management put more effort to
collect these receivables during the Year.

TRREGETEE-_ZE-_NWE_A-+HABEBR
T =F+ - A=+—HRNBEZREWRZENE

The following table provides information about the subsequent
settlement as at 29 February 2024 on trade and bills

receivables as at 31 December 2023:

WEBEREYRER

Subsequent
Gross carrying settlement
amount as at up to
31 December 29 February
2023 2024
R==F== Bz
+t=A=+—~H —EMOEF
IRE€®¥® =—BA=thBZ
R{E HA 8 WK
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® T AR% T
Trade and bills receivables: EFERREREREE

0-90 days past due 0ZE 90K % HA 89,140 65,294
91-180 days past due 91ZE 180K %1 Hf 5,170 5,170
181-365 days past due 1812 365 A1 & 42,840 17,740
Over 1 year but less than 2 years past due 15 LA H{B D24 i Hf 43,208 9,272
Over 2 years but less than 3 years past due 2% LA 1B D34 i1 Hf 58,743 15,661
Over 3 years past due 3F A - Hf 65,823 1,950
304,924 115,087
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Contract assets/liabilities BHEE GHNERE

The following table sets forth an analysis of contract assets/ THRHBINARZZEZ=FR-_T-__F+-A=+
contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. —BAENEE/AHNBENDIN:

2023 2022
—E-=& =R s
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T

Contract assets BREE 1,175,371 1,107,154
Contract liabilities BRNEaE (66,733) (100,731)
1,108,638 1,006,423

As compared with that as at 31 December 2022, contract HEZ_ZT - —F+ = F=+—HFEMAL - &
assets, net as at 31 December 2023 increased because more Z_ZZE_=F+_A=+—HBHNAHEEFHEIE
high contract value projects were in progress as at 31 MNMEARZEAHNEBEER-_ZT_=F+=-A=
December 2023. +—HNERE -

Trade and bills payables EZRNIRERENERE

The table below sets forth, as at 31 December 2023 and TXFIN_ZFE-_=FR-_TE-_—_F+-_A=+
2022, the ageing analysis of trade and bills payables based on —BERWE RIEHREBENE 5 B HE M
the date of receipt of goods and services: FERTERRER DT -

2023 2022
—Ee= S

= = —_—< ——

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT

0 to 90 days 0290H 96,355 83,066
91 to 180 days 91£180H 39,593 67,287
181 to 365 days 181£365H 83,214 59,680
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1F A EBTBE2F 77,132 80,875
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F A LB BIBIF 55,606 19,296
Over 3 years 3FM 54,724 49,694

406,624 359,898
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L

The trade payables increased by 13.0% or RMB46.7 million
from RMB359.9 million as at 31 December 2022 to RMB406.6
million as at 31 December 2023 because the Group slowed
down payments of certain payables to maintain a better
liquidity position.

The table below sets forth a summary of average turnover days
of trade payables for the years indicated:

Average turnover days of trade payables™

B 5 RN RIR Y EERED

B oORNRIBRE S+ -_A=+—H&HA
R#359.95 Bt N13.0% % A R 46.75H B
TE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HWHAR¥406.6
BB BARKELEE ST BSZAMRE
BOTHREN M ©

TREINFARFANE ZREMNFBFHEAEX
B

2023 2022

—_=E_= —=E-=
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET ARBEF T
80.8 67.2

Note (1) Average turnover days of trade payables for the year is

derived by dividing the arithmetic mean of the opening
and closing balances of trade payables for the relevant
period by cost of service rendered, excluding depreciation
and multiplying by 365 days.

The average turnover days of trade payables increased from
67.2 days in last year to 80.8 days in the Year, mainly due to
abovementioned slow-down of payments.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditures

For the Year, the Group incurred capital expenditures totalling
RMB8.0 million in relation to property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant capital
commitments.
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INDEBTEDNESS
Borrowings

The following table sets forth total debts as at 31 December
2023 and 2022:

Bank borrowings HRITE X

TRHBIR _E-_=ZFR_E_—_F+_A=+
—HREBEE -

2023 2022
—E_=fF —E-F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T AREEFTT

675,702 666,002

The average interest rate for bank loans as at 31 December
2023 was 4.38% per annum.

Except as disclosed above as at 31 December 2023, the
Group did not have any outstanding loan capital issued or
agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans or other similar
indebtedness, liabilities under acceptances (other than normal
trade bills) or acceptable credits, debentures, mortgages,
charges, finance leases or hire purchases commitments,
guarantees, material covenants, or other material contingent
liabilities.

RIB_=F+-_A=+—HRITERFHER
R 54.38% °

BREXHEEEN RZB_=F+-A=+—
A AEBEYWEEM R REECHTRAEST
?ﬂ% REAR - RITEX  BERIEMEUR
%REE(*ﬁﬁimF@MO&T 2WE
CEERE BB CEH eRBEEHREBA

% %ﬁ ERARFLAEMERKABE -
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

The following table sets forth key financial ratios for the years/
as at each of the dates indicated:

Gross profit margin (%)™
Net profit margin (%)@
Return on equity (%)®
Return on total assets (%)®

Current ratio®
Gearing ratio®
Net debt to equity ratio®

24 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR

L

FEMBLER

TRBIREFMRER, BRNEEHLE

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—BHLFE

2023
—=E—=
EF (%) 7.5
4 ) 2R (%)@ 1.6
B& 7S 8] ) (%)@ 3.1
485 EE B R K (%)@ 1.3

2022
.

PR

6.9
1.6
3.5
1.4

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-=
TMENLE RO 1.8 1.8
BEL RO 0.7 0.7
FEEEREERD 0.4 0.5



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (8)

Notes:

(1)

3)

4

(6)

(7

Gross profit margin for the year was calculated based on gross
profit divided by total revenue for the respective year and
multiplied by 100%.

Net profit margin for the year was calculated based on profit for
the year divided by total revenue for the respective year and
multiplied by 100%.

Return on equity for the year was calculated based on the profit
for the year for the respective year divided by total equity as at
the respective year end and multiplied by 100%.

Return on total assets for the year was calculated based on the
profit for the respective year divided by the total assets as at the
respective year end and multiplied by 100%.

Current ratio was calculated based on the total current assets as
at the respective year end divided by the total current liabilities
as at the respective year end.

Gearing ratio was calculated based on the total borrowings as at
the respective year end divided by total equity as at the
respective year.

Net debt to equity ratio was calculated based on net borrowings
(being total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) as at
the respective year end divided by total equity as at the
respective year end.

Return on equity

The return on equity decreased from 3.5% for last year to 3.1%

for the Year,

year.

primarily due to the decrease in profit for the

Return on total assets

The return on total assets for the year slightly decreased from

1.4%

of last year to 1.3% for the Year as a result of decrease

in profit for the year.

(1)

2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)
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Current ratio

The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2023 remained
unchanged at 1.8 as compared with that as at 31 December
2022.

Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2023 remained
unchanged at 0.7 as compared with that as at 31 December
2022.

Net debt to equity ratio

The Group’s net debt to equity ratio slightly decreased from 0.5
as at 31 December 2022 to 0.4 as at 31 December 2023 as a
result of increase in year end balance of cash and cash
equivalents.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any
significant investments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the part headed “USE OF NET
PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING” in the section headed “Report
of the Directors”, the Group had no future plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2023.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

There was no charge on group assets as at 31 December
2023.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISKS

The Group is exposed to various types of financial risks
including credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Given the Group’s operation is mainly in the PRC and the
functional currency is RMB, the exchange rate risk is
insignificant.
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EEEN WD (&)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, and cash and bank balances. In order to
minimise credit risk of trade and bill receivables, the Directors
have delegated a team to be responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures. In addition, the Directors review the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt regularly to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
debts.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The Directors
closely monitor amounts due from related companies. The
Group has limited credit risk on cash and bank balances
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term. Please refer to note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements for details on the analysis based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s financial
liabilities.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and bank borrowings. These deposits and borrowings
bear interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition. Given the base interest rate of The People’s
Bank of China is expected to remain stable in the foreseeable
future, the relevant risk is considered insignificant.
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Directors and Senior Management
EERSREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Peng Tianbin (¥ X38), aged 43, is an executive Director
and Chairman of the Company. He was appointed as a
Director on 1 April 2016 and then was redesignated as an
executive Director on 15 March 2017. Mr. Peng TB was the
vice general manager of Chanhigh Construction from 2001 to
2005, and was appointed as the chairman of CHHG in 2005.
Mr. Peng TB is responsible for overall management, corporate
policy making and strategic planning of the Group’s business
operations. He is currently the general manager, director and
legal representative of CHHG.

Mr. Peng TB obtained a diploma in computer application* (31 &
H M) in July 2000. He joined the Group in 2001, and has
since then obtained over 20 years of experience in the
landscape and public work construction industry.

Mr. Peng TB is the son of Mr. Peng DS, an executive Director,
and Ms. Wang SF, a non-executive Director, and the brother of
Mr. Peng YH, an executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company.

Mr. Peng Yonghui (¥ k&), aged 42, is an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company. He was appointed
as a Director on 1 April 2016 and was redesignated as an
executive Director on 15 March 2017. He is responsible for
overall management, financial operation and internal
management of the Group. Mr. Peng YH manages the Group’s
administrative, human resources and financial departments. He
is also in charge of bank financing and other related matters of
the Group.

Mr. Peng YH obtained a diploma in highways and urban roads
engineering from Changsha University of Science and
Technology* (K T KE) in June 2004, and a degree in civil
engineering from Wuhan University of Technology* (EU£IE T K
&) in June 2006 through an online course. Mr. Peng YH
obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration from
Tsinghua University in June 2017, and was appointed by
Tsinghua University School of Economics and Management as
an alumni entrepreneur mentor in August 2018. He has the
qualifications of senior economist and senior engineer. Mr. Peng
YH joined the Group in April 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Peng YH is the son of Mr. Peng DS, an executive Director,
and Ms. Wang SF, a non-executive Director, and the brother of
Mr. Peng TB, an executive Director and chairman of the
Company.

Mr. Peng Daosheng (#384), aged 68, is the founder of the
Group and an executive Director. He was appointed as a
Director on 1 April 2016, and then was redesignated as an
executive Director on 15 March 2017. Since the Group was
established, Mr. Peng DS was responsible for its business
development and quality control. As Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng
YH joined the Group, they gradually took over the day-to-day
business operations. Mr. Peng DS is now mainly responsible
for setting the Group’s business directions and focus. He is
currently the director and legal representative of Chanhigh
Construction.

Mr. Peng DS obtained a bachelor’s diploma of civil engineering
from Changsha University of Science & Technology* (K23 T
K£) in June 2004. He has over 20 years of experience in the
landscape and public work construction industry. In January
2001, Mr. Peng DS established Chanhigh Construction and
acted as the general manager. In April 2005, CHHG was
established and Mr. Peng DS was appointed as the president
of CHHG.

Mr. Peng DS is the spouse of Ms. Wang SF, a non-executive
Director, and the father of Mr. Peng TB, an executive Director
and chairman of the Company, and Mr. Peng YH, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wang Sufen (EZ£Z%), aged 62, was appointed as a
Director on 1 April 2016 and was then redesignated as a
non-executive Director on 15 March 2017. Ms. Wang SF is
responsible for providing objective advice and judgment to the
Board in relation to major business decisions.

Ms. Wang SF has over 20 years of experience in the trading
business. In October 1994, she established YZTB, which
specialises in trading, and is the legal representative and
general manager of such company.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Ms. Wang SF is the spouse of Mr. Peng DS, an executive
Director, and the mother of Mr. Peng TB, an executive Director
and chairman of the Company, and Mr. Peng YH, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fan Rong (S2%), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 March 2017. He is a
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since 1995. In 1996, Mr. Fan was qualified as a certified public
tax collector. Since October 2010, Mr. Fan has been working as
a partner of Da Hua Certified Public Accountants* (KZE & 1A

SHA).

Mr. Fan graduated from Anhui Open University* (Z#EEE R
KE) in June 1986. In June 2002, Mr. Fan completed Graduate
Programs for Advanced Studies of Sun Yat-Sen Business
School* (F 1L KEE IR Ef7).

Mr. Fan worked at Guangzhou Tianhe Accounting Firm* (EJMN X
A& ETAIEH5FT) and Lixin Dahua Accounting Firm Guangzhou
Branch* (e REGFHEIEHFTEIMN S FT) before joining Da Hua
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Shi Weixing (iE&£), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 March 2017.

Mr. Shi graduated from Tongji University* (R AXE) with a
bachelor's degree in architecture (structural engineering) in July
1984. He obtained a master’s degree in structural engineering
from Tongji University in May 1987, and a doctorate degree in
engineering from Tongji University in September 1990. Mr. Shi
is currently a professor at Tongji University.

Mr. Yang Zhongkai (#%{#&l), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 March 2017. He is
currently the Chairman of partners conference (& ¥ A @i E)
of King & Ray Law Firm (K;ZZ BRI E5ET).
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Yang studied in Nankai University. In October 2009,
Mr. Yang obtained a Master of Arts (International Relations in
Economy and Trade) from Flinders University through one of its
offshore programs. Mr. Yang obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration from Tsinghua University in June 2017.

Mr. Yang has been serving as the Chairman of partners
conference of King & Ray Law Firm since December 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong Tai Alex (%2%), aged 50, is the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Tong joined
the Group in December 2015 and is in charge of the finance
department. He is responsible for overseeing financial
management and regulatory compliance, as well as reporting
obligations of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tong
worked in an international CPA firm for approximately 15 years.
Mr. Tong is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountant.

Mr. Jiang Libo (33 %), aged 51, is the general manager of
Chanhigh Construction. Mr. Jiang graduated from Jiangnan
University* (CTFAZ) majored in engineering management,
and the professional technical titles of senior engineer and
senior economist. He joined Chanhigh Construction since
September 2007. He is also the vice chairman of Ningbo Safe
Production Association* (ZEMELE2EEWHE), the tutor of
master postgraduate students in Ningbo University* (ZE/fFAE),
the vice chairman of Ningbo Civil Construction Entrepreneurs
Association* (EETMREPERIBE), the vice chairman of
Ningbo Landscape Architecture Association* (Z% & S B #
&), the executive vice chairman of Ningbo Technological
Innovation Association* ()& M EHLAIFT1% ) and the executive
director of Ningbo Entrepreneurs Association* (% > ¥ XK 1
&), having been awarded the Excellent Project Manager of
Chinese Society of Landscape Architecture* (REIESEHES
E55TA B #38), the Advanced Worker of Zhejiang Landscape
Architecture* (NI EERBEMNSEGSEETIERE), the Excellent
Professional Manager of Ningbo Municipal Industry* (2§ m
BiTEEF B EKIE), the Most Influential Entrepreneur of
Ningbo Construction Industry* (R ERERAFENPER),
the Excellent Entrepreneur of 17th Session in Ningbo (28K~
tEEFDLER) and the Excellent Construction Entrepreneur in
Yinzhou District* (Z0M[REFEEE P ER).
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Mr. Yang Jiannan (% #®), aged 55, is the head of quality
control department of the Group. Mr. Yang is responsible for
overseeing the quality of production and construction safety of
the Group. Mr. Yang graduated from Zhejiang Agricultural
University* (7T 2% K &) (predecessor of Zhejiang University)
with a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Yang worked in
Ningbo Rongshan Sports Ground Engineering Limited* (288 48
BB IS e RE TR AR A7) before joining the Group in August
2010.

Mr. Wang Yuexi (EBE), aged 43, is the vice chairman of the
Company and in charge of the administrative department. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Wang worked for Ningbo Huasheng
Industrial Group (Z)RZERETEE) and Yinyi Group (RIEE
E). He graduated from Zhejiang University majored in
economics, and has a master degree in industrial engineering
from Zhejiang University and the qualification of senior
economist. He joined the Group in February 2019.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tong Tai Alex (5%2), aged 50, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Group on 25 June 2016. For further
details about Mr. Tong’s biography, please refer to the
sub-section headed “Senior Management” above.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally provides landscape, municipal works and
building works construction and maintenance services to its
customers. In addition, the Group undertakes renovation works
and provides other services such as provision of maintenance
and heritage building restoration services. During the Year, the
Group provided construction services mainly to state-invested
enterprises and local government. The analysis of the revenue
of the principal activities of the Group for the Year is set out in
notes 7 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS

A review of the business of the Group is provided in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 27 and
“Chairman’s Statement” on page 6. A discussion on the
Group’s future business development is provided in the
sub-section headed “Prospect” of section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 13 of this
annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the
“Financial Highlights” on page 5 of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 129 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend a dividend for the Year.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 31 March 2017.
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In line with the change in use of net proceeds from the Listing ZARRHBHA-_Z—+tF+_-_AN\HHNAER
as described in the Company’s announcement dated R EFRAEFREFERENENR  FTRHFAHIA
8 December 2017, the following table sets forth the Group’s SBEHZEARBKRE BB SRIEFHER S

use of net proceeds up to the date of this report:

Adjusted Remaining
allocation of Utilised amount amount as at
use of up to the date the date of
proceeds of this report this report
RABRMBRE BELREEH RARE B H
AESE EBALE HErE R
(HK$ million)  (HKS$ million)  (HK$ million)
(B8%ET) (B8%ET) (B8%ET)
Acquisition of construction companies possessing WERTBIAR (BFEERRY 195.8  120.2 (Note 1) 75.6
first-grade qualification and certificates in municipal ANEIBE RKBKIER) AES (Kiat1)
projects, including but not limited to highway REERFENERRA]
projects and water projects
Acquisition of or strategic investment in architectural WES BT ENRI=AMNA 91.4 7.5 (Note 2) 83.9
design firm(s) in the Yangtze River Delta possessing BHEREERTEENRE (KiiE2)
first-grade qualification in architectural design B&VAL
Acquisition or establishment of a new inspection centre WS — R EEi@E - DT 7.9 — 7.9
accredited with the qualification(s) to carry out AR L ARR R %
inspection, analysis and testing on the incoming HREEERETRERR
materials to be used for construction, and/or FEFREB PO
inspection and supervision of construction works
General working capital —REEESR 20.2 20.2 —
Total i 315.3 147.9 167.4

34 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR




Report of the Directors (Continued)
E=gwmE (@

Notes:

e The Group acquired several construction licenses including a
First-Grade General Contractor for Water Works and Hydropower
Projects Qualification, a Second-Grade General Contractor for
Highway Construction Projects Qualification along with a Second-
Grade General Contractor for Water Works and Hydropower
Projects Qualification and a First-Grade General Contractor for
Housing Construction Projects Qualification in the PRC at a
consideration of RMB76,000,000, RMB13,600,000 and
RMB13,500,000 respectively, totaling RMB103.1 million (HK$120.2

million).

2. The Group acquired an A-Grade Landscape Construction Design
Qualification at a consideration of RMB6.7 million (HK$7.5
million).

The remaining net proceeds of approximately HK$167.4 million
are currently held in bank deposits and it is intended to apply
in the manner consistent with the proposed allocation in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 December 2017. These
remaining net proceeds are expected to be utilised by the end
of 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group’s purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for 2.5% of its total procurements, and purchases
from five largest suppliers accounted for 9.6% of its total
procurements.

For the Year, the Group’s revenue contributed by the largest
customer accounted for 16.8% of its total revenue, and revenue
contributed by the five largest customers accounted for 31.3%
of its total revenue.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their respective close associates or any shareholders who own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or five largest suppliers during the Year.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 December 2023 are set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out on page 132 in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Cayman Islands Companies Law and the Articles of
Association, amounted to RMB418,506,000.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors for the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Peng Tianbin (Chairman)
Mr. Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Peng Daosheng

Non-executive Director:

Ms. Wang Sufen

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fan Rong
Mr. Shi Weixing
Mr. Yang Zhongkai

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at
every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 28 to 32 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company
considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTER OF
APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company on 30 March 2023 for a term of
three years. For the executive Directors and the non-executive
Director, the service contracts, may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party to
the other. For the independent non-executive Directors, the
service contracts may be terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party to the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no Director or entity
connected with a Director or the Controlling Shareholders had
a material interest in, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 545 full-time
employees. The Remuneration Committee was set up for
reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market practices. The emolument policy of the
Group would also make reference to the comparable market
practices with reference to the qualifications of the employees.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 14 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this annual report, there were no changes to
information which are required to be disclosed and had been
disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e)
and (g) of Rule 13.51 (2) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the
register maintained by the Company, or (ii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

EERFRTRAEBRAQAKREAKEEH
B HERORESP2ZEERAR

RAFEREEY EERARREBTHAR
RARABHEEMEBZE(EERESRYE
ERBIEXVER) 2 Bty - BB REHT - #A
(VRBEESFNRAERGIEXVEBET RSO MBEMNS
ARARNBRAzEEAR (BREBRERESF K
HMERABBIHRX  REREFIRER/ER
EEmIORR) - H(NVREEF LG GHIZE
B52F BN ARRIAFEZ Bt Nz e
KRR - (i) RBIRET ARG AR R MBI
Pz tEm FORBIAT -

Long positions in ordinary Shares NEBERNERE
Approximate
shareholding
Number of percentage
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares (%)
B R E
EEpE ERtE RGO EE B2 (%)
Mr. Peng YH Trustee of the PYH Family Trust and 451,170,000 72.95%
the PTB Family Trust (Note 1)
KB E CZXBRIEEFERZRBRIEETENZEAN (BT 1)
Interests of spouse (Note 2) 1,610,000 0.26%
I dikss (Hitz)
Beneficial owner (Note 3) 214,000 0.03%
EnlAANHE3)
Mr. Peng TB Interests under section 317 (Note 4) 452,994,000 73.24%
TR EE ENTIRTEER (Hat4)
Mr. Peng DS Interests under section 317 (Note 4) 452,994,000 73.24%
TEERE FBIINTIE TR = (K5t 4)
Ms. Wang SF Interests under section 317 (Note 4) 452,994,000 73.24%
FTERFLL ENTIR TRz (A 774)
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Notes:

(1)  Vast Base is owned by Mr. Peng YH as trustee of the PYH Family
Trust and TEUR is owned by Mr. Peng YH as trustee of the PTB
Family Trust. Mr. Peng YH being the trustee of the PYH Family
Trust and the PTB Family Trust, is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by the PYH Family Trust and the
PTB Family Trust under the SFO.

(2) 1,610,000 Shares are held by the spouse of Mr. Peng YH.
(8) 214,000 Shares are held by Mr. Peng YH in his own capacity.

(4)  Pursuant to the Acting-in-Concert Confirmation, each of Mr. Peng
DS, Ms. Wang SF and Mr. Peng TB is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Mr. Peng YH is interested, by virtue of
section 317 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report,
none of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
had or was deemed to have any interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) that was required to be recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the Year and up to the date of this report were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Hat
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s AR R DA #E R -

(2)  1,610,00088R% D A& KB AMIBIESE -
(8) 214,000 MEBTXKBEENEBAGEES -

(4) RE-BTHERE BERE  TEFLE
R R FEERIBE S RS ROIE 317 IRER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO:

Long position in the ordinary Shares

Name of substantial

Shareholder Nature of interest
TERREE BB ERtE

Vast Base Beneficial interest (Note)
IR BEatkn (M)

TEUR Beneficial interest (Note)
PN BEwiEn (M)

Note:

Vast Base is wholly-owned by Mr. Peng YH as the trustee of the PYH
Family Trust. The PYH Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by
Mr. Peng YH whose beneficiaries are Mr. Peng YH and his
descendants who carry the “PENG (&)” surname. On the other hand,
TEUR is wholly-owned by Mr. Peng YH as the trustee of the PTB
Family Trust. The PTB Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by
Mr. Peng YH whose beneficiaries are Mr. Peng TB and his
descendants who carry the “PENG ()" surname. Under the SFO,
Mr. Peng YH as a trustee of the PYH Family Trust and the PTB Family
Trust is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Vast Base and
TEUR under the PYH Family Trust and the PTB Family Trust.
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Approximate
percentage of
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Shares (%)
IR A
RO E A 7 (%)
226,170,000 36.57%
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Save as disclosed above, and as at the date of this annual
report, the Directors were not aware of any persons (who were
not Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required,
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

For the Year, none of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. These related party transactions were not regarded
as connected transactions or were exempt from reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the Cayman Islands Companies Law,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding the
Shares.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the
Company that he/she/it has complied with the non-competition
undertakings that he/she/it provided to the Company on
15 March 2017 pursuant to the Non-competition Deed. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance and confirmed that all of these non-competition
undertakings have been complied with by the Controlling
Shareholders during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors had any interest in any
businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group persists in maintaining good corporate governance
and operating in compliance with the laws and integrity
through abidance by relevant laws and regulations, industry
regulations and business ethics. For the Year and up to the
date of this report, the Company had not been and was not a
party to any material legal, arbitral or administrative
proceedings, and the Company was not aware of any pending
or threatened legal, arbitral or administrative proceedings
against the Company or any of the Directors which could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’'s operations or
financial condition.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

During the Year, coping with the external and internal
uncertainties and changes, the Group gained valuable
experience, which will help the Group to face and overcome
challenges of the future. The Group’s sustainable development
depends on the supports and efforts of all the parties involved,
including the employees, the customers, the suppliers, the
business partners and the Shareholders, and in particular the
efforts and contributions and dedication of all staff of the
Group.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group faces certain risks and uncertainties in its operation
which, if material, may affect the financial results of the Group.

As most of the operations of the Group are conducted in
the PRC, any material change in the PRC’s political,
economic and social conditions, laws, regulations and
policies may have a material adverse effect on the Group

The industry in which the Group is operating its business is
subject to the laws and regulations in the PRC. Any change in
existing laws and regulations or their interpretation that may
affect the business or operations of the Group could lead to
additional compliance costs or costly and time-consuming
changes to its operations, either of which could materially and
adversely affect the business, financial conditions and results of
operations of the Group.

Further, the PRC economy has been transformed to a more
market-oriented economy. The PRC government has
implemented economic reform measures emphasising
responsiveness to market forces in the development of the PRC
economy. Yet, the PRC government continues to play a very
significant role in regulating industries by imposing industrial
policies. Despite the implementation of such reforms, the Group
cannot predict whether changes in the PRC’s political and
social conditions, laws, regulations and policies will have any
adverse effect on the current or future business, financial
conditions and results of operations of the Group.
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The failure to obtain or renew the qualifications and
certificates necessary for the business operations of the
Group would materially and adversely affect the ability of
the Group to conduct or expand its business

The Group are required to maintain requisite qualifications and
certificates to conduct its business. The Group must comply
with the conditions imposed by the relevant authorities to
maintain its qualifications and certificates. Any suspension or
revocation of these qualifications or certificates may have a
material adverse impact on its business and operations. In
addition, the Group cannot assure that qualifications or
certificates necessary for its business operations will be
granted to or renewed in a timely manner, or at all. If the
Group experiences delays in obtaining, or are unable to obtain,
such required qualifications or certificates, its operations and
business and its overall financial performance will be materially
and adversely affected. The Group may also not be able to
commence new business line if the Group fails to obtain the
requisite qualification or certificates. Further, any change in the
qualification requirements or certificate conditions may lead to
additional compliance costs or result in costly and
time-consuming changes to its operations in order to fulfil the
new requirements or conditions.
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The Group does not have long-term commitments with its
major customers and the Group generate its revenue mainly
on project-basis which is not recurring in nature

The relationships between the Group and its customers are
mainly contract-based with reference to particular project(s). In
cases where its customers are local governments, they may
form a project company for commencing and managing a new
project and organising the tendering process. As such, its
major customers do not have long-term commitments with the
Group and can vary from period-to-period. In addition, the
relationship between the Group and its major customers are
non-exclusive and largely dependent on goodwill. The results of
operations of the Group will continue to depend on (a) its
ability to continue to secure projects from its customers, in
particular, the state-invested enterprises and local governments
which are major group of its customers; and (b) the financial
condition of its major customers. The Group cannot assure that
its major customers will be able to continue to maintain strong
financial position. If their financial condition significantly
deteriorates, they may reduce the number and scale of new
projects, thereby reducing business opportunities to the Group.
Furthermore, the Group cannot assure that it will be able to
maintain or improve business relationships with its existing
customers and any of them may terminate their respective
business relationships with the Group at any time. Any material
difficulty in securing projects from its customers, termination or
significant reduction in the number or contract value of the
projects secured from them could cause its revenue and profit
to decrease significantly. If any of the foregoing events occurs,
the financial conditions and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

Revenue of the Group derived from such projects is mainly
project-based which is not recurring in nature. In the tendering
process, the Group has to prepare and submit a tender bid
and sign construction contract for new project only if the bid is
successful. The tenderer sets its own assessment process and
selection criteria over which the Group has limited control or
influence. The contract is not necessarily awarded to the lowest
priced bid and the tendering process can be highly
competitive, especially for high-profile or lucrative project. As
such, the Group cannot assure that every bid submitted by the
Group in the tenders will be successful. In the event that the
bid for major contract is not successful, the Group may lost
opportunity to elevate its corporate profile and generate new
revenue source, and the business and results of operations of
the Group may be materially and adversely affected.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

With respect to the environmental protection in the process of
engineering and construction contracting, according to such
laws and regulations as the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC ((HZE AR HEFEIRIRIREL)), the Energy Conservation
Law of the PRC (KFREARELFMBESHFHEIRIE)), the
Environmental Impact Evaluation Law of the PRC ({(A#E A R
MBEIREFEFTEXL)), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
of the Environmental Pollution of Solid Waste (& # AR HEHE
BBREWSARENISE)), the Regulations on the
Environmental Protection of Construction Projects (%8 B ir
BAREZIEIEM)) and the Regulations on the Administration of
the Final Acceptance of the Environmental Protection Facilities
of Construction Projects ((Z2RIBERBRER MR THRE R
¥ 7E)), the construction of any project that causes pollution to
the environment must comply with the PRC government’s
regulations on environment protection relating to the
construction projects. The PRC government has implemented a
mechanism for the evaluation of environmental impact of
construction projects. A construction enterprise shall adopt
measures to control environmental pollutions and damages
caused by dust, waste gas, sewages, solid waste, noises and
vibrations at the construction site in accordance with the
environmental protection and work safety laws and regulations.
For details of the Company’s environmental policies and
performance, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 70 to 118 of this annual report.
For the Year, the Company has complied with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Article of Association, every Director or other officers
of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages, and expenses, which he/she
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of his/her duties
in his/her office. As at the date of this annual report, all
Directors were covered under the liability insurance purchased
by the Company for its Directors.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

For the Year, the Group did not make any significant charitable
and other donations.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There was no significant subsequent event up to the date of
this annual report.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF THE LISTING
RULES

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances resulting in
the responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing
Rules regarding the provision of advance by the Company to
an entity.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review
and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system, the
preparation of financial statements and internal control
procedures. It also acts as an important link between the Board
and the external auditor in matters within the scope of the
group audit.

The annual results for the Year of the Company have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry to all Directors, the Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the Year and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 51 to 69
of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage
of public float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted
under the Listing Rules, are held by the public during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong has acted as auditor of the Company for the
Year.

RSM Hong Kong shall retire in the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with
limited liability on 1 April 2016 and appointed RSM Hong Kong
as the first auditor. The Company has not changed its auditor
since its incorporation.

On behalf of the Board

Peng Tianbin
Chairman and Executive Director

Ningbo, the PRC
26 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The Board believes that
effective corporate governance and disclosure practices are not
only crucial to the enhancement of the Company’s
accountability and transparency and investors’ confidence, but
also critical to the Group’s long-term success. The Company
has adopted the CG Code as its own code on corporate
governance.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code for the Year, except that the Director, Mr. Peng
Tianbin (chairman of the Board and chairman of the Strategy
Committee), did not attend the annual general meeting on
15 June 2023 due to business engagements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with its written terms of reference as set out
below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to
practices on compliance with
requirements;

review and monitor the Company’s policies and
legal and regulatory

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the
Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors
business and performance. The Board has delegated the
authority and responsibility for day-to-day management and
operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group.
To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the
Board has established four Board committees including the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Strategy Committee. The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference. All Directors have carried
out duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Peng Tianbin (Chairman)
Mr. Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Peng Daosheng

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wang Sufen

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fan Rong
Mr. Shi Weixing
Mr. Yang Zhongkai

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.
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For the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has been in compliance with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when
determining the composition of the Board, consider Board
diversity in terms of, among other things, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge and length of service. The Board diversity policy
sets out the approach towards achieving diversity on the
Board. Pursuant to the Board diversity policy, all Board
appointments will be based on merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the board, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, the Company considers all of them to be
independent parties.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report or otherwise in this annual report, none of the
Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship) with
any other Director and chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Director, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
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Independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Director have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary
duties as the executive Directors. They are expressly identified
as such in all corporate communications that disclose the
names of the Directors.

Through active participation at Board meetings and taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests,
non-executive Director makes various contributions to the
effective direction of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of construction
industry and related technical know-how, accounting and
finance. With their professional knowledge and experience,
independent non-executive Directors advise the Company on its
operation and management; provide independent opinion on
the Company’s connected transactions; and participate in
various committees’ meetings of the Board; and provide
adequate checks and balance to protect the interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole, and to promote the
development of the Group. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Strategy Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments
as well as the identity and the time involved to the issuer, the
Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments and any
subsequent change to the Company in a timely manner.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws,
rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular
briefings and seminars to provide Directors with updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the Company
has from time to time updated and provided written training
materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
Director.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, the
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

For the Year, according to the records of the Company, all
Directors received the training in the form of written materials
and briefing/seminars, in respect of updates on corporate
governance, laws, rules and regulations, and industry specific.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the organization
structure of the Company, Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH
perform Chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer
respectively. The chairman focuses on the Group’s strategic
planning while the chief executive officer has overall executive
responsibility for the Group’s development and management.
This is in compliance with the abovementioned code provision.
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The chairman has a clear responsibility to ensure that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities in
the best interests of the Company and all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. He
takes responsibility for ensuring that the Board receives, in a
timely manner, adequate information which must be accurate,
clear, complete and reliable.

The chairman is also responsible for ensuring that good
corporate practices and procedures are established and
encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs, to voice their concerns or different views
and ensure that the decisions fairly reflect the consensus. A
culture of openness and debate is promoted to facilitate the
effective contribution relations between the independent
non-executives Directors and the non-executive Director. The
chairman holds, at least annually, meetings with the
independent non-executive Directors in the absence of the
Executive Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has signed a service
contract with the Company for a term of three vyears
commencing from 31 March 2023 subject to termination as
provided in the service contract.

The appointments of executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are subject
to the provisions of retirement and rotation of the Directors
under the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing
Rules.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not
terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-election of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than,
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and shall be
eligible for re-election and re-appointment provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years at every annual general meetings and any
new Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election
by Shareholders at the next general meeting after appointment.

Board Meetings

The Company intends to hold Board meetings regularly, at least
four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than fourteen days will be given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a
regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committees meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying
board papers are dispatched to the Directors or Board
Committees members at least three days before the meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers
and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committees members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given
an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company
secretary with copies circulated to all Directors for information
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered
by the Board and the Board Committees and the decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft
minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committees meeting
are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by the
Directors.

RBABERRAR  ERRBEL=D2—0E
EWMEFARL =B MEARKELE
TOR=ZDZ—MEZTAB)ABRERME LA
BERRNEBRRBFAG LEEREE ERES
ARIB=ZFWMRE—IX - BEMEEAHRE
BUZBRMEZECHETSRANIEESAR
BXZAERNTERRAS EARRETEER -

Exges

ARABEMBTESEEER  BFELTR
ARBRFERTEH - EF20TERBABRN
ERBTHEPURZRELRES  FHLHL
Fe#% INVITERZREARAMBHWOE
o

WEMEZTENEEREEREMNE - ARF—
ReFHEZEAN - FRIABESFE X BN
CRAMAMELIRT TESTHESTZE SN
B NEARNFAERAEHHEBHEEXMRTES
EREFEZR WEFSXAEFTZEIMEREE
hEE®  AIRESETHTHmNEERRE
ZOAAARENELIRFEREZLER - @RLHK
MARMERT  BIABNERESHERM - U
Ha2E Rk -

EXEECANESZEBECRIEALBEHR
R UHAESENESZEEMEENEE
RFTEHARTE  BRESRONEFNHRE - &
EFEEaNEFL BRI RRLBERL
R/EREEBTEARZAERBAFTEES
B UHREREER -EXAMEHES
/m‘}'m‘}fi,iaﬁ o

= = A% A

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 & 57




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EEERRE (B

v b

|

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the FEEZABHRRMENS R MR  UHER
Company secretary with a view to ensure the Board ZBEEWEFEKLFAERE EENMEIEHREST -
procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are

followed.

For the Year, four Board meetings were held. The attendance AFE BTN AEES S KREFHFES
record of each Director for Board meetings, Board Committees & &% ZEZEegs  RABAFASLES
meetings, AGM and a conference between the Chairman and &XFEBIIFRTESEHNCHEIENTE
independent non-executive Directors is set out in the table

below:
Conference
between the
Chairman
and
independent
Audit Nomination Remuneration Strategic non-
Board Committee Committee Committee  Committee executive
meetings meetings meeting meeting meetings AGM Directors
EEgXEH
EREEE REZET ¥FHEEE HKEEE BRRBF BIFHT
Exzged = 28 28 2% RE EXEd
Executive Director:
HITEF -
Mr. Peng Tianbin 4/4 N/A N/A 11 2/2 0/1 11
TRBEE i A N iE A
Mr. Peng Yonghui 4/4 N/A 11 N/A 2/2 i N/A
BN Pt @A A5 A5
Mr. Peng Daosheng 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 7 N/A
TEELE TEA i i T iE A i
Non-executive Director:
HHITEF -
Ms. Wang Sufen 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A i N/A
ERXFLL i A N iE A N iE A N3 A N iE A
Independent Non-executive Director:
BUHRNTEF -
Mr. Fan Rong 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A 2/2 i 11
BEREE TEA TEA
Mr. Shi Weixing 4/4 2/2 11 11 N/A 7 11
MR R TiE
Mr. Yang Zhongkai 4/4 2/2 11 11 N/A 7 11
BIP gLk &= A
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions.

All Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct during the Year and up to the date
of this report.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. Each of the
relevant employees has been given a copy of the written
guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the
relevant employees was noticed by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the
Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board and the Directors could have
recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing
their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to
access and to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the management.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration of Directors and senior management by band
for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)
AR (Bx)

0-1,000,000

ESNSREEZESTM
AEREERSREREZHFMRARZSWMT

Number of persons
AE

11

Further particulars regarding Directors’ and chief executive’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 14 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Fan Rong (chairman), Mr. Shi Weixing and Mr. Yang
Zhongkai, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but not
limited to the following:

(1) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;

(2) to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation
or dismissal;

(8) to review the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
report) before submission to the Board, with focus on
significant adjustments resulting from the audit,
compliance with accounting standards and compliance
with the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to
financial reporting;
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(4) to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in the reports and accounts, it
should give due consideration to any matters that have
been raised by the Company’s staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditors;

(5) to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems; and

(6) to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management
has performed its duty to have effective systems.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held. At the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual report for
last year with external auditors, the interim results for the Year,
the activities of the Group’s internal control and risk
management functions and the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit functions, and also reviewed and approved the
arrangement of the annual audit work and then proposed the
recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Yang Zhongkai (chairman), Mr. Shi Weixing and one
executive Director namely Mr. Peng TB.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include but
not limited to the following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration;

2. to review and approve management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and
objectives of the Board;
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L
to consult with the Chairman and/or chief executive officer
of the Company about the Remuneration Committee’s
proposals for other executive Directors;

to determine the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. These
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration; and

to report back to the Board on their decisions or
recommendation, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so (such as a restriction
on disclosure due to regulatory requirements).
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held.
At the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
determined remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management, and thought that the remunerations of whom were
reasonable and appropriate. The Remuneration Committee also
assessed the performance of executive Directors and approved
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Shi Weixing (chairman), Mr. Yang Zhongkai and one
executive Director namely Mr. Peng YH.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or reappointment of Directors and the succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the
chief executive officer; and

5. to review the Board diversity policy.
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The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. The
written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse and inclusive
Board, and aims to enhance diversity at Board level
continuously, in order to achieve and maintain good corporate
governance, a sustainable growth and a competitive edge.
Board diversity is considered from a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience,
management function and length of service. These aspects are
considered in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. The Board believes a diversified board improves
effectiveness and enables better decisions to be made due to
the lowered risk of bias. The Nomination Committee continues
to take these measurable objectives into account when making
recommendation of candidates for appointment to the Board.

For the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held. All
the members of the Nomination Committee attended the
meeting. At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the board diversity policy, the procedure for the selection,
appointment and reappointment of directors, the structure, size
and composition of the Board, the independence of
independent non-executive directors and considered the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for re-election at
the AGM. The Nomination Committee is of the view that the
current composition and structure of the Board comply with the
applicable regulations and the Board is experienced and have
diversified perspectives and views.
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Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee comprises three members, including
two executive Directors, namely Mr. Peng TB (chairman),
Mr. Peng YH, and one independent non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Fan Rong.

The principal duties of the Strategy Committee include but not
limited to the following:

1. to review, study and advise the Company’s business
strategies, and monitor the progress of the application of
the net proceeds from the Global Offering and
implementation of the Company’s business strategies;

2. to research and recommend on the long term development
strategy of the Company; and

3. to research and recommend on other significant matters
affecting the development of the Company.

The written terms of reference of the Strategy Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

For the Year, two Strategy Committee meetings were held. At
the meetings, the Strategy Committee reviewed and advised the
Group’s business strategies, and monitored the use of the net
proceeds from the Global Offering.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the Year which give a true and fair view
of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the
Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry
out an informed assessment of the Company's financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The
Company provides all members of the Board with monthly
updates on the Company’s performance, positions and
prospects.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 119 to 128 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board oversees the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and review its effectiveness on an annual
basis. The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of
the Board for maintaining an adequate internal control and risk
management system to safeguard Shareholder investments and
Company assets. The Board has ensured the adequacy of
resources, staff qualification and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group’s internal audit department plays a major role in
monitoring the internal governance of the Company. The major
tasks of the internal audit department are reviewing the
financial condition and internal control of the Company, as well
as identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks of the
Company and conducting comprehensive audits of all
significant subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis.

The Board considers that the existing internal control system is
reasonably effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit services in respect of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year,
and non-audit services in respect of the review of the
condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2023, provided by the Auditor to the Group
during the Year amounted to RMBO0.90 million and RMBO0.32
million respectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY NEAWE

Mr. Tong Tai Alex (&%), the company secretary of the BREEERARFTAFTWE BSAEETSIRM
Company, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate HBRENEEANER  URRETESSHEE
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policies and &2/ - BE2E b ABIAEG - #8 Bl K A% -
procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules and

regulations are followed.

Mr. Tong took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional BEERAFEESZ T LMN5/ AN RERE
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during  #Il * A& LR AIE 3290188948 7F ©
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE EERSABEEERER

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability ZAAREAHEELRSRAEEBLHEERSRK
insurance for its Directors and senior management. The BEEMTRE - ZFRBRET AaEEMESE
insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses HIEEARITENEERA - BAH B MET -
and liabilities for any legal action against them arising out of

corporate activities.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND HRRBERREEBR
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the ARQRRE @ BERREHERZINBIEEEBE
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and KiEIREE THAEEER XERKENEES
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and FEZE o ARQRIINTE  REFEE2EIFESANAER
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of HREBEEELMBERERTHESME -
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will

enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed

investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for the Shareholders to MBEBFEASERRAINEEEGEZEYE - AR
communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman of the GIXFREEELZECTFEBALERRBFAS
Company and the chairperson of the Board Committees will [EIFERRRAME - ZERMNMEHERBAFEARS
attend the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor MEBBEZ TIE - ZEMBSHREBEHER
will also attend the AGM to answer questions about the & @FtHERMIZHEMBIL TS E -
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the

Auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor

independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a AR H &R - AR 5 BT R EA IE 3% 8 K
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing £ * FE R AR A &) HEAY B~ R HY & A B R B <2
a two-way relationship and communication between the i WHAERQGHUETIH A QB EHFEEE
Company and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the BIEE R - PEE RN EM A EHZFTELMER
Company, where up-to-date information on the Company's HR&ERH -

business operations and developments, financial information,

corporate governance practices and other information are

available for public access.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have any dividend policy in
place and the Board does not expect to formulate any specific
dividend policy in the near future. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Board and the approval of
the Shareholders. The Directors may recommend a payment of
dividends in the future after taking into account operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions, capital expenditure and
future development requirements, shareholders’ interests and
other factors which they may deem relevant at such time. Any
declaration and payment as well as the amount of the
dividends will be subject to the Company’s constitutional
documents and the Cayman Islands Companies Law, including
the approval of the Shareholders. Any future declarations of
dividends may or may not reflect the Company’s historical
declarations of dividends and will be at the absolute discretion
of the Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as at date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or any one of the company
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the
headquarters of the Company at 17th and 18th Floors, Cang
Hai Industry Building, No. 3388 Cang Hai Road, Yinzhou
District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, China (email address:
chanhigh@chanhigh.com.hk).
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The ESG Report summarises the Group’s policies, measures
and performances on the key ESG issues.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s policies and
performances regarding the environmental and social aspects
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARIES

The ESG Report covers the Group’s core and material business
namely provision of services of municipal work and landscape
construction and the related services in Zhejiang Province, the
PRC and Hong Kong, including:

o Chanhigh Hong Kong Limited;

o Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited; and

o Zhejiang Hai Sui
Limited.

Xin Mao Construction Management

The scope of the text disclosed in this Report is mainly the
same as the year 2022 except with the exclusion of Zhejiang
Zhanhai Industrial Limited and inclusion of Zhejiang Hai Sui Xin
Mao Construction Management Limited this year due to the
change in Group’s structure and organisation. If the scope and
boundaries of the specific contents vary, they are noted in the
relevant section of the ESG Report.
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REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG
Guide to summarise the ESG performances of the Group. The
Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of the
“comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Guide. The
ESG Report is prepared on the basis of the four reporting
principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency:

o “Materiality” Principle: The Group determines material ESG
issues by stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment.

. “Quantitative” Principle: Information is presented with
quantitative measure, whenever feasible, including

information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions
used and provision of comparative data.

° “Balance” Principle: The ESG Report identifies the
achievements and challenges faced by the Group.

o “Consistency” Principle: The ESG Report uses consistent
methodologies for meaningful comparisons in the
following years unless improvements in methodology are
identified.

The information contained herein is sourced from official
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as the
combined control, management and operations information
provided by the subsidiaries in accordance with the Group’s
relevant policies. The ESG Report is prepared and published in
both English and Chinese. In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.

REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the
integrity of the ESG Report and to the best of their knowledge,
the ESG Report addresses all relevant material issues and fairly
presents the ESG performance of the Company. The Board
confirms that it has reviewed and approved the ESG Report.
The ESG Report was reviewed and approved on 26 March
2024.
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FEEDBACKS

The Group respects your view on the ESG Report. Should you
have any opinions or suggestions, you are welcome to contact
us by emailing to the following address:
chanhigh@chanhigh.com.hk.

ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group principally provides landscape and municipal works
construction and maintenance services to its customers. In
addition, the Group undertakes building works and renovation
works, and provides other services such as the provision of
maintenance and heritage building restoration services.

The Group has attained various qualifications and certifications,
the details are as follows:

o the First-Grade General Contractor for Municipal Public

Works;

° the First-Grade General Contractor for Housing
Construction Projects;

o the First-Grade Professional Contractor for Building

Renovation Projects;

o the First-Grade Professional Contractor for Historic Building
Projects;

° the First-Grade Professional Contractor for Urban and
Street Lighting Projects;

° A-Grade Landscape Construction Design;

° A-Grade Municipal Public Work Supervision;
o A-Grade Housing Construction Projects Supervision;
for

° the Second-Grade General Contractor

Projects;

Highway

° the Second-Grade General Contractor for Water Works and
Hydropower Projects;

° the Second-Grade Professional Contractor for
Environmental Construction Projects;
72 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#ZERAERA T
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° the Second-Grade General Contractor for Mechanical and
Electrical Engineering Projects;

° the Second-Grade Professional Contractor for Foundation
Construction Projects; and

° the Second-Grade Professional Contractor for Steel
Structure Construction Projects.

BOARD STATEMENT

On behalf of the Group, our Board is pleased to present the
ESG Report for the Year. The Group endeavours to put
sustainable development of our business as the top priority of
our long-term development goals, and incorporates
climate-related issues and ESG elements into our long-term
business strategic planning. As the most important leading role
of the Group, the Board holds the ultimate responsibility to
oversee, manage and monitor the Group’s ESG issues and
progress.

The Group has formalised an interdepartmental ESG working
group to coordinate different departments and enhance their
mutual cooperation, to ensure that performance is consistent
and stakeholders’ expectations can be met. We work together
to realise our sustainable development goals as a team. More
details of the Group’s ESG governance structure are disclosed
in the “ESG Governance Structure” section of the ESG Report.
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As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has set clear
short-, medium- and long-term sustainable development vision
and goals to achieve ongoing emission reduction progress
according to governmental requirements of different countries
and regions. Relevant emission reduction targets and
corresponding strategies are established and sustainable
development factors have been incorporated into our strategic
planning, business model and other decision-making
processes. The Board of Directors regularly monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of management, including reviewing
the Group’s ESG performance and adjusting corresponding
action plans. Effective implementation of ESG policies relies on
the collaboration of different departments and following the
recommendations given by the Stock Exchange.

The Group strives to ensure the establishment of appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems to
supervise the identification and assessment of ESG and
climate-related risks and opportunities, and to respond to the
challenges and impacts of different times.

The Board of Directors will continue to review and monitor the
environmental, social and corporate governance performance of
the Group and provide material, reliable, consistent and
comparable environmental, social and corporate governance
information to its stakeholders for making contributions to
create a better environment.

Looking ahead, the Group will closely follow the national
policies and capture opportunities arising from various
circumstances, so as to realise the “Dream of Chanhigh” and
open a new chapter of Chanhigh.
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has established a systematic ESG Governance
structure. The Board endeavours to support the Group’s
commitment to fulfill its environmental and social responsibility
and has the overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. It is also responsible for evaluating and
determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.

The interdepartmental ESG Working Group reports directly to
the Board and is responsible for monitoring the implementation
of ESG initiatives and corresponding performance. It is also
responsible for the communication with external consultants
and the preparation of the ESG Report.

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s ESG performance and
goals, and examines and approves the Group’s annual ESG
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group recognises the participation of its stakeholders is
vital for the Group and its sustainability goals. The Group
believes that stakeholder engagement has a significant level of
influence in developing sustainable development strategies and
fulfilling social responsibilities which is the basis for the
Group’s strategy formulation and decision-making.
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The Group has established various engagement channels for its
stakeholders to understand their concerns regarding the
Group’s operations. The identified key stakeholders and the
corresponding engagement channels are as follows:

Stakeholders
FoE

Government

B

Shareholders and
Investors
BRREEREE

Employee

’E

Issues of Concern
el

° To comply with laws
o  ETER

° Proper tax payment
o HEETIE
° Promote regional economic

development and employment
e  REBEKLEERMHME

o Low risk

. 1K 3 B

o Return on investment

o % E B

° Information disclosure and
transparency

o & AT 5E I id B

° Protection of interests and fair

treatment of shareholders
. RIBREEZD RN FHEF

AEEERVEEBRES  UWTHEBHEHA
SELEZT CHRENTIEHNHEMEED
BBREWT

Engagement Channels

BRERE

o Corporate events

. (SR

o Annual, quarterly, interim reports,
ESG Reports and other published
information

. FEEHS - FEHE  PHRERE
Fi B ERRE LR ARER

° Corporate events

. [EELAEE

° Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings

e BREAFRGRHMBRRERRE

o Annual, quarterly and interim
reports and other published
information

J FERE  FTERSRPHBEAR
Hip A& R

o Website of the Company and the
Stock Exchange, respectively

o AR X A e B A% B A8

° Email

. EH

° Working environment ° Training, seminars, briefing
o THEIRIR sessions

o Career development opportunities  ® BZIl - g kETg

o BEERKE . Cultural activities

. Self-actualisation o AEIESD

o BRER . Intranet and emails

o Health and safety
J fEEEZ 2
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Stakeholders Issues of Concern Engagement Channels
BHE BEEE BRERE
Client o Comply with laws and high-quality e Website, brochures, annual,
TR services quarterly reports and other
. BPARENUANES®E RS published information
. Stable relationships . Mk EEM - FERE  FTERS
e  RBEBIE DA R B Ath X & R
o Information transparency o Email and customer service hotline
. ERIEH . EBANEF R HZ
° Integrity ° Social communication channels
e HE s HXRBBEEB
° Business ethics ° Feedback forms
s BERER s  REER
o Site visit
s ERERZLEH
Suppliers ° Fair competition ° Supplier rating system
33 N S o HEBFOESR
o Quality and price o Supplier conference
e EEER e fHEBKE
o Supplier evaluation o Site visit
o HEmFA s EMRERZLE
Peer Industries ° Experience sharing ° Conference meeting
¥ #RAH s REBHE s  TXEgR
o Cooperation o Exhibitions
s  AfFHE s RE
° Fair competition ° Corporate events
s RFHF s BEBEH
Community ° Community involvement ° Volunteering service
HE . w2 . EILR®E
o Social responsibilities o Charity and social investment
. & BT s HEHERMEBERE
_U.,NL. = ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &3 77



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BE #HERERERE (8

L

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has conducted an internal and external materiality
assessment to determine the materiality of ESG issues in the
ESG Report. The Group’s management has conducted surveys
with the identified key stakeholders. They have expressed their
opinions and recommendations on the related issues related to
the Group’s operations.

Consolidating the results from internal and external materiality
assessment, the Group has prioritised the issues based on the
importance of the issue to the business and the importance to
stakeholders (refer to the chart below). The Group determines
the extent of disclosure for specific issues in the ESG Report
by reference to the corresponding materiality. Based on the
materiality matrix, the Group believes the most pertinent issues
in the Year include the following:

Quality of
projects/services/
products

BE R

o I e 2
EmmE

Customer
satisfaction
BEFEME

Employment
practices

EEHEE

Business ethics
[GEZEE:S

Occupational
health and
safety of staff
BTHBERER
MZzZ

Intellectual
property
HHERE

Diversity and equal
opportunities

SHRMNTERE
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Development and
training of staff

BT HBREMEE

Customers’ privacy
and confidentiality
EFHIFAR
MR

EEMFME
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BHEEARMETHNRE HEMNERBELE
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BERXTERAMES -

BEBAAMMIMNMEEZRFENER - AEE
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ETHEBENEERF (2ETER) - AEERB
SERERNEREREETRALGE ARSI
ERENRERRE REEZNMHEME - NEEH
EAFEZHBEERENT

Safety of
projects/services/
products

ER R,
ERmZE

Contributions
to the society

HirEE R

Environmental
regulation
compliance

BFREES

Anti-corruption
training for
management and
employees
EEEMET
R BB
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Materiality Matrix 2 2 |4 5B &

g
o
T
s W
hE
5%
3
E
Impact on the Group
HAKENTE
1 Air emissions 11 Employment practices 21 Customer satisfaction
RRT R (e i BEEWMEE
2 Greenhouse gas emissions 12 Diversity and equal 22 Intellectual property
BEREEEEN opportunities of staff G EE e
BIZTERTFEHSE
3 Effluents management 13  Anti-discrimination 23  Safety of projects/services/
VEIKE TR RIS, products
HE/RB/EMRE
4 Waste management 14 Occupational health and safety 24  Quality of projects/services/
EEEYER of staff products
BTIMRERENZSE BB/ RHB/EmmE
5 Energy efficiency 15  Development and training of 25  Business ethics
CEN & staff BEBERE
BTImERMEI
6 Water efficiency 16 Prohibition of child labour and 26  Anti-corruption training for
RSV E forced labour management and employees
ZIrETMATEH ERENMEINRESE
7 Use of raw materials and 17 Responsible supply chain 27  Contributions to the society
packaging materials management #t @ J R
JRAFL AN B F M K (52 B BREENHEREER
8 Environmental regulation 18  Environmental friendliness on 28  Communication and
compliance products and service connection with local
BFRIBER purchased community
BENERNMBRBEHRER B At R 6B R AN R B
ek
9 Land use, pollution and 19  Compliance with regulations
restoration on marketing, product and
TR 5 RMIRE service labelling
BIPTIS MR B m A AR TSR
|HVER
10  Climate change 20  Customers’ privacy and
RIEE L confidentiality
EEHLBMERS
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ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

The Group has been accredited with 1SO14001:2015
Environmental Management System (in respect of the
construction of municipal engineering, construction
conservation of landscaping and correlative management
activity). The Group is also committed to complying with
requirements stipulated in local environmental laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Law of the PRC on
Environmental Protection, the Law of the PRC on Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the PRC on
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution and the Law of
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution Caused by Solid Waste. During the Year, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

According to our business development expectation, we have
set clear emission reduction targets, aiming to reduce all our
emissions (including air pollutants, greenhouse gases,
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, and sewage), energy
consumption (including electricity and heat), consumption of
resources (including water and paper) by 3% before 2026 and
20% before 2036 from the base year of 2021. Our long-term
target is to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 in Hong Kong
and by 2060 in PRC.

The Group always focuses on municipal and urban landscape
projects and offers its customers sophisticated construction
services. The most significant environmental aspects of the
Group’s operations are wastes, noise, spillage of chemicals and
fossil fuels and uses of resources. The Group has developed
corresponding control procedures including:

° Environmental management plan;

° Waste management procedure;

° Noise control procedure; and

o Material management system.

Management approaches on various environmental impacts are
explained in the following sections.
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Emissions

The Group’s operations generate emissions to air, water
and land, which cause impacts on the environment. The
Group has developed a set of policies and measures to
minimise environmental impacts from the construction
works undertaken by subcontractors. For instance, the
Group has adopted new technology and
environmental-friendly processes, recycled used water
and construction waste.

Air Pollution Emissions

In general, dusts are generated from construction
activities and material transportation. Volatile organic
compounds (VOCs) are generated from the spraying
process. Inorganic compounds, such as nitrogen oxides
(NO,) and sulphur oxides (SO,) are generated from the
use of mobile vehicles. The Group has adopted different
measures on the construction sites to mitigate the
generation of dusts and particulate matters (e.g. applying
protective cover on the site, water spraying and
plantation). During the Year, the Group’s main source of
air pollutant emissions was generated from the vehicle
fleet that consumed liquified petroleum gas. Moving
forward, the Group will refine the data collection system
and continue to monitor if there is any significant impact
on air quality from the Group’s operations.

Air Pollutants' 2 ZERERY 2 Unit
By
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) RAEALP(NO,) kgF =
Sulphur oxides (SO,) e’ (so,) kgt
Particulate Matter (PM) B FERL(PM) kgT =

! The emissions amount was estimated with reference to
“Technical Guidelines for Air Pollutants Emission Inventory
of Road Vehicles (Trial)”, “National Standard of liquefied
petroleum gases of the PRC” and the “Energy Statistic
Manual” issued by the International Energy Agency.

2 Data were estimated based on the following assumptions:
(1) all mobile vehicles are passenger cars with seating
capacity of 9 or less; (2) the emission standard is National
V; and (3) the average fuel consumption per 100km is
14.5 litres.

A1

23587

REBNELMZER - KL EEHEK
Y BIRBEREE - AREERIE —ER
R UEERIDEEEAZRET
RERROZE - flan - AEBERA M
AR TE - [ E WA B KEERE
) o

AFROTRBEH

—RmME  BREINYEEGHEEER -
B2 IRFELAEZRENEH#LED
(VOCs) - BEEMEREEER /LS - I
WAREH(NO,) REFEEE(SO,) - AEH
EEEETHRITREE LUV ER
MEOZFER A EE A (FIan7E Tib M hn{R =&
BRKRERE) c RAFE  AFETER
SRR EBRRAEERRLEABRR
B - Ak AEEBELCBEBERERR
MEBEENAEEELERTHNERES
BEATE-

2023 2022 2021
—E-= B B -—fF
7.00 8.42 10.72
0.03 0.03 0.59
0.78 0.94 1.19

! HHENEF2ECEREBEARRTR
MHRUEERERMER (A7)  (PE
ARFAMBBEREE — BcAHR) KB
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Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions BERBHL

Regarding the Group’s operations, GHG emissions were RAEENEEMS  AERBOYERE
mainly generated from fuel consumption of mobile EREMBBRHOREERERFEAERIE
vehicles and purchased electricity in offices and projects. BHINEEE ) - ANEE B I E I FF A
The Group has developed procedures to control GHG BEREMEAMNREREBEEN - Mg A
emissions from energy consumption. The details can be 2B [ERMNABIHS -

referred to the section headed “Use of Resources”.

Greenhouse
Gas Emissions? BERBHER  Unit 2023 2022 2021
B —E-=f =—B-=f =—B=--
Scope 14 #E1 tonnes CO,-
equivalent
W _S(LREE 58.17 69.92 92.01
Scope 2° #[E2° tonnes CO,-
equivalent
WA L EE 181.11 249.96 312.03
Total GHG Emissions HREREYM  tonnes CO,-
equivalent
W —S(LREE 239.28 319.88 404.25
Intensity® BEe tonnes CO,-
equivalent/m?
M| biRE
2/ FHK 0.05 0.07 0.07
8 The GHG emissions in 2021 and 2022 are calculated based 8 R ER-T-_EREREHNE
on “Methodology for Accounting and Reporting of Mt HRRBEERERERNEZEM(T
Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Enterprises in Other EHMOELCERERBHMZE AR
Industries (Trial)” issued by National Development and WwEtEm (E7)) W REIRHTIT A AR
Reform Commission of the PRC, “GHG Protocol Tool for R REERE R ERBRE T A (2.1
Energy Consumption in China (Version 2.1)” published by fR)) - Fp B A BB IR IE AR 5 9 (2019 R BE
World Resources Institute, “Results of Emission Reduction FEPHESESHELEGHEREAB)R
Project China Regional Grid Baseline Emission Factor in (IPCCRIREBE IR dRE) - —F—
2019” issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment —ERERBERENGEIREERE
of the People’s Republic of China and “IPCC Fifth EE&E?%&@@{I%,\mh%ﬁ%ﬁi
Assessment Report on Climate Change”. The calculation of R RE I REREER (B17)
GHG emission in 2023 is based on “Methodology for 1t 7 ER BT I B o iR A9 (o B R ROH AR
Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions EREZETA(2.10R)) - PEAERRSE
from Enterprises in Other Industries (Trial)” issued by BB M A 2021 BFA B B gc'c!ﬁ%%?%
National Development and Reform Commission of PRC, P E ) - (IPCCRIRE B % KR
“GHG Protocol Tool for Energy Consumption in China af 1 5 ) M B e & ) 4 #y (2022 7] £
(Version 2.1)” published by World Resources Institute, BRERWE) AN BEAENRERIAR
“Results of Emission Reduction Project China Regional P AARNEEEEEE - AT EE
Grid Baseline Emission Factor in 2021” issued by the £EA o
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s
Republic of China, “IPCC Sixth Assessment Report on
Climate Change” and “Sustainability Report 2022”" issued
by the Hong Kong Electric. Emissions from construction
projects, which are borne by subcontractors, are not
included as they are not accessible by the Group.
4 Scope 1 refers to direct emissions from operations that are 4 HENERAREEARENNERE X
owned or controlled by the Group. HERR -
s Scope 2 refers to “energy indirect” emissions resulting from 5 HECEAREEBSENMEENHR
the generation of purchased or acquired electricity BEEAE 3
consumed within the Group.
& The total area of operations of the Group in 2021, 2022 and 6 —F_—EE . E e —
2023 are 5,545 m2, 4,920 m? and 4,451 m2 respectively: FE - MHEAKEMES B AF5545F 7

K~ 4,920F 5K K 4,451 F 5K o
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During the Year, fuel combustion of mobile vehicles
(Scope 1) and purchased electricity (Scope 2) remained
the major sources of GHG emissions from operations. The
total GHG emissions was decreased by about 25.2% and
the GHG emissions per square meter of operations was
reduced by about 17.3% when comparing to 2022. It is
mainly due to the restriction of the use of high power
consumption machines, and the implementation of energy
saving and emission reduction measures.

Moving forward, the Group will continue to keep track of
the GHG emissions incurred by business activities and
refine the data collection methods. The Group
encourages its employees to communicate through
telephone and wireless communications in the ordinary
course of business to minimise GHG emissions that may
be produced during their business trips by vehicle and
plane. Besides, the Group encourages the utilisation of
environmental-friendly machinery and equipment such as
quieter construction equipment and higher energy
efficiency plants. The Group also emphasises the proper
disposal of the equipment which does not comply with
the emission standards.

REE - PORER (BE1) MINBE S (8
BE2)DABAEEELN TR RAEREEH
BUR - - T~ —FAL - RERBHRE
BRLVTASZ-_THAM -  BFHKE
EHRERBHNERD TED 2T EEH
Z - TEEHRRAEASERKERE
Bt T B BE R BE 1R 5 o

R AKSEREZ IR EZDELENE
EREHBRMEBLCBBEETE A5 H
ZBHETHEAEXHERTBRBEFRME
RBRETTER URBRLEWHMRE
FERBIRITIE A BEE E R MBENE - It
S AEEENERARRIUEEELRE - W0
FRHEERENE SRR ORME -
AEE bR LREE TG EBIEER
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Waste Management

The Group has established “Waste Management
Procedures” to manage the storage, handling and
disposal of wastes generated by the Group’s operation. In
general, the Group actively promotes the “3R” principles
(i.e. reduce, reuse and recycle) and prioritise our efforts
in reducing the waste generation at the source. In the
case that waste could not be reused or recycled, it is
collected and stored at designated location for further
handling by external parties. In addition, staff need to
send discarded office consumables such as electric
lamps, bulbs, and waste paper to the administration
department for replacement, in order to ensure
quantitative control and effective resource management.
The Group also strives to promote a paperless office by
encouraging employees to use e-office and implementing
an electronic document information system. During the
Year, the Group produced 0.01 tonnes of hazardous
waste’” and 13.06 tonnes of non-hazardous waste®. The
hazardous waste intensity and the non-hazardous waste
intensity were 0.02 kg per employee® and 0.02 tonnes per
employee® respectively. Additionally, 1.36 kg of paper was
recycled in this Reporting Period. Moving forward, the
Group will improve and enhance the existing data
collection system to monitor and reduce waste disposal.

7 The figure covered the toner cartridges waste produced in
the offices of the Group. Waste produced from
construction projects, which are borne by subcontractors,
are not included as they are not accessible by the Group.

g The figure covered waste paper, food waste and other
domestic waste produced in the offices of the Group.
Waste produced from construction projects, which are
borne by subcontractors, are not included as they are not
accessible by the Group.

o The total number of employees of the Group as at the end
of December 2023 was 545.
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A2

Use of Resources

The Group has always attached great importance to the
efficient use of resources, to protect the environment and
to improve operational efficiency. We generally utilise
various resources such as electricity, fossil fuel, water
and paper in our operations. The Group has provided
certain guidelines regarding the efficient use of resources
in the employee manual and required its employees to
enhance their cost-consciousness and to use office
supplies, water and electricity in an efficient manner. The
Group does not consume any packaging materials in the
ordinary course of business as the Group is not a
consumer goods manufacturer. To reduce raw material
consumption, the Group’s construction team makes use of
materials available at the project site to build the
landscapes on-site. For instance, dirt dug out from the
construction site will be used to create the rockery.

Apart from written guidance, the Group has implemented
initiatives on efficient use of resources, for example:

° giving priority to the use of environmentally friendly,
energy-saving electrical appliances and equipment,
and gradually phasing out high energy consumption
and low energy efficiency facilities and equipment;

o reducing the standby energy consumption of office
equipment such as computers, printers and
photocopiers;

o keeping doors and windows closed when air
conditioners are in use, and maintaining the
temperature at 25.5°C inside offices;

° utilising natural light in offices and installing energy-
saving lamps;

o turning off all lights, computers, office equipment and
air conditioners when they are idled;
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. cultivating the water-saving habits of staffs, such as o EEETHKERE - flEA%ER
turning off water taps after use and setting up JKBESE « W AKERE SIKIZ

water-saving signs in water-using areas;

. strengthening the frequency of inspections to o o ESER - BERDKEFIKE
minimise dripping and leaking from water pipes and SERYER - A
taps; and
. implementing the 3R principle, which is “Reducing, . EREEBBIEPARITIRIRA - AL
Reusing and Recycling”, in the ordinary course of R =R BHAAE]-
business.
Energy Consumption®  BEJRSEFE™ Unit 2023 2022 2021
By —EC-= —E--FE Z—ZE--—F
Direct Energy HERBERE kWh in '000s
Consumption T8 F R 258.05 310.21 422.40
Indirect Energy Mg R B kWh in "000s
Consumption T8 T FL B 233.05 315.56 393.92
Total Energy &5t kWh in ’000s
Consumption TEFEE 491.10 625.77 816.32
Intensity EmE kWh in '000s/m?
T8 F FLEE,
TR 0.11 0.13 0.15
Direct energy consumption refers to the fuel consumed by BERREREZELSBHBEAME
mobile vehicles while indirect energy consumption refers MEEREERRENEF BT =
to electricity consumption. The total energy consumption FHRk -  BEMZLERRERBERETRER
per unit of operating area was decreased by 13.2% when DZTZEC  BTRERGEREAENE
comparing to 2022, showing that our energy saving Mo RERK  NEBGEBLETEIRE
measures have been implemented effectively. Moving FEBRLGER R R ERBRE

forward, the Group will continue to monitor the energy
consumption situation with the aim of reducing overall
energy usage.

10 The calculation of energy consumption is based on 0 AEEREESBRERERERRNEZTEM
“Methodology for Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse RCTEEMITELCEREREHEMZE
Gas Emissions from Enterprises in Other Industries (Trial)” FEEFERRE(FHT))  REERAE
issued by National Development and Reform Commission BEEHE - @RIBEETREE -

of the PRC. It includes the data from office operations
only. Data for projects were not available.

1 The total area of operations of the Group in 2021, 2022 and i RZBZ—FE - ZT__FER=-TZ
2023 are 5,545m?, 4,920m?2 and 4,451m? respectively. =FE - HELKEEmED R &R5545F

TR~ 4,920 5K K% 4,451F 75K ©
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Water Consumption'?

The main source of water consumption is domestic uses
in the office area. The water is supplied by the property
management company. Therefore, there is no issue in
sourcing water. The Group actively promotes water
conservation by prominently displaying “Saving water”
labels in the office area and construction sites. In
addition, we prioritise employee education among those
who engage in water wastage, raising their awarenesses
towards water-saving and recycling. To prevent water
running, bubbling, dripping and leaking, the Group
arranges specialists to conduct inspections and replace
any water-saving appliances that do not meet the
required standards. The performance indicator related to
water consumption is as follows:

Unit
B

KEFEE md
oK
md/employee

MK EER

Water Consumption

Intensity3 YRS

During the Year, water consumption was decreased by
about 17.7%. Moving forward, the Group will continue to
keep track of the water consumption and implement
water-saving measures, in order to minimise overall water
usage.

2 It includes offices in Zhejiang Province only. No water
consumption data is available on the office in Hong Kong
now. The data collection process will be refined in the
future.

= The total number of employees of the Group in 2021, 2022
and 2023 were 616, 529 and 545 respectively.

KA

KHERENEIZREENABHNEMD -
IKEMEEEARREM - Bt - RKEUER
KBETHEYERE AEEBHEERAR
ENEETHERRRE T EIKIIRE -
Lo - HAIEEEBREKERREEET
BITHE RS M8 & /KM &R A
B o R ILKRH - B8 - BKEIRK
AEBEZHENETRE  AFBREIMAMA
MERERENEKSFE - HAKERH
M ERFEAR AT

2023 2022 2021
—E-= B B -—fF
1,495.21 1,815.70 1,843.02
2.74 3.43 2.99

AEE AKETRTEDZTEHE- &
% AEEEREEROEEE R
IKFEIBAERKEREZERE -

2 EeETIRER  BEREEETAK
HREBEE - ARG TEEIBRERF -

i RIEZ—FE —T-_—_FER-ZFT
—FE - AEBBETIAHD R A616
A 529 AK545 A ©
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has insisted on operating its business in an
environmentally friendly manner at all times and
implemented various measures to minimise the impact of
its production and operation on the environment. In the
procurement and selection of materials used in its
projects, such as paint, the Group evaluates chemical
components of the products to determine if they meet the
safety and environmental protection requirements. The
Group also assigns its specialists to the construction sites
to supervise the compliance of environmental protection
requirements by the construction teams of its
subcontractors. The Group mainly undertakes construction
projects on landscape improvement and living
environment improvement, which may have a certain
impact on the surroundings and people living around the
area during their construction. The external
subcontractors will take active measures to minimise the
impact. For example, the construction team adopts the
following approaches to reduce its impact on the
environment and its consumption of natural resources:

° applying noise-reduction machines in noisy
conditions and adopting automated and hermetic
technologies to reduce mechanical noise;

° filling landscape ponds with rainwater and irrigating
landscape plants with an approved natural water
source nearby as much as possible in the course of
construction; and

° transplanting existing trees in the construction sites
to specific locations and replanting them when the
project is nearly completed.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR
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A4

Climate change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges
faced by the society nowadays, and we must act now for
our climate and our communities. In recent years,
extreme weather, such as strong winds and heavy
rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have become the
focus of news. Logistics and supply chains are
particularly vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides, and
floods can cause serious damage to assets such as
buildings, warehouses, and goods in storage, resulting in
financial losses. In response to unpredictable situations,
the Group has internal guideline detailing the emergency
response mechanism to ensure the staff’'s safety.
Moreover, the impacts on project duration caused by the
climate change can be offset through construction
scheduling. Although such incidents are beyond
everyone’s control, the Group believes that all
stakeholders should work together to address climate
change, which will also be regarded as one of the most
significant risks to the world in the coming years.

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought forth a multitude of
new challenges in recent times, however, it would not
deter our commitment to climate action. The pace of
change has expedited around the world, underscoring
the importance for us to accelerate its transition to a
low-carbon economy.

In response to the Paris Agreement, the Hong Kong
Government issued the “Hong Kong's Climate Action
Plan”, and formulated various plans and actions, setting
out the vision of “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable City,
Sustainable Development”. The government has
determined to set medium-term goal as halving Hong
Kong’s total carbon emissions from 2005 levels before
2035. Additionally, PRC announced the national “3060”
Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality Target, aiming to
peak carbon dioxide emissions by 2030 and strive to
achieve carbon neutrality by 2060. The Group understand
that climate change may have significant impacts on our
operations.

A4
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The Group has identified a series of climate-related risks
and opportunity relevant to our assets and services which
are significant to us. These transition and physical risks
are discussed in the sections below.

Risks

[ B

Short term (01 year) o
KHR (0-14F)

Medium term (5 years) o

FH(5%)

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Physical risks — increase of
frequency and severity of
extreme weather

BERER — TnARIBEREE
M EFA

Physical risks — flooding
ERRR — KX

Securing the skills and capability
required to implement climate
strategy

BECEE RIRRIEPIH R

ab
BE

Transition risks —
Implementation of low-carbon
policies for the operation
BERR — RESEEEREGEK
Transition risks — Supply and
demand for certain services may
change as climate related risks
and opportunities are
increasingly taken into account
BWERRE — BEEREEREEER
MBI E S E R - FLREH
HEAREEBEER(

REBERAERAR

AEEBE B — R ERMNEE KRR
BERAHEENORIEEBERRMES - &
LOREMERRARSEATED PR

Opportunities

#ia

o New services to help
communities decarbonise

o EEIEBIMIE D RRS

Technologies to enhance the

performance of operation and

energy efficiency

o ARFHEE MALJRBOE ) EMT

o Transitioning to low carbon
economy market to meet
government decarbonisation

targets
. B A (R Bk 4SO T 9% DA B BURT
B R B 1R

Improving resource efficiency —
reduce operating costs

e WEERYER —REFEZXAX
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Risks Opportunities
[ B wia
Medium to long term ° Transition risks — Potential new e Transitioning to low carbon

(5+ years)

PRE(BFIUAL)

regulation and policies which economy market to meet
could affect the operational government decarbonisation
costs targets
. BERR — BENIERMBE o BREERBRKEDS  ABERBA
AIRE B IR E A it fix B 12
° Transition risks — Development e Advancement in green building
and use of emerging technologies — increase
technologies may increase the revenue through low emission
operational costs, and reduce construction
the Groups’ competitiveness . EEERNTES — R
o BERR — FrERIMEFEFE 2 EE LA DA
FARTRES G INBE KA - WKL o  To work as a pioneer in the
SENHFE industry and build up the
o Transition risks — the Group relevant reputations
reputation may be impacted due o K ATTEMLIRTEAFEEE
to changing customer or
community perceptions of said
the Group’s contribution to or
detraction from the transition to
a lower-carbon economy
. BWERRE — AREPILREAR
SEEERSBEE RN E RSO
BOEEREER L AEEBRE

=/

BIKBER

e iy

BAIE o S SRR B H R AFI ETE

We are prepared to address the threats climate change

poses both to our business and to the communities we
serve. The Group essentially plans to respond to local
government initiatives and follow local governments’
emission reduction requirements. We aim to reduce our
emissions by 3% before 2026 and 20% before 2036 from
the base year of 2021. Our long-term target is to achieve
carbon neutrality by 2050 in Hong Kong and by 2060 in
PRC. We are committed to continuously improving our
energy efficiency, applying professional knowledge to
improve on-site efficiency and maintain efficient
management support, in order to safeguard the Group’s
reputation.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to upholding a high level of corporate
social governance. We recognise the significance of
constructing a safe and healthy work environment, as well as
establishing and maintaining our project quality and social
credibility. In the meantime, the Group devotes itself to
preserving the sustainable development of its business and
community. To promote this business model, the Group has
established a 5-year human resources plan to exhibit prudence
in managing its operations and is cautious in executing
decisions made by the management team.

The Group’s 5-year human resources plan involves the
following main steps:

Demand and
Supply Forecast

Situation

Assessment
1R AT fS

Analysis
SRR e
&R DT

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
B1 Employment

The Group is dedicated to promoting fair and ethical
labour policies. We have established human resource
systems related to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, leave
application, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
and other benefits and welfare, and circulated such
policies to all employees. The Group has consistently
complied with the requirements set out in relevant laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the PRC, the Social Insurance Law of the PRC and
the Trade Union Law of the PRC. During the Year, the
Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

92 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR
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Remuneration, Compensation and Dismissal

The employee remuneration policies were determined with
reference to factors such as salary information available
in local markets, overall salary standards in the industry,
inflation level, operational efficiency of the Group and the
employees’ qualification, position, length of service and
performance. The employee remuneration package
comprises basic salary, allowance, bonus and other
compensation. The dismissal of employees follows the
procedure as set out in the “Labour Contract
Management Policy”.

Recruitment and Promotion

The Group recruits talents through graduate programmes
and experienced hiring. Departments propose annual
recruitment plan based on their needs. The Group has
established an employee promotion policy and conducts
regular performance appraisals for employees.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group implements five-day workweek in the
Company’s headquarters. Specific position works
nonstandard hours. The Group’s statutory holidays are
implemented in accordance with national regulations,
including sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave,
nursing leave, bereavement leave, lactation leave,
work-related injury leave, etc.
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Antidiscrimination

As stated in the Group’s Employee Handbook, we ensure
that employees are treated fairly in matters including
hiring and promotion, regardless of their gender and age.

Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group participates in social insurance and housing
provident fund for applicable employees according to the
national laws and regulations. Related social insurance
includes pension insurance, medical insurance, maternity
insurance, unemployment insurance and work injury
insurance.

Moreover, the Group provides monetary rewards on major
holidays such as the Mid-Autumn Festival and birthdays.
The Group also communicates with the employees
through different channels, e.g. corporate email, instant
message mobile applications such as WeChat, employee
gathering, labour union and team exploration activities.
During the Year, the Group organised several employee
engagement activities to foster a positive relationship
among employees and the Group, including wrapping
sticky rice dumplings at the Dragon Boat Festival, solving
lantern riddles at the Mid-Autumn Festival, handcrafting
flower lantern on the Women’ Day and tree planting.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR
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Employee BT

Employee Profile as at 31 December R+t=ZA=+—BEI®HR 2023
—E-=

By Gender R R

Male s 371

Female Z 174

By Age Group RER

Below 30 305 AT 87

30-50 30-5073% 367

Above 50 508% A £ 91

By Employment Type REEESE

Full time el 545

Part time FRu% 0

By Geographical Region R it 35

Hong Kong &5 1

The PRC =8 544

Total &t 545

Employee Turnover Rate' BImxE" 2023
—E-=

By Gender &M Bl

Male = 36%

Female Z 19%

By Age Group RE®R

Below 30 30T 53%

30-50 30-507%% 28%

Above 50 5055 bA £ 22%

By Geographical Region & it 35

Hong Kong BB 0%

The PRC H 31%

Overall il 31%

1 Turnover rate equals to the number of employees left during [

the corresponding year divided by the number of TEH-

employees at the end of the corresponding year.

b
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Health and Safety

The Group has been in strict compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Work
Safety Law of the PRC, the Emergency Response Law of
the PRC and the Regulation on Work-Related Injury
Insurances. The Group has established a management
system which has been accredited with 1SO45001:2018
Occupational Health and Safety Management System (in
respect of the construction of municipal engineering,
construction conservation of landscaping and correlative
management activity). In the Year, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with the health and
safety laws and regulations and there was no case of
work-related injury or fatality.

The data of the Group’s work-related injuries and fatalities
of the past three reporting year are listed as below:

Number of work-related fatalities IkTEE

Rate of work-related fatalities AT =
Number of work injuries IEEHE
Lost days due to work injury TEEBIERRHE

The Group has formulated a safety work management
handbook for the safety work management of other
parties such as the project departments and other
departments of the Group. The project departments are
not only in charge of organising and implementing the
safety work in detail, but also responsible for supervising
and monitoring the execution of safety requirements by
construction teams of the subcontractors as per the
requirements in the handbook.

The Group has developed an employee manual which
provides guidance in respect of employees’
responsibilities for their health and safety at the
workplace.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR
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B2-1 Work safety management system

The Group has in place stringent internal safety policies
to ensure work safety operations and compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC. The quality and
safety department is responsible for overseeing the
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong, including but not limited to
conducting regular reviews and inspections of safety
performance, conducting reviews of any material
accidents, and ensuring that the Group maintains the
necessary licenses, approvals and permits to operate.

The Group implements a multi-tiers work safety
management system. The general manager, being the first
tier, is responsible for formulating and overseeing the
implementation of safety standards and reporting the
status to the Directors. The quality and safety
department, being the second tier, together with the
general manager, deputy general manager, head of the
quality and safety department and project managers are
responsible for the coordination and organisation of the
safety management of the Group. The project team,
being the third tier, comprises safety officers, workers and
group leaders are responsible for preparing and updating
project logbook and inspecting safety management of the
projects. The Group continuously strengthens the
monitoring of operation safety of staff via the safety
management system.
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B2-2 Safety training

B3

98

The Group organises vocational training regularly and it is
the policy that all on-site staff and workers are required to
attend not less than four days of training covering the
Group’s safety policies and measures, relevant legal
requirements, equipment operations, prevention measures
and company protocols in the event of accidents. In
addition, all employees of the Group are required to
attend a safety seminar and pass an examination
covering the Group's production safety guidelines, safety
knowledge and protocols on an annual basis.

The Group’s safety management system includes a
reporting and recording system for safety accidents of our
construction sites. All safety accidents must be reported
to the general manager of the Group immediately.
Personnel from the responsible project team are required
to inspect the site immediately to oversee the handling of
the accident and ensure evidence of the accident has
been kept intact. Investigation of the accident will be
conducted to find out the cause as well as establishing
accountability and to identify improvement measures.

Development and Training

The Group believes that its employees are valuable
assets. Competition for excellent employees is fierce in
the construction service industry in the PRC, and the
Group offers competitive remuneration to attract and retain
the talented ones. Regular reviews of employee
remuneration are carried out in order to retain
outstanding employees and attract valuable external
talents.

CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED R/EZRERATR
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The Group emphasises the development of our
employees and tries our best to help them to realise their
career goals while making efforts to meet business
targets. The Group monitors its employees in the
construction sites for safety purpose and regularly
provides them with safety and skill training. The Group
also has corresponding requirements in place for
construction site safety management.

The Group will keep upgrading the professional
development platform and assessment systems for our
employees, roll out the tailor-made leadership and
know-how training programmes and offer them with better
promotion opportunities that meet their needs and
expectations.

Training Activities

During the Year, the Group organised a wide range of
training programmes for staff members at all working
levels, including first aid training and fire safety system
training, striving to support the professional and personal
development of its employees. The training covers various
areas including but not limited to:

° Engineering technology;
o Onsite safety management; and

° Laws and regulations related to construction sector.

AEEEREIRRYBIGHERES
XBE BUFRBEZSHEREXBKER - ER
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The performance indicators related to employee training EEFEIHEANEBIEZNT
are as follows:

Percentage of Trained Employees'® FZIEITHZE 2023 2022
As at 31 December Rt+=—B=+—8” —E_= il A
By Gender R Bl

Male Es 100% 98%
Female s 100% 98%
By Employment Categories TR B A A% B

Senior Management BREEAE 100% 92%
Middle Management FEEERAE 100% 96%
General Staff —RET 100% 98%
Overall a&t 100% 98%

Average Training Hours Completed

Per Employee'® F 1 Z 5 hF & 2023 2022
As at 31 December R+=-—BA=+—H —E-= —E-=
By Gender R Bl
Male s 3.00 3.01
Female Z 3.00 3.53
By Employment Categories R B 4% Bl
Senior Management BREEAE 3.00 4.33
Middle Management FEZIEASR 3.00 3.37
General Staff —%ET 3.00 3.12
Overall &ast 3.00 3.17
L Percentage of trained employees equals to the number of (= XINEIESEEREEEANZINIE I
trained employees in the specified category divided by the B AR RIFRE TS -

number of employees in the specified category at the end
of the corresponding year.

18 Average training hours equals to the total training hours in LS S35 52 511 s 85 S A i T 2R 1| 48 8 B R B
the specified category divided by the total number of LATEESERIFRE THE -
employees in the specified category at the end of the
corresponding year.
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B4

Labour Standards

The Group always respects and strictly complies with all
relevant labour laws and regulations in the place where it
operates, including but not limited to the Law of the PRC
on Protection of Minors, the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labor of PRC and the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong. The Group has developed
rigorous and systematic measures for approving and
selecting employees. For example, Group obtains and
verifies their valid identity documents to avoid illegal
hiring of child labour and ensure that the employment is
in compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
Group also schedules employees’ working hours in
accordance with the statutory standards and provides
paid leave and sick leave entitlements in compliance with
relevant labour laws. During the Year, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance case relating to
child labour and forced labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES

B5

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established relevant policies and systems
in force for supply chain management, including
procedures and criteria of selecting suppliers, and will
review and reassess such procedures regularly.

The Group procures its construction machinery, materials
and services through impartial and open competitions to
ensure that the selected products and service providers
can satisfy the needs and requirements. In addition to the
consideration of the quality of products or services as
well as business factors in its bidding process for
supplier selection, the Group prefers suppliers who
proactively fulfil their social responsibilities intending to
improve the sustainable development of the Group. For
suppliers with similar performance level, priority will be
given to suppliers with “Low Carbon Product
Certification” and “China Green Product Certification”.
New suppliers will be required to provide business
licenses and permits for opening, in order to verify their
scope of business and ensure the legitimacy of newly
signed contracts.

B4
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Socad

The Group is impartial to every product and service
provider to facilitate long-term cooperation. We review our
product and service providers regularly based on their
pricing, quality, aftersales service, reputation and their
ESG performance to ensure that it is provided with
high-quality products and services continuously. If
suppliers violate the Group’s provisions or any other
regulations, they will be blacklisted and their further
orders from the Group will be terminated.

The suppliers mainly provide raw materials, including soil
and rock, machinery, seedlings, steel, tubes and bitumen
for our projects. During the Year, there were 3,340
suppliers in total, of which 2,598 being new suppliers.
The number of suppliers by geographical locations is as
follows:

Geographical Location WV E
Zhejiang Province, the PRC RENIE

Other Provinces, the PRC'? PERHEME DT

Total &5t

i It includes Anhui Province, Beijing, Chongqging, Fujian
Province, Guangdong Province, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, Hebei Province, Henan Province,
Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province, Jiangxi Province,
Liaoning Province, Shandong Province, Shanxi Province,
Shaanxi Province, Shanghai, Sichuan Province, Tianjin and
Yunnan Province.
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B6

Project Responsibility

The Group is committed to providing high-quality services
and ensuring their compliance with relevant quality
standards and sustainability requirements. We also strive
for high standards for our projects. The Group strictly
abides by the laws and regulations related to health and
safety and project quality, for instance, Construction Law
of the PRC, Construction Project Quality Control
Regulation, Product Safety Law of the PRC, and the
Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of
Construction Projects. In the Year, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. As the Group does not produce physical
goods, issues relating to advertising and labelling have
no significant impact on the Group’s operations. The
Group has formulated related procedures and measures
relating to quality management, complaint handling,
intellectual property and customer data protection and
privacy matters, fulfilling the requirements stated in the
Law of the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
of Hong Kong etc. The details are illustrated in the
following sections. The details of workplace health and
safety are mentioned in the section “B2 Health and
Safety”.

Quality Management

The Group has always been focusing on quality control in
project construction since its incorporation. In respect to
human resources, we have a team of experienced project

managers in undertaking various landscape and
municipal works construction projects. In respect of
systems, the Group owns a comprehensive quality

management system and is accredited with
ISO9001:2015 Quality Management System and GB/T
50430-2017 Code for Quality Management of Engineering
Construction Enterprises (in respect of the construction of
municipal engineering, construction conservation of
landscaping and correlative management activity). We
have also established a complete and constantly effective
management policy for management of technology,
operations, human resource and file management.
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The Group have also carried out regular training and has
established a management system covering various
aspects including management of quality of construction
staff, quality control on raw material and site
management, to ensure the timely and efficient
completion of its projects.

Stringent quality control is critical to the Group’s
reputation and success. We have implemented
comprehensive quality control measures to ensure work
quality. The Group has in place an organisational
structure for quality control. The general manager is
responsible for setting the overall quality control
decisions, managing quality control matters and assessing
the effectiveness of the measures. The quality and safety
department is responsible for formulating and monitoring
the implementation of quality control policies, handling
reported quality control issues and making
recommendations to enhance work quality. At the project
sites, beside of the project manager, the quality
inspection officer(s) in each project primarily responsible
for daily monitoring and audit of the quality control
measures, such as supervising raw materials procurement
and carrying out work quality inspections. The following is
a summary of the key quality control measures
implemented by the Group:

° Inspection of raw materials: Incoming raw materials
are inspected in accordance with the Group’s
quality standards and the specifications of its
customers in the construction contracts. A product
certificate is required before using such raw material
for the construction projects;

o Training: Staff should attend training before work to
ensure their understanding of, and compliance with,
the Group’s quality standards. In addition, a daily
meeting is held with staff working on-site to review
construction safety measures and precautions;

° Standardised construction: Standardised construction
methods and technique are implemented in the
construction projects to facilitate the implementation
of such methods and technique by workers on-site;

104 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED BEZERERAF
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° On-site inspections and rectification: Regular and ad
hoc inspections and spot checks are conducted on
the construction project sites, the Group’s personnel
are required to implement immediate rectification
measures if any quality control issues are identified.
Upon rectification, the quality control issues will be
inspected again to ensure that such issues have
been resolved. Independent construction supervisor
appointed by the customers will conduct periodic
inspections and spot inspections of the construction
projects; and

. Quality control review: After the completion of each
project and at the end of each quarter, a
comprehensive review and analysis of any quality
control issues is conducted.

The Group has set rules for the approval of completion of
construction projects as well as the repair and
maintenance during the warranty period.

Our Project Quality

During the Year, the Group received a total of 22
recognitions and awards at the provincial and municipal
level for its outstanding performance of our construction
projects. Please refer to the section headed “Awards and
Recognitions” for the full list of awards and recognitions
obtained in 2023.

Complaint Handling

The Group has standard procedures in place to deal with
the client’'s complaints. Upon receiving any complaint, it
will take timely action to keep track of its settlement,
ensuring every complaint being handled properly. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any cases of
complaints.
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Intellectual Property Management

The Group has been in strict compliance including but not
limited to the Patent Law of the PRC, Copyright Law of
PRC and intellectual property protection in the PRC. In
order to protect the intellectual property, the Group has
implemented protective measures covered various phases
of the project, such as, design, construction, etc.

In the Year, the Group was granted 12 patents covering
three patents of invention and nine patents of utility
model. The Group was also granted 6 copyright of
computer software.

Customer Information Protection and Privacy

The Group has formulated the Policy of Confidential
Information Protection (F&ZRRE$IE). Only designated
personnel are allowed to access the filing room.
Personnel are required to obey the related regulations.
For example, they are prohibited to discuss the content of
the files with outsiders and review documents that are not
relevant to their job duties. Strict procedures are applied
when the archives need to be destroyed. If there are any
files missing or stolen, it must be reported to the senior
management in a timely manner.

Anti-corruption

The Group rigorously complies with the local laws and
regulations regarding anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering, including but not limited to the Criminal Law
of the PRC, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.
The Group has a series of practices and employees’
code of conduct against corruption and money laundering
in effect.

REBERAERAR

B7

HREREE

AEE-EFERETREATRR(TEA
RAMBEZENE) (hEARAMBEZE(E
R M BE SR ERRE - BIRENHE
ER AEECERREZEE SERR
BVIRAEE I - 10 REH I o

FA AKEHESI2EERN  SHEEA
SENIAELERHAUENIE - REH T E
B T6HEMNIEEFHE -

FEFlEERELMNE

AEEGETEBRAREHNE] - REEE
MABTREARBRE - ABKAETHE
BARE o Bl ISR RFEINBARR
XA R R EHEM PN TEREE
R - BERERFBRHRE - BERAER
REVREFF - I RB TR X RRIE
BARBREREEERS

R&ES

AREBEBRETREFMREEREESR
BREMRR(PEARKXMBEADE) - (F
FEARAMBREEZ)FCEED LB
Bl - REBBRE —RINOBEHIFME T F




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRE #HEREREE (B

The Group value honesty and integrity and avoid from
any corruption or violation of rules such as bribery,
money laundering, extortion and fraud. We believe that it
is necessary to enhance the morality in the Group, so as
to maintain its sustainability and to win the confidence of
its employees, customers, suppliers and other business
partners.

The Group always pays high attention to anti-fraud, we
have formed the corporate culture featuring integrity and
fairness inside the Group. It may unconditionally dismiss
any employee who is involved in corruption or bribery or
deceives the Group by means of forgery, and we will take
legal action against such person whether or not the
Group suffers from any loss due to such misconduct.

The Group has whistle-blowing policy in effect for
employees to report directly to the Group’s senior
management any misconduct and dishonest behaviours,
such as bribery, fraud and other offences.

Furthermore, the Group has specified in the employees’
handbook that it is entitled to terminate the employment
contract with any employee who is bribed with money,
gifts or commission, etc., and reserve the right to take
further legal actions against such person. Through
corporate  WeChat platform, the Group disseminates
information on anti-corruption occasionally to raise the
awareness among employees.
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During the Year, the Group arranged an anti-corruption
training session for our employees, promoting a strong
stance against bribery and fostering a harmonious
society. The training session focused on the code
of clean conduct, and a total of 68 participants
attended. The Group had complied with the relevant laws
and regulations regarding anti-corruption and
money-laundering and had no concluded legal case
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or
its employees.

COMMUNITY

B8
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Community Investment

The Group actively participates in charitable activities in
communities and cities where our projects are operating
and constructing, and encourages employees to
participate in in-house or external community activities.

During the Year, the Group organised several volunteer
activities to support the community, including streetscape
greening enhancement and vegetation maintenance,
expressing love and care for the elderly and donating
river warning signs. Additionally, the Group donated
approximately RMB87,000, which was allocated to various
initiatives including the development of rural industries,
purchase of automated external defibrillator and support
for the charity federation.

REBERAERAR

HE

B8

REE  AEBERETRHTRESE
Shi5 R EBERR N RRES 35 - [REMAHE -
S ERRBRITATA - KHEBA
2 AEERRETAERRER LR
BEHMEBARMER - LB RITHAE
BRHEBTESITRNCEREERREMN -

HERE

AEBEEGSRIARESMERAENT
BAMWMHHOEELE  SBET2EA
S INERHL IR EED o

NEE AEERPTLZLEELETS &
BESHEREREE  BEIEBRE -
AR B BERE - lboN - REBEIER
B THARES7 000t BRERERNE
¥ BEAYBIMEHEIBEERIHES
BRELELIEEY -




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - HEREBRRE (8

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS RIFEF A
The Group’s efforts have been recognised with numerous of ZAFEREBME NHEE T RZEENRA - 85
awards during the Year. The details are as follows: BN -
Award and Recognition Issuing Organisation
R IFERGE Al TERHE
2023 Top 100 Competent Enterprises in Ningbo Ningbo Enterprises Confederation Z)F Mt £ E & -
- Ranked No. 47 Ningbo Entrepreneurs Association ZEF XX E -
2023FEEMHmF NEEBR — F47L Ningbo Federation of Industrial Economy & T 3
KEBREE
2023 Top 100 Servicing Enterprises in Ningbo Ditto
- Ranked No. 45 [ -

2023 F R MRBELE AR — F454

2023 Pioneer Enterprise of District Construction Ningbo Yinzhou District Housing and Urban-Rural
“Quality Month”Activity of Yinzhou District Construction Bureau

2023 FmEBRTRIBEEAEFFTERE B T ER N [ (3 55 A0 40 R R

2023 Pioneer Unit in Civilised Construction Ditto
Management at Construction Sites in Yinzhou [k

2023 F EB N [ IR SR T 40 R E T B IR s BB

2023 Pioneer Unit of Safe Construction Site Creation Ditto
in Yinzhou District El
2023F B F L T b Al L B

2023 Outstanding Construction Site for Construction  Ningbo Housing and Urban-Rural Construction Bureau
Standardised Production Safety Management in BT E A SRR
Ningbo

0B3FEHERMEEM I L 2EERLEERER T

2023 Structural Quality Award Ditto
2023F E BB EE %2 s
Ningbo “Yong River Construction Cup” Quality Ditto

Project Award [ -

BERM[AIERN]EE T2

2023 Ningbo “Camellia Cup” Outstanding Ningbo Landscape Architecture Association
Landscaping Project Award (Including Suburb) EETRSEMNBE
2023 F EEIRT [REMIBFEMITEE(ZTHIN

2023 Ningbo “Camellia Cup” Landscaping Ditto
Maintenance Award Project [k

2023FEEBE RN [ RN B RERIAR
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Award and Recognition

Issuing Organisation

RIFERT

The QC Team “Thunderbolt” of Xindian Road
(Yinfeng Road-Service Outsourcing College)
Reconstruction Project was awarded “Ningbo
Construction Cup” Quality Management Team in
2023

EE (B — REINBER) NEIRRIEEEH]
QC/NEERE2023F E [ ERERMN | BEER /A

The QC team “High Spirits” of Xihong Bridge and
Connection Project Landscape Greening Section
was awarded “Ningbo Construction Cup” Quality
Management Team in 2023
FRAE REFTITRRESE&C—RRIRMKREIQC/H
HERE2023FE B REZMN I EEEER/NE

2023 Anhui Engineering Construction QC Group
Achievement Competition List (First Prize)
202BRHETIRERQCIMNEAKNRAERE (—FH)
2023 Excellent Quality Management Team of
Zhejiang Municipal Industry (Second Prize)
2023FEHNIAMBITRBAME BT/ NE(ZF %)

2023 Zhejiang Municipal Public Utilities Gold Medal
Demonstration Project (Quality Project)
2023FEHNIEAMHR AR R RBITIE(BEEITR)

2023 Ningbo Municipal Industry Excellent Quality
Management Group
20BFEERTMBITEEBSmEE T/ NE

2023 Municipal Construction Work Safety
Standardisation Management Excellent Site

023 FEMABREMTILZ 2 HERELERERT
i

2023 Municipal Construction Project Yingzhou Cup
(Quality Project)

2023F EMAKZERTEBMAE (BEIRE)

2023 Construction Safety Production Standardisation
Management Outstanding Site in Zhoushan

0BFEAILTERBILZEEEFRE(ERRBRT
i1
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mEEE

Ningbo Construction Industry Association

BRMEEXRHE

Ditto
m

Anhui Construction Engineering Quality and Safety
Association
THRHERERIEREEL D HE

Zhejiang Municipal Industry Association

MTEMBITEGE

Ditto
[k

Ningbo Municipal Industry Association

BN HMERITERE

Zhoushan Construction Industry Management Service
Centre

MIUmRZEXEEREH O

Ditto
[ E

Zhoushan Housing and Urban-Rural Construction Bureau
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Award and Recognition Issuing Organisation

RIFERRT BEEE

2023 Landscape Project Construction Safety Zhejiang Society of Landscape Architecture
Production Standardisation Management IR SEMNEE

Outstanding Site in Zhejiang
023FEMIEBMEL IR I EERILER

BRIH

2023 Zhejiang Society of Landscape Architecture Ditto
Outstanding Landscaping Construction Award [k
— Gold Award

2023FEAI AR SEMESEFSEMNTIZER — £48

Five-Star Credit Star Rating Certificate China Association of Construction Enterprise
hEEHRERERFESE Management Credit Evaluation Working Committee

TEETCXEEBEEAFIELFEZES
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRE ()

-,

The Stock Exchange “ESG Guide” Content Index
BXA(RE e REABMEESDRAEERS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPlIs”)

Section/Statement

FTEHEER EH - —REBEREREREZR (KPL)

TEHEA B

Subject Area A. Environmental

N1

EEA1EEKR Y

Aspect A1 Emissions

General Disclosure
— R E

Information on:
BEBRNMAZTREBYM - MAKRIIOHEES  BERESEEY
MEESH -

(a) the policies; and
BUR M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

ETHETABEAZENRBER RO ER -

Environmental
Sustainability
IR R B

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HEBEEREEEEYN AL RERFATTZOREBERERS
EIELAFAMEDRB LR -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
PR R R M ARRE B EUR - B

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per | BEWY
unit of production volume, per facility).

B (8E1) ReERAEE (BE2) REREHNE (UEETE) & (0
BA)ZRE(WWAGESEN §ERMEHE) -

KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Emissions — Waste
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Management
facility). e — BEEY
EEREREEDHEE (UEAE) R(WER) BE(WAGEEE | B8
i ~ BIERMBFHE) °

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Emissions — Waste
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Management
facility). e — BEEY
EEEEEENHAEE (UEAE) R(WER) BEE(WMWAGEEE | B8
i « BIERMFHE) °

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | Environmental
them. Sustainability
R FAET LN E R R R AED S LB RAEMB LR - REAI AN

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Emissions — Waste

Management
B — BEEY

BHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - HEREBRRE (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators
(“KPIs”)
TEHR BEE —REERBREEAREZR (KPL)

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

EBEA2ERER

Section/Statement
B BH

General Disclosure

—RIE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BREMER (BIREIR - K EEAM R F) EE -

Use of Resources

BIRE A

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Use of Resources
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. | &JR{F
per unit of production volume, per facility).
REMESNEE R SKBEEER(WE - [Rgoh) BFE (LTE
FTRHAE) REE (WA BEEE N - BHERBE)

KPI' A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Use of Resources
production volume, per facility). — Water
BREKERTRE (MASEEEN 8AREAHE) ° consumption

BREA — AU

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps | Use of Resources
taken to achieve them. BIREA
PRI MR AR S B E R RENE LB RMERM PR

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | Use of Resources
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken | — Water
to achieve them. consumption
HSKEGER KR ERIBEM A - MRATZOAKGEARER | BRER — KEHE
REFEDEL BRI TR -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) | It is not relevant to

and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BN MATAREMENRE (AMETE) R (ER) FEEBMNG

=
B

the Group’s
business.

BN ER B R o

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

BEHASRERAARER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the | The Environment
— MR EE environment and natural resources. and Natural
BRZEITAHRRERRAEREKERZERNBUR Resources
RIERRAEIR
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | The Environment
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to | and Natural
manage them. Resources
M EBEBHRRELAARERNEAZENCRRERBEUETE | BREEKRAEBR

MTTE) -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRE ()

Socad

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

Section/Statement

TEER - BH —REBKBEANER (KPL)

EEAIRIRE

Aspect A4 Climate Change

=89

General Disclosure
— M=

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

BRI REHEERAEEHETAEESENERAKABEEN
BUR ©

Climate Change
IR

KPI A4.1

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

MR R AIRe @ HETAEATENERRKRERERE - MEY
178 -

Climate Change
IR

TEHEB. (g

Subject Area B. Social

BENRZEIER

Employment and Labour Practices

EEB1{ERE

Aspect B1 Employment

General Disclosure
— M=

Information on:
B EEE  BEKEA  TESS - B FE5#g 2T
bt~ RIS A REMAFSREFMA

(a) the policies; and

BR R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

EFHBTABBAYEOEEERAPINAR -

Employment

&R

geographical region.

RIER - FicdRI MR E D EEERKLE

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- | Employment
or part-time), age group and geographical region. (=2
MR EEEE (MEBSFHEE)  FiRER tRE S HEE AL
o

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | Employment

&R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - HEREBRRE (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators
(“KPIs”)
TEHR BEE —REERBREEAREZR (KPL)

EBEB2ERERZ2

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

Section/Statement
B BH

General Disclosure

—RIE

Information on:

FRAREZE2THEREMMERERRBELBEN -

(a) the policies; and
BUR - &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BTHBTABEALSORMEERATNER -

Health and Safety
EEEZE

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of | Health and Safety
the past three years including the reporting year. femme s
BEZF (DREERFR)BFRITHMWASB R E -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
EATEERXITERE - BEEZ S

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. femme s

AR A B R ERER 28E M L RBEERTRERTTX -

Aspect B3 Development and Training

EHEB3%# R R

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | Development and

— MR EE discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
BHRAERERITIEBRBENMBM IR A BR - B IES - | BHEREI

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Development and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Training
RUEMMEEEEN(NERERERE HREBEF) EASNIIE | BRLEI
8RN -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Development and

and employee category.

BRI R EBERE Y  BREBTAZIEFHER -

Training

B R K350l
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRE ()

Socad

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

Section/Statement

TEER - BH —REBKBEANER (KPL)

EEB4% T X8|

Aspect B4 Labour Standards

=89

General Disclosure
— M=

Information on:

BRAGLET @GS T :

(a) the policies; and

BR R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

EFHBTABBAYEOEEERAPINEAR -

Labour Standards
LT AR

discovered.

Wl R IRE RIS RE B A RIS TR P B -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Employment
avoid child and forced labour. &%
AR TR EM M EE AR P E T RRHIZT -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Employment

&R

Operating Practices
[EEB5% EEH

General Disclosure
— M=

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
EIRHERENRE N GRRER -

Operating Practices
EERBDI

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

A EREHRERARRESARERERMREONED - ARBREHR
TRERAE-

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Operating Practices

EwEE DR HEREE - — Supply Chain
Management
EIEEN — fEsE
B

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Operating Practices
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and | &3&1Z{l
how they are implemented and monitored.

MR A HERNED - MEARTEBEMNHERHEE - U
NEREHIRITRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and | Operating Practices
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are | &:&1Z{I
implemented and monitored.

MG RAERIHEREERMORE R GRBNED - A NEHE
MITRERAE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally | Operating Practices

LEBED
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - HEREBRRE (8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

Section/Statement

TEHR BEE —REERBREEAREZR (KPL)
Aspect B6 Product Responsibility

-1

BEEB6EMERE
General Disclosure Information on: Project
— PRI E BEREFMREERMNRBNERELZE EBE ZREAEEEIA KL | Responsibility
R TTER - EmEE
(a) the policies; and
BUR - &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
BIIHETAREARTZENHEBEEZRELRONER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Project
for safety and health reasons. Responsibility
PENCEXAEMEEPAL2ERRERMARNKN BT EmEE
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | Project
and how they are dealt with. Responsibility
RN EMARISHRFEE AREE X - EmEE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Project
intellectual property rights. Responsibility
i it 6 4 R R AN B E R B V1B ) - EmEE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Project
procedures. Responsibility
HlESRTRERERBKET - EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Customer
and how they are implemented and monitored. Information
HlEREERRERLBRE  UREARITRER % - Protection and
Privacy

BEEBRERLE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIR - B REBRE ()

Py ) ol

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and Key Performance Indicators

(“KPlIs”) Section/Statement
TEER -BEH - —REERERERERZR (KPL) B8 B9

Aspect B7 Anti-corruption

EBEB7TRES

General Disclosure Information on Anti-corruption

— PRI R BRI BR - HEFREREN k&S

(a) the policies; and

BR R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BFHBTABEAYEOEEERAPINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting | R&EJ5

period and the outcomes of the cases.
RmEMAHETASIREEERAVEEENE THFARGHERE
BARMER ©

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing | Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. RES
M BEERRRET  URAEARITRERE -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and | Anti-corruption
staff. RES
HmMEEREIRHORETEI -

Community

#HE

Aspect B8 Community Investment

EBEBSHTERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of | Community

— M= the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its | #t[&
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BN RZ2ERTHREEMEHMEFTENBREAZEK TG ER
BN REBR °

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Investment
EIERERE (NHE  REFHEH SIFK BR XXt 8BF) | HERE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community
EHIBHRFABANER (NS ELRERE) Investment

HERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R R S

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHANHIGH HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Chanhigh Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 129 to 233, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BEREEEREISE B

BEHEE R TE _ 1)\
ANEZH - +N=18

RSM Hong Kong

T+8522598 5123 B +852 2598 5123
F+852 25987230 HH +852 25987230

www.rsmhk.com www.rsmhk.com

BRBEREBR AT FIMLRKRR
(REISHSZTMA L BR A])
=R

RS ([EE]) BEEZASERAERAR ([&
~REDRENBAR ([EEE ) EHNE1292F
23BBE AN EHRE HBER T _=F1
A=+ BZEAUBMRRR  REEZA L
FENGRABRNIEMEEKRER  GAERE
FERRGAEESRER  UARBAUBHRERMN
o BEEASHBRAEME -

EERE BRAMERREBEARESED
ZEe ((ERetElZEe]) BEMHNBEERYTS
REEA([BERFBEREEN D EEMAL MR
B EEER-_ZE-_=F+-A=+—H2Z&HEa
AR SEEHEZPELFEZEATE
¥ERHGARERE WD BBREBS QG
ZHERTEZAERE -

k=110
S|

2
=

i 18>

ERHNER

EECREEFESHMAS((FESHMLE))
Bz BARBER ([ FAZEEN ) EITEX
TE- BENZFENATNREEEESNRSE
2 ZBE R ERE S VB HRRARENEE—
g E - RIERESFMAG 2 EXEHENE
A  FEFEBLR E5E Y&
BEZETARTESEMBRET BFHE "
EEFERBRADREZERERRE  RBEFZER
BEREMER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BRERSENR

REESNERALE  BEREZER/ETFEX
AEFAMBERRTRERNER - BEREX
HFEMBHRRALMLTZAERFE LR R
HEER MIAERLEFEREFERERL &
FERAINEREZERR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

BHRUBKARBRREMEOEEZR
(=1
BRAEVBAREHNEE ANEE

1. Impairment of trade and bills receivables and contract 1.
assets

2. Revenue from construction contracts and contract assets/ 2.
contract liabilities

Key Audit Matter
ERERSEIEH

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AFEBSHTHEARERSENEERR

1. Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and contract assets

1. EZRUNREREURREBNSNEEZRE

Refer to notes 5(b), 6(b), 22 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements

Our procedures included:

AFFHITOREF B -

BiABEHEIZNE5(b) - 6(b) ~ 22123

The Group has trade and bills receivables and
contract assets with aggregate values of
RMB304,924,000 and RMB1,208,215,000 before the
loss allowance for trade and bills receivables of
RMB78,326,000 and contract assets of
RMB32,844,000 respectively as at 31 December
2023. No specific credit period was granted to its
customers. As at 31 December 2023, trade and bills
receivables (net of provision for impairment losses
of RMB74,748,000) aged over 1 year amounted to
RMB93,026,000.

EEECESRNGEREREEMEHNEER -
TEFFT A=+ HENREZRWFIBEREWKE
BB KRB E AREET78,326,000 TTMA L EERKEE
AR®32844 000t 2D Rl AARK
304,924,0007T & A K #1,208,215,0007T ° #f £ [[) H
EERHERCEER N_BE_=F+_A=+—8 -
REREBIE — TR E S EINGRTE & B W E B0 R E A
B E AR 74,748,0007T F %8 & A R #93,026,000
=

Understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key controls over the
collection and the impairment assessment of the
trade and bills receivables and contract assets,
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias;

BEREMFEEZREKEALRBRRENESREE
FfEE I ARE RT (i RO B R 42 B SR AT AN E b B8
Z RGN EE 2R ME M E A Rk R E (0
BRI THE  BENEERREOSRIL) 6
IKEER T4 A A0 E A E R
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

Key Audit Matter
HRERSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AR EFRGFHFHARELSENEELR

1. Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and contract assets (Continued)
1. EBEZRUREREBUEBNENEEZRE (&)

During the vyear, reversal of impairment loss on
trade and bills receivables and impairment loss on
contract assets based on management’s estimate of
the expected credit losses of RMB1,604,000
credited and RMB12,974,000 charged to profit or
loss respectively.

FR - REEEEMGMTBBHEEEXZEZEIKFIE
FEWEEBEBEOBMENEEREBES A
AR #1604, ooomﬂa wmat A M A R¥12,974,0007T
FEEFE

The loss allowance is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, aging of trade
receivables, customers’ repayment history and
financial position and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions,
all of which involve a significant degree of
management judgement.

BREZBEIEEER &R fﬁ%fﬂﬁz%ﬁ’\lﬁzﬁ%% :
B P& SRR SN B AR S B AT B TR AT 2 — AR AR
RS R AR R R ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁ%a%%ﬁﬁ&ikﬁ*fé
32 E HE -

Assessing the grouping of trade and bills
receivables and contract assets by considering
the nature of the debtors and their credit risk
characteristics;

BBEEEEBANTEMEERBREE -
ERWFIBEREBREBEMENEEN DA

AHEE S

Testing the accuracy and completeness of the
data used by management on a sample basis to
develop the historical loss rates and assessing
the sufficiency, reliability and relevance of that
data;

B A E R E RN BUIRA EREM TR - A
HIEELBARE W HELBEBNREI N - A S
MEFIAR BRI

Evaluating management’s assessment of whether
there was a significant increase in credit risk on
trade and bills receivables and contract assets
since initial recognition under general approach;

FETEEYESERFARERERTS AL
B R DR B S R T A IR 4 00 0 37
fh

| nugli..m-
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

Key Audit Matter
BREREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AR EEFHTHRAREZZTENEESX

1. Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and contract assets (Continued)
1. EBEZRUREREBUEBNENEEZRME (H)

Management concluded that there is adequate loss
allowance in respect of the trade and bills
receivables and contract assets. This conclusion
required significant management judgement in
assessing the recoverability of trade and bills
receivables and contract assets and estimating the
amount of expected credit losses.

EEERS RESRUFBERBRERENEHEE
FHER EMIEREE ZEwTEETHE B RUGK
HEREREBEMGOEENA KL N RGEFEBER
BREBERBELEAEEEHF -

—  Assessing the appropriateness of the impairment
loss methodology, testing the calculation of the
historical loss rates on a sample basis and
evaluating the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments made to reflect current and
forecast future economic conditions with the
assistance of our internal valuation experts;

— MBS AERMANABFEERNH TG
WMEBKRIDENEE M - B SE LB R K&
B W FFE LR R E B AN TE B R 2R A A A S B Al
EHERE S

— Testing the aging of trade and bills receivables
on a sample basis; and

— LUl AUEEE PR IE KRR E R AR
A

— Testing the calculation of expected credit loss
provisions applying the provision rates to the
age categories of the trade and bills
receivables and contract assets outstanding at
the reporting date under simplified approach.

— RERARBSHEZRERFBAREEZENEHE
ERRERBRINBEL RS ERATEBRE
ERKBENE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

AT —-:;'Ehi s - 1=

Key Audit Matter
HRERSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AR EFRGFHFHARELSENEELR

2. Revenue from construction contracts and
contract assets/contract liabilities
2. BRENVBAREGHNEE EHNEE

Refer to notes 5(a) and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements

A A IR EMN itb(a)F123

The Group provides construction service for
municipal work and landscape construction and
related services. The Group recognised contract
revenue and gross profit of RMB1,879,443,000 and
RMB141,406,000 respectively for the year ended 31
December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group recorded contract assets and contract
liabilities for construction contracts of
RMB1,175,371,000 and RMB66,733,000
respectively.

B & H A IR A2 AN B ARG % M 48 B8 R e 1R i T AR
K-HE_T-_=F+_A=1+—HItFE BE&£H
HRHE LA TIFE S B & AR 1,879,443,0007T
MAR®E141,406,000T c R=ZFE_=FF+_A=+—
H BE£ERERIESERHANEEARE
1,175,371,0007C 1 & A9 & & A R#66,733,0007T °

Revenue from the construction contracts is
recognised progressively over time. The Group
measures progress towards satisfaction of its
performance obligation using an input method
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total contract costs.

BIAKNNBASELER - EXEERAENETE
BTEBNRBNER DERERRARE RN G S
HIHB K AN EL 5] o

Our procedures included:

RETAITHIREFF B4R

— Understanding and evaluating the design and

implementation of key controls over the
assessment process of revenue and cost
recognition from construction contracts, and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias;

— BERNFEEREQWRAMKATRERFEBRERN

BB IE Bl SR AT M Bk - BB E B A ET A T HEE 1
REMEMEARRRRAE (WEME  E8%E &
e B EIR R R GURIE) B9 /K 2E R FT b E K #E W
MEA R

—  Evaluating the estimation of revenue and profit

recognised on construction contracts, on a

sample basis, by:

—  EBEERL - SHAEHERA ORER KA FFE

HmE

° agreeing
contracts;

the contract sum to signed

s HUEREHERITNEHNMEHNDER:

° understanding from management and
project managers about how the
percentage of completion was determined;

o MEIREMEE LB T HRETETKBEZS
= s

‘ g\ "

"
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

Key Audit Matter
BREREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AR EEFHTHRAREZZTENEESX

2. Revenue from construction contracts and
contract assets/contract liabilities
(Continued)

2. EREVBRAREBHEE EHNEEE)

In the early stages of a contract, the Group is
generally not able to measure the outcome of its
performance obligation but expects to recover the
contract costs incurred. Revenue is recognised to
the extent of those costs until such time that the
Group can reliably measure the outcome of the
performance obligation.

EEAMEHER - EXE-REZGEHEBHERD
MWAER  EBEFRFEUREMEENSHRAE - WAEZ
ERANBEANER BEE BESEEATEHFTE
BHEBHNERRL -

The determination of contract revenues requires
significant management judgement and estimation.

BHRANRERZEANEIEREHE MG -

° agreeing total budgeted costs to approved
budgets;

e UEREHERERRERERAER

° obtaining an understanding from
management and project managers how
the approved budgets were determined;

e MEERENMEARKETHENHERECZET
TR

° challenging the reasonableness of key
management judgements in preparing the
budgets; and

e HRGRHREEZIEZEEBREHEBNSEIL
&

° challenging management’s assessment of
the Group’s ability to deliver contracts
within budgeted timescales and any
penalty for late delivery of contract works
by comparing the progress of the
contracts against the terms stipulated in
the contracts.

e HEAETEEYH EEEERERERARM
BRMBENETHENER  LBEKE LD
EEESOBRTEOGRFALER  HEEXN
BHTRENBRETOEMRZS -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

Key Audit Matter
HREREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AR EFRSFTFHARELSENEELR

Assessing the reliability of the approved budgets
by comparing the actual outcome against
management’s estimation of completed
contracts on a sample basis; and

R ER L BERERERE
B KM B ETT BRI E TR
&

BHE T

s
oA SEE

Checking the calculation of the contract assets/
contract liabilities.

BREANEE ANAENTE -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in
the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Hit&#

EEAHEMERARERT EMENBEFR
TAEENMEER  BETEEFEMBRERR
E Sttt H A B 3RS o

=7

BEEHGRAVBBRRFLNERLRREEME

HABSTHRMERBREALRHLER
e
RESEREAMBRATES - EEHRELY

S EAE L

EEMER  URMEEBEMER S EEAM
BHREAXESEEZERTEEINENFEEX
P IUFFEERFERRL - HEEFER
EEARH TERAEMER HREAHREL -
BEERAMELEE - BEFEMM T EEFFHAR

A ST 7R
&
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BE R & ()

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

126 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED BEZERERAF

EERBREZEENGEMBHRRZER

SERABREREEAZ B SR M 2 BIRT%
BEEARFERRGRIIZEERT  BAERH
AEHEEMAR 2 2REMB®RE  URE
ERRBREAMBRR BRI FERRFH
HERMEH EAHERRIM 2 DEAIEZEE -

ERHEGAMBRERE EFAAETM R
BHRFERLER ) YREASELERRNE
HOER) BRIFEEEER EKEBER =
1L 08 - BRI 2 SN0 E th BB AT AT A R
% BRAERRRANFSECERERNGE -

BERZEeMPDEZETEE BESEMBEHRS

MEMEE -

BREMHBBEL RSB RRARENER

FEENEREAERERR LEaMBHRRES
PEEBRRMFFRERMEBMNEA R RER L
BHESESERNREERE - BFER B
TERERBRS  KRibzsh NEEHRAATBHE
Hitpfk - EE TR ARSNHAR A EMEA
ALTE ESRABEERMEE-

RERERSERNZE  BENEREREDE
ZECEAE T ERER —ERNERBUAFER
FERETEIR o SRARBRUR AR BREF S8R AR - M {E R
SEBECERMBATAREERERELS
MBBRELNEERTER - RESBEANHERR

it o

ERREBEEEZBEMETERN —#HD  BF
EREXRAAH YN BERZERETREFEXRLR

BEEF o B
BEE o« BEIN




Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

REBARELGES Y HBERARENER
(nﬁ)
o RBBIRFHEERE M RER AN REFRER

MEFNERERRAR S - AELEFR
BT RTTEZES ﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁé
EREBREENEARHAE m#m
FEERAERSBRE BE WE C R
1 BR a5 % B A BB I - l%*u%ﬁm
b 3 K ) BE K 5 R Rt L R B R BE B 3R
RERMERMNERNHERELRRE S ©

SHEEEBRZEEANIMIES - AR
%MM%VET BYFEEH BEXH
NEEFINBREEERER -

S A

AHEFMASHRELIRE  UWREFAH
FEFHEERAERERTAE -

x)

@%i%%%uikﬁéﬁ%WmAé%

EERE URECERNEZZE
mELHRYH Exlﬁf%%Muﬂ%W

EARANEHHBEAFEATEERER
HMEERERRTFEEATEERR &
EFRZHBENRETIRBEBREMBER
%WWH%%H&% &m%ﬁﬁﬁ§$
RAAESERERRFERBER -
m%ﬁuﬁi?@%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ M%
ZEBERER -HRRFEFABRAAES
B BEEETHARRERLENREN -

AR ERR(BERE) NEED
CRBEAR  UREEMBHRRES
BEanRBR&SIRERR S MEH -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B B AR ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mok Hon Sang.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2024

128 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED BEZERERA T

RBMRERGEMBRRARENER

(&)

e 3 EXERRERREBIINUKE
HESRERENEZER  UKS B EHR
RBERBER -BFRAAREE BEERH
7 BEEENERIE  BEFARESNE
RERAEZHEE -

BEERELZEQRAT (HHhERE)AENEZ
BE BERZHE BEABEZRASFER BFEF
FEFEZBARRR A #B 2 B S A B AR -

BEENAEZZREERREH HAFTZFCTA
BB MENERBEERER  YHRFEFER
FIBRIRE RN A LSS EEST B ENRAE
KEMEIR - A REREEE G (HER) -

HHEEZZEQBENTHT  BFREMLS
BHAHRSEVBHREANECZRAER - AM
BREARERTE EFERBEN RS HAE
LEIF - HRRERTAFHEMFEREL QR
BE FEGRELNERLT ERAERME
BREHMERNAERRGEBEEEELENA
TN BERTEELFRATEEFNRE
hRBZER -

HEARBI R RENETFTREABRARRE
Koo

P B AT AP
BB

—E-ME=A=+"H




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
MeBnRHEMEERKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
ryEa=tde ShaaE s 2| = g — (5] (e dE

2023 2022
—=E=-= —92==
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Kt AR¥ T ART T
Revenue WA 7 1,879,443 2,018,348
Cost of services rendered e AR 7% Y AR AR (1,731,367) (1,870,993)
Sales related tax and auxiliary SHE MR T 2 KM
charges (6,670) (7,787)
Gross profit E A 141,406 139,568
Other income, and gains and losses  E AW A - RIS K EE 8 18,793 26,905
Administrative and other operating THRAEMEERS
expenses (61,780) (59,815)
Impairment loss on trade and other H5 - ZBRAEMEWIE R
receivables and contract assets, BREEREBEBE 58
net (26,925) (32,493)
Profit from operations REFTBRA 71,494 74,165
Finance costs BE TS AR 10 (27,937) (23,760)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates [E{LEE & > EEFE,(EE) 236 (3,447)
Profit before tax B Bt AT % A 43,793 46,958
Income tax expense FrS Rl > 11 (13,610) (13,859)
Profit and total comprehensive FRRFREZEKEHE
income for the year 12 30,183 33,099
Profit/(loss) for the year and total UTATE&EFEREFR,
comprehensive income for the (BR)RFAZHEKE
year attributable to: mEE
Owners of the company IN/NCIE N 30,745 33,173
Non-controlling interests JEHE AR AE RS (562) (74)
30,183 33,099
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted (RMB cents per AERXREE (BRARES)
share) 16 5.0 54
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R R

At 31 December 2023
RZTEZ=F

F=F ==

2023 2022
—=E_-= =28==
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Kiat AR T YN
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment e NN 17 13,704 14,630
Intangible assets EEE 18 73,720 67,805
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 20 780 —
Investments in associates B b3 s 21 29,917 25,181
Total non-current assets ERBEELTE 118,121 107,616
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE — 1,353
Trade and other receivables B 5 & HAth & SRR 22 616,393 739,563
Contract assets EHNEE 23 1,175,371 1,107,154
Bank and cash balances SRIT IR 46k 24 416,098 332,906
Total current assets RBEEHE 2,207,862 2,180,976
TOTAL ASSETS BEH#T 2,325,983 2,288,592
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the ARQFEA AEGES
Company
Share capital [N 25 5,487 5,487
Reserves (G 27 965,483 934,738
970,970 940,225
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR = 6,087 6,649
Total equity RSP 977,057 946,874
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEEE 30 540 —
Borrowings B 7 102,002 106,002
Total non-current liabilities kARBEEATE 102,542 106,002
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI R (F)

At 31 December 2023
R-_FE_=F+_-_A=+—8H

2023 2022
—E-=5F ===

Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T T AREFTT

Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 RNFRIBRENEE 28 406,624 359,898
Accruals and other payables FESTE A K H A A 5RIE 29 64,014 85,110
Contract liabilities AHEE 23 66,733 100,731
Lease liabilities HEasE 30 301 —
Borrowings &3 31 573,700 560,000
Current tax liabilities BENEfF IR B & 135,012 129,977
Total current liabilities REBEEERE 1,246,384 1,235,716
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES REREEAE 2,325,983 2,288,592

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Peng Yonghui
WIKIE
Director

EF

R _ME=—A -+ NEHREFSHE - I A
ATALTRREZTGRE -

Peng Tianbin
¥R
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEm®EX

For the year ended 31 December 2023
e =aEa-— B S r—E I EE

o0y et

1 |

Attributable to owners of the Company

ERREE ARL
Statutory Non-
Share Share Other surplus  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
HE
BEx  RAGE HitHEE BHREE  REEF B FERER HEXAE

RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETET ARBTT ARBETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F—Hf—H 5,487 457,366 (7,370) 58,145 393,424 907,052 6,723 913,775
Total comprehensive FAZER=ERE

income for the year = = = = 33,173 33,173 (74) 33,099
Transfer from retained BIRE BT

earnings — — — 6,960 (6,960) . — —

Changes in equity for the S REREH

year — — — 6,960 26,213 33,173 (74) 33,099
At 31 December 2022 i S
and 1 January 2023 +ZA=+—HEK
—E-_=f—fA—H 5,487 457,366 (7,370) 65,105 419,637 940,225 6,649 946,874

Total comprehensive FRZEKNREHE

income for the year — — — — 30,745 30,745 (562) 30,183
Transfer from retained BEREEANER
earnings — — — 7,013 (7,013) — — —

Changes in equity for the FREFZE
year — — — 7,013 23,732 30,745 (562) 30,183

At 31 December 2023 R-ZB=-=%
+=ZRA=+—H 5,487 457,366 (7,370) 72,118 443,369 970,970 6,087 977,057

132 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED ®iSZERAERADR




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
ryEa=tde ShaaE s 2| = g — (5] (e dE

2023 2022
—E-= —92==
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR TR ARMT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRENE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 58 Al g A 43,793 46,958
Adjustments for: AT ZIEELAE
Impairment loss on trade and other B o REMBEWRIEBRE L
receivables and contract assets, net BERNRBEEE F8 26,925 32,493
Share of (profits)/losses of associates FEMR B 2 (FE), BB (236) 3,447
Depreciation of property, plant and M WERERHTE
equipment 1,147 2,169
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 142 —
Amortisation of intangible assets ER A EEHE 1,364 1,972
Gain on partial disposal of a subsidiary o 2B 1 B B 2 B M AK A g
subsequently as an associate 1 FT1F (M5E32(c))
(note 32(c)) — (27)
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEWE  WEREZENEE
equipment 235 6,436
Interest income F B WA (15,117) (27,397)
Finance costs B 18 X 7R 27,937 23,760
Operating profit before working capital EEESEHALE R
changes 86,190 89,811
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERL (3 m) 1,353 (1,353)
Increase in contract assets BHEELM (80,281) (147,175)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables =7 RPN AR 27,848 143,743
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and TE A R IE K B R R IE
other receivables B () 76,871 (96,775)
Decrease in amount due from an JE LS B o 1 3 FRIE R
associate 4,500 376
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank SBT3 )
balance 26,711 (24,296)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHBECRD),/ LN (33,998) 15,898
Increase in trade and bills payables B 5 RN RIE RN ERE M 46,726 42,217
Decrease in accruals and other payables FERT B A I B JE < R IR R (21,096) (66,631)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations rmEmE/(FTRA)BRS 134,824 (44,185)
Income taxes paid XN (8,575) (6,429)
Interest on lease liabilities HE& G (49) —
Interest paid EFE (29,188) (31,059)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating #X&EEFE(FTH)RE F58
activities 97,012 (81,673)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
REBRERER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

2023 2022
—E-=HF ===
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T AR®ET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHRMBEERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from partial disposal of a o & BB BT B A B I X A B

subsidiary subsequently as an associate AT A (M1 EE32(c))

(note 32(c)) — 32,940
Purchases of property, plant and equipment EEEY¥% « BE K& E (739) (745)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEREEE (6,889) (4,866)
Investment in an associate HEEDEIRE (4,500) (150)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant  HE&E%E « BE MR EFTESE

and equipment 283 4,750
Increase in deposits with initial terms of over A HAIR 818 =8 A Z fFZE M0

three months (86,584) (25,956)
Interest received 2 WA B 15,117 27,397
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing 1%&&&) (FTA), Fri3iR 4 %58

activities (83,312) 33,370
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHREASRE

ACTIVITIES
Borrowings raised EEEX 534,700 549,206
Repayment of borrowings EEEK (525,000) (572,000)
Principal elements of lease payments ENEEAREE D (81) —
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing ®BYEEENFTS,(FTH)IRE F5

activities 9,619 (22,794)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRBESEZEWIZMCRD)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ek 23,319 (71,097)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUNRERAEEEY

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 229,253 300,350
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREERBAESEEY

AT END OF YEAR 252,572 229,253
Add: restricted bank balance (note 24) o ZERIBITE R (H5E24) 7,026 33,737
TOTAL CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND  $R{TREF B &M% (M 24)

(NOTE 24) 259,598 262,990
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability. The address of its registered office is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is 17th and 18th Floors, Cang
Hai Industry Building, No. 3388 Cang Hai Road, Yinzhou
District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, China. The
Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, as at 31 December 2023,
Mr. Peng Daosheng, Ms. Wang Sufen, Mr. Peng Yonghui
and Mr. Peng Tianbin (the “Peng Family”) are the ultimate
controlling parties (the “Controlling Shareholders”) of the
Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRS
Accounting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”).
IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting Standards
(“IAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622).

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

| nugli..m-

e P RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

ead

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(a)

Application of new and revised IFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs issued by IASB for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

3.

BRANE AT R S RT B BR B SR 5 22

(a)

P& PR 7 5T R A4S BT B BR B 3 3R 5 2 B

AEERREEAMBHRERBEER
FERMABR e R TR BEMAONA
TEEREMBREENZER  ZFE
AIR-F_=F—A—HxZE&mRA
H 6 [ ) 0 ) AR 2K

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts BB B 7S 3R REEE 4
ZEBIZE 5%
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting B = gEl] FEEFTHER
Estimates %87»72{'25 ]
Amendments to Deferred Tax Related to B2 %A HE -QSEE
IAS 12 Assets and Liabilities F125% 2 1EFT MEENEE
Arising from a Single HERRIE AER 18
Transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform — @ s 2 ) BREREE
IAS 12 Pillar Two Model Rules %12%2{? i — xXEZR
Bl 5 2N
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting RaitEAE SHBRIER
and IFRS Practice Policies 155 N B R B
Statement 2 BmEEAE
ﬁ%/\:l:*’“zﬁ
ZAEET

The application of the new and amendments to
IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) Revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to standards that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

PR A0 HT R R A4S BT B R B 1S 3R 5 2R R
(&)

=

(b) ESRMEN RN E B S R
BB 3T A

AREBERIERER T 52 BM1E K
AR BIFR B 5 R EAMERT AR

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

SEI-R IS

HZRER
Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2024
Non-current
SREFEEIRET — BEESEARBDXIERY —T-WE—-—H—H
Amendments to IAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
BFR s ERIFE 1R 2 7] — S RmNERDERE —T_WMFE—-H—H
Amendments to IFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BRI B mEERF 16K 2 EF] — ERALRSTNHEERRE —T-_E—-—H—H
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
R ERET R KBRS REENETR BT — HEERELTH —T_WMFE—-H—H

Amendments to IAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability

1 January 2025

BIR e ERIZE 2158 2185 — BRI KRt —E-hAF—H—H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined by
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture the IASB

BIER B 5 ¥R R ERIF 105% MBI @5 £ RIF 28R 2 1B8F] — REFRHEBER #% i B g 5t & A

ARG ELXRNEELENTE

BEEERTE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B ISR R MY (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b) Revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

The Directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the above amendments to IFRSs
will not have material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgements or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the Group’s returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right
is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve
relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between the non-controlling shareholders
and owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.

EXREFBEEE (B)

(a) Consolidation (Continued) (a) #&HRAE (&)
Profit or loss and each component of other A ek B R A 2 E S S IR E
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners BT AR AR A RIEERRER -
of the Company and to the non-controlling BfF e EHOE I RS A IR E
shareholders even if this results in the 2t o
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(b) Separate financial statements (b) EBMBE®HE
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In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investments. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

()

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or
joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the Group’s
intention and financial ability to exercise or convert
that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity
method and is initially recognised at cost.
|dentifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in
an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with 1AS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

i i \-&-{
| .ﬂgli..m-

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

4. EXEFHREER ()

()

g

*
EEESAREHEAEATZEN
i EARENBRERNYK

K& BRRERER A 2 EREm IF 2
B RESE - R EMERES
ZEEREEEARRE R TTERA
HRBNBERZENFERZE/R
AEAERBBELEEARERTUE
B HFE—RHEERERBLEAXN
FER  TEERAKETERLE
ZEBRFBEN

&
U5

‘Hﬂfﬂ} i‘?ﬁ
Fuia)

5% CENRETNRAEESNE

A MBEIMRIIM - WIRAAIEL
%)J%/FEEE?S\ o FT YRS = 1 F A AT 3B R
BENMBBENZRERKEEBNAF
Bt E o HREXABHANEEED
BMECENARAIEERBENRF
FE - MEBEUBEIER  XIAR
BMEREEN - MK E D A 35
BELRBEOHRAFFESRKEBEK
A HIBEREZERNEABmAER -

AEEFERTEEEBRRANE

LhEMEmABEHIRRE - TR
EAREEERE  AKRENZIKRE
B(BEAER)FRE-—BEEREER

SEFEAFITH(EERE) - BB
REAKECSHE(EREEEQAFE

SRR 2 = ) BB T E A
ABERE o TR A B ERBEL
THERBREREE —BOMNE
MEE  BREEE- ﬁﬁ?&&%ﬁ’]‘f
WEleREEM - AIRIEEER S £
55 36 5% T 7 E%WEEETEE’J%&@°

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &% 141

AT Fi




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its
share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(@)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency on initial
recognition using the exchange rates
prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the entity initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EASHXEE (H)
(CONTINUED)
(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) YME -BERRE

Property, plant and equipment, including land and
building, held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as ‘“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interests
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (e)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost
less their residual values over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Land and building

T R AEF THE 254 - e
Leasehold improvement 3 years
& 34

Plant and machinery 5-10 years
iP5 Ko i 25 5-10%F
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 5-10 years
WMARE  KARKE 5-104F
Motor vehicles 5 years
RE 54

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,

at the end of each reporting period, with the effect

of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

()

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s), the
Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Leases (Continued)

()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to
be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement
of the lease liability. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised
cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate,
the Group:

— where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

— uses a build-up approach that starts with
a risk-free interest rate adjusted for
credit risk for leases held by the Group,
which does not have recent third-party
financing; and

— makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g. term, country, currency and
security.

4. EXEFHREER ()

f H=EGE

()

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &

FEEERABEA ()

HEMEERTELN RIBH
HEREREENNRENE
ENROBREN TR WL
RSN SR (0% R &
ZFEHEE) EREREERR
MEBEIR - RIBAEH R LR
HEEXANEEN KRB ERE
HEHERBENES - VI
Rk HEABEREHKAG
B MERXAERERNE

SKEHE o

AEHERBRY RIS
REEHNEN A EHEN
R BMERNREELEN S
HM R B o

REFIREBRME - AEH

—  ERBERIBERT - LAfER!
AEEABIBRENE=T7
BESER - MATELA
R B KEIE=T7RE A
KEpE R Z1E

— RERENE UREE
ERANEENERRR
B ER R XKL -
ZHERMRBFE=T78
&M

—  HHHEEETHE  fim

HIR -Bx EBME
%O

147




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Leases (Continued)

()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through
recent financing or market data) which has a
similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability plus any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, and any
initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Leases (Continued)

()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is
a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 “Leases”. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient not to assess whether the
rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative lease payments in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that
triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(9)

Intangible assets

The Group’s intangible assets include separately

acquired construction

licenses, copyrights and

concession rights.

()

(ii)

Construction licenses

Construction licenses are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 25 years.

Copyrights
Copyrights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment

losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 10 years.

150 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED BEZERERAT

4. EXREFBERER ()

BVEE

AEEEVEERREBREMNEE
AR RRERFRFE LR -

(9)

() BEFITF
PSR T N B AR B AT
SHABEEEYT - BHENE
BEIRTERTE R 25F5TH ©

I

AR A T B AN R0 R 5T 85 AR
BERIIR - BHNERAREZ
BEHERFRI0FE -

(ii)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(iii) Concession rights

The Group engages in a service concession
arrangement in which the Group carries out
construction work for the granting authority
and receives in exchange a right to operate
the assets concerned in accordance with the
pre-established conditions set by the granting
authority. The assets under the concession
arrangements may be classified as intangible

assets or receivables from the granting
authority according to their arrangement
nature.

If the Group receives a right to charge users
of public service, with an undeterminable
amount, the assets are classified as intangible
assets and the Group recognises revenue at
the same time in the “concession rights” under
intangible assets included in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Once the
underlying infrastructure of the concession
arrangements has been completed, the
concession rights will be amortised on a
straight-line basis over the term of concession
of 10 years granted by the granting authority.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-

in,

first-out basis.

Net realisable value is the

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

4. EXEFHREER ()

(9)

(h)

BVEE (&

(iii)

wH

AEEZ2EBHEERT X
BE- RBELEOEGRME A%
B R% e B RIE R AREUE
LHBEEENEN - RIEZH
HE  FRERENEER
UAnBERENEERERBWE
BITHIE -

MEAEBEFH B A KRB E
RERBRATAIHEEERNZE
M EREEBEIBANF
B ZEEENBERENEE
I AR B BN R IR S &
MEETHHFAEERE] &
AT AR RIBEKIL -
KRB E+ERHFHRNERE
OB EREET -

FERKANA BB FERHOREE
IR o BCAER AR S 5T IR R RERE o
AERFEREREEBEFNMGE
EEMEETHEMBAMGEARA -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &

151




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
et e =B = N

| ]

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

()

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitted to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(z) to
the consolidated financial statements and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Concession right

As mentioned in note 4(g)(iii), the assets under the
concession arrangements may be classified as
intangible assets or receivables from the granting
authority according to their arrangement nature. The
Group recognises revenue and a contract asset or a
financial asset to the extent that it has an
unconditional contractual right to receive a specified
or determinable amount of cash or another financial
asset from the granting authority, or to receive the
shortfall, if any, between amounts received from
users of the public service and specified or
determinable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

)]

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the
Group as a construction contract when the contract
relates to work on real estate assets under the
control of the customer and therefore the Group’s
construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the
cost-to-cost method, i.e. based on the proportion of
the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs. The directors consider that this input
method is an appropriate measure of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations under IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers”.

The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers
for construction work based on achieving a series of
performance-related milestones. When a particular
milestone is reached the customer is sent a relevant
statement of work signed by a third party assessor
and an invoice for the related milestone payment.
The Group will previously have recognised a
contract asset for any work performed. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade and bills receivables at the
point at which it is invoiced to the customer. If the
milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognised
to date under the cost-to-cost method then the
Group recognises a contract liability for the
difference.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EX€iHBXEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(j) Construction contracts (Continued) () EEESHE)
Where the contract contains a financing component WENBEEMARTD  BAREFR
which provides a significant financing benefit to the HEABMENSBRI12MEA - Al

customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income is
accrued separately under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not
adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less. A significant
financing component in construction contracts with
customers is recognised if the period between the
recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost
method and the milestone payment is more than one
year.

BRUBREPETZENBRERFMR
BR B3R K BEIR 2 EMGRIRRERTE
A S WA R RERF REBL R
At AREERA T BIRM SR E £
SN T =BRENAITRE A
AN ZE - INREE AR HFR
T-@EA  THERETFNEASE
MRER Y Z AR E o IR AL B
RRER HQJ\WEEEWTMZF%’]%F?
ZEBB—F  MERTFEEER
Hﬁquﬂékﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁka‘ﬁ °

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual ERZEMETR - 85t RASER
bonuses for early completion or suffering contractual IRRITEAK &S & K52 E) Sk R T
penalties for late completion are taken into account DAIES SN Ok S0 N A e i

in making these estimates, such that revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are
expected to be recovered.

W g Rt e S B AAR BEHIR
ERBEINERL TS SR -

BEEESHNNERBERAEE
AR A EREATRRATRENEEE
BHRARBR -

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are i P AT R M1 TR & 40 8O A A fil 511
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the BRAGHNRENBRTSE - ASHER
consideration under the contract, then a provision is B o

recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EXEFBXEEER (&)
(CONTINUED)

()  Financial assets () =®EE

All regular way purchases or sales of financial FrEEATRARNEENEREEE
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade RHABRARKILER - BHEER
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are HEBECREERTREMBNRE
purchases or sales of financial assets that require HEAEERRRARM - TECHE
delivery of assets within the time frame established RS MEEE %2R HK AL
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All AFEEFeMmEES EHmE) T
recognised financial assets are measured £ o

subsequently in their entirety at either amortised
cost or fair value, depending on the classification of
the financial assets.

Debt investments EERE
Debt investments held by the Group are classified at TEEFENEBRE SR AREHE
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the R E - WIFERENRERRE
collection of contractual cash flows which represent WReRE  BARAEESEIES KA
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest BRI - REFSBALRBERF S
income from the investment is calculated using the EEE -

effective interest method.

(m) Trade and other receivables (m) EZRHEMERKIE
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an EARLE R EETENEFRER
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right BREWER - EEREXITAMS
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the BB BRI HA RS - BERREMNETR
passage of time is required before payment of that GG o EREEA BT
consideration is due. If revenue has been BERENEN 2B ERYE - A
recognised before the Group has an unconditional ZEBERIEREHNEETR -

right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Trade and bills receivables are recognised initially at B 5 & W AR R B I SR R A 1) DA R 4
the amount of consideration that is unconditional HHHESEER  RIFEMES
unless they contain significant financing ZHRMEKD  EEPIAAREEBERE
components, when they are recognised at fair value. REF o NREEIFE E 5 IR KA FE
The Group holds the trade and bills receivables with WEE - BMEREIRERESR
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows ILEERERERMNSERETRIER
and therefore measures them subsequently at BREER - AESRKAGTE -

amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for ECL.

156 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED BEZERERA T




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4.
(CONTINUED)

(p) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

(q) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

(r) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(s)

Revenue and other income
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Construction contracts and maintenance service

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised
in accordance with the policy set out in note 4(j)
above.

Revenue from maintenance services is recognised
over the period that the service is rendered.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided
by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of the specified good
or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

4.

EXREFBEEE (B)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued) (s) WamKkEMEA E)
Other income HgA
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using B AR E £ R R B R A X1
the effective interest method. For financial assets R MIBBHEX AT ABLE LR G
measured at amortised cost that are not ERENCREENS @ BEMNXRE
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied HAREEMNEREERE -HEBEEE
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit BENSHEEMS - BEMNXAE
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate AR E E R HAK A (BN B a5
is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying BEHERBmRE) -
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

() Research and development expenditure () WMERBAEREX

160 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(u)

(@)

(i)

(i)

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and
long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to
profit or loss represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of the dates when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits,
and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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(u)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B ISR R MY (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. BEXEFHRER (F)
(CONTINUED)
(v) Borrowing costs (v) fEFRKZE

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset.
The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of
the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of
the Group that are outstanding during the period,
other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific
borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(w)

(x)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to it and that the grant
will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period to
match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
et e =B = N

| ]

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B ISR R MY (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit.
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount
rates that reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
trade and other receivables and contract assets.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
and bills receivables and contract assets. The ECL
on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date, including time value of money where
appropriate. For trade and bills receivables and
contract assets that contain a significant financing
component, the Group recognises ECL by the
general approach.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
g mEn e = s = B == [glIlE s

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EX€iHBXEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(z) Impairment of financial assets and contracts (z) SREERSHNEERME(E)
assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk EE R EAEEm
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial A —EeRIANGEERRBRES

instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

BAERBEE LR AEELES
BT ARSRE BB EEONERE
TR T AR B RHER B HZREEON
Rk o (EHFHER - AREEEES
IE&TQC‘EE’JE%&%'\EEH BB

EEBREERNLBZRAKE N

AISRRTIE LA R - FTE B AV ATIE 1T
ﬁ*ﬁ@%ﬁ%ﬂiéﬂ“mﬁ/fwﬁzi - R
DHTED - BRATHEAE - FEREES B R B At
BUEBNAEEERSALERET
FEOARRAR - AREREEBZLE
BHEANERMIEILEERNER
SMNEB 2R o

— ERTENIBEE)XAEE
SRR ERSEREEE

—  significant deterioration in external market — BETeMIAmMS  FEME
indicators of credit risk for a particular REVINE ISR E R

financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

()

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default;

(i)  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; or

(iiiy adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B ISR R MY (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

()

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

()

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, including when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
and bills receivables. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4. EXEFBXEEER (&)
(CONTINUED)

(z) Impairment of financial assets and contracts (z) SREERSHNEERME(E)
assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL A EEEBRTTERER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the BHEEEENGTERENBE &
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the AEEXR (ABERNRFNEIBREE)
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the NEXRBREKE - BHBEKEL
exposure at default. The assessment of the BB T EMBIRAE £ SCArit gilE 1%
probability of default and loss given default is based BERABRNE L ERTN - MEamE
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking EMZENRRE O EEERRE R
information as described above. As for the exposure HMERBERR  ERBEBEELS
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by S TE Y IE 4D B TERHE R RIBELA) (F
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting AZEINERE - NEBEHEBARKRE
date, together with any additional amounts expected TE BB 7 SR E) B R DA Ko EL At AR A AT BE
to be drawn down in the future by default date MEE -

determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking

information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is NEREEMS BHEEEBER
estimated as the difference between all contractual BENENASERNMEGHNE SR
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance SEASEBHURNMERERE
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Z B EREMF - WIRVIRERFIE
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original AR o

effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a i AR BN EEREHRRUESERE
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime HEHNEESENSETE —EWE
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines TAMEIBEME - BRARE A HE
at the current reporting date that the conditions for EZTHEREEERNEGTBER
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures & AIREERAHRE B BEESEN
the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month 128 A BB EEBEN S E =58
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets BE  ERABLE A AT ENEER
for which simplified approach was used. 4 o

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in AEERBERERMESR T AR
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a BERREE - HERERRERY
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount HEEEEELEERAE -

through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(aa)

(ab)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position at
the end of the reporting period or those that
indicate the going concern assumption is not
appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

4. EXEFHREER ()

(aa)

(ab)

BRERIREE

HARERBESEMHE LRBEEK
HEE B EAYE M A] BE 5 2 DA M a2
MEHEERE  ReE(EH A EMAE
B RAgRTRERBNSENAE
REE - WEBNEBEERA
Al EeNRBETEEMBE XN
BEYH - BREERENRREE
REERHIZHEEREEEMAE
FrERBR SR TAI B R o BRES
A HERS I IR B WHER R B
X e

i 7 B AR B M S Y AT REME TR
A B BERRE R SefhaT - RUBRIEIR
HERN s ] RE1EAR DR - BRIGREE
BEEAEBRBERAIAGE - ART
—REAZRAREMFEERET B
EFERENEEET  TERER
HARBME ¢ HEE R A R] BE I ARK R
YRR

BEMKRER

REEAASERRE RN NAOE
SNER S RFELENBRRTER
MBREPREBALSHBEER  LER
BHMBHmERPRIR - ERNALIFFHEBE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
g mEn e = s = B == [glIlE s

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgement that has the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(z), ECL are measured as an
allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset
moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not
define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk.
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has
significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a) Revenue and profit recognition

As explained in notes 4(i), revenue from
construction contracts are recognised over time.
Such revenue and profit recognition on uncompleted
projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done
to date.

Based on the Group’s recent experience and the
nature of the construction activities undertaken by
the Group, the Group has made estimates of the
point at which it considered the work was
sufficiently advanced such that the outcome of the
contract can be reasonably measured. Until this
point is reached the related contract assets
disclosed in note 23 do not include profit which the
Group might eventually realise from the work done
to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of
total cost or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

During the vyear, approximately RMB1.9 billion
(2022: RMB2.0 billion) of revenue from construction
contracts was recognised.

5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. BRAEREEMT (&)

(CONTINUED)
A THABE RN ERZRIR (F)
(b)) EZERFBEURESHEENRE

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables and contract

assets

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables and contract assets do not
contain significant financing component, at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, using a provision
matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. For trade
receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component, the Group
measures 12-month ECLs individually under the
general approach for those trade receivables and
contract assets which have no significant increase in
credit risk since the initial recognition. For those
balances which have significant increase in credit
risks since the initial recognition, lifetime ECLs are
provided.

The management of the Group estimates the amount
of impairment loss for ECL on trade and bills
receivables and contract assets based on the credit
risk of trade and bills receivables and contract
assets. The amount of the impairment loss based on
ECL model is measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are less
than expected, or being revised downward due to
changes in facts and circumstances, a material
impairment loss may arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets (Continued)

Due to continuous financial uncertainty triggered by
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has increased
the expected loss rates in the current year as there
is higher risk that a prolonged stagflation could lead
to increased credit default rates and lower
recoverability of the trade debtors. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets are disclosed in note 6(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
trade receivables and contract assets is
RMB225,436,000 and RMB1,175,371,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of RMB75,702,000 and
RMB32,844,000) (2022: RMB246,395,000 and
RMB1,107,154,000 (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of RMB79,291,000 and RMB19,870,000))
respectively.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

BAGEY R = E MG ()
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMHEEBRER(H)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (a) IMERBE(E)

The table below summaries the changes in the TREMASBABT ([Ex]) k3
Group'’s consolidated profit after tax and total equity TC ([ETT ) HNEFE =& B A] ge B B
in response to reasonably possible changes in the EH AR EBARE Tl mf Rk
foreign exchange rate of Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) HEE)  2ERPREHRNBTRE
and United States dollar (“US$”), referred from the TCIE R - ANE B RE B R A&
trend in foreign exchange rate of HK$ and US$ in ZERIINERR  TEHEMEHRE
the corresponding reporting period, to which the Eo

Group has significant exposure to the foreign
currency risk at the end of the reporting period, with
all other variables constant.

Positive or
negative
effect on

Hypothetical consolidated
movement  profit after tax
in foreign and total

exchange rate equity

EFEHREE

HBBEH

SNEE EHY A AR =
R BB MENTE
% RMB’'000
% ARBT T
At 31 December 2023 R=FB=-=F+=A=+—H
— HK$ — BT 5 31
— US$ — XL 5 1
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZF+ZA=+—"H
— HK$ — BT 5 148
— US$ — XL 5 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade and bills receivables and
contract assets) and from its financing activities,
including deposits with banks and financial
institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other
financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned
by international credit-rating agencies, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade and bills receivables and contract assets

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group’s established policy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The Group’s trading terms
with its customers are mainly based on the contract
terms. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and
bills receivables and contract assets, at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. For trade receivables and contract
assets that contain a significant financing
component, the Group measures 12-month ECLs
under the general approach. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on
past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.
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RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMHEEBRER(H)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRE)
Trade and bills receivables and contract assets ESEBEKNEREREZAREH
(Continued) BHE (&)
The following table provides information about the TREEAEEN _ZE-_=4+—A
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade =+—HERZEZEWHRIBEREKE
and bills receivables and contract assets as at BREHNEERENEERR NTEH
31 December 2023: FEEEENEBER :

2023
o=

— ==

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance
AHEEE IRE#AE EiERE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR¥T T AR¥T R

Trade and bills receivables: ZZEWFER

BHRE:
0-90 days past due 0ZE 90K 1 2.12 89,140 (1,890)
91-180 days past due 91E 180K i 5.38 5,170 (278)
181-365 days past due 1812 365K 181 Hf 3.29 42,840 (1,410)
Over 1 year but less than 15 A BB D25 Al
2 years past due 44.94 43,208 (19,419)
Over 2 years but less than 2F A EBDRIF A
3 years past due 45.14 58,743 (26,517)
Over 3 years past due 3 LA F i 43.77 65,823 (28,812)
304,924 (78,326)
Contract assets: BREE:
0-90 days past due 02 90K %81 5 2.72 1,208,215 (32,844)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

(b)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMEKEBRER (E)
Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEERK(E)
Trade and bills receivables and contract assets ESERZEARENREZAREH
(Continued) HE (&)
2022
—T-_F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHIBEX REAE BiEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETT ARETTT
Trade and bills receivables: ZZERFRER
S
0-90 days past due 0ZF 90K 7 Hf 2.64 103,126 (2,719)
91-180 days past due 91Z= 180K %1 4 7.25 10,189 (739)
181-365 days past due 1812365k 71 11.48 53,810 (6,178)
Over 1 year but less than 1F A EEDR2FmE
2 years past due 43.46 90,409 (39,293)
Over 2 years but less than 2F A ERDRIF A
3 years past due 43.28 19,617 (8,490)
Over 3 years past due 3FELA i 40.47 55,621 (22,511)
332,772 (79,930)
Contract assets: EREE:
0-90 days past due 02 90K i £f 1.76 1,127,024 (19,870)
For the calculation of loss allowances using FRBEBEBTEEEREG  BHEB
provision matrix, expected loss rates are based on BEDRBATIF(ZT=_F : 4
actual loss experience over the past 4 years (2022: FINERBELRSH ZFH X
4 vyears). These rates are adjusted to reflect SEHABRARMEBERE L HEN
differences between economic conditions during the B REEMRN - BRI R A EE
period over which the historic data has been S5 JRE LA R TR T H A T 0 4 B AR S B R
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view B ER o
of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMBEEREBRER (&)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEERK(E)
Trade and bills receivables and contract assets BESEUNZEREREZEUREH
(Continued) BE (&)
The following table provides information about the TERRERETHE-_ZE-_NF-_A=+
subsequent settlement as at 29 February 2024 on NBEREBEE=_S_=F+=_A=+
trade and bills receivables as at 31 December —HME ZEWGIEREREENER
2023: BHEEEM -
Gross carrying Subsequent
amount as at settlement as at
31 December 29 February
2023 2024
R==T== BZE-—E_ME
+=A=+—H —H—'I'J‘LEI
RESHERE 2 Hi & K
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® T AR®T T
Trade and bills receivables: ESRKRREREBEREE:
0-90 days past due 0ZE 90K %1 3 89,140 65,294
91-180 days past due 912 180K #1 Hf 5,170 5,170
181-365 days past due 1812 365K %1 Hf 42,840 17,740
Over 1 year but less than 1 LA BB D R2F %
2 years past due 43,208 9,272
Over 2 years but less than 2F A EB D A3F m HA
3 years past due 58,743 15,661
Over 3 years past due 3F LA _FwHA 65,823 1,950

304,924 115,087
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BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated balance
of trade and bills receivables past due over 1 year
mainly arises from projects of local governments or
state-owned enterprises of local governments in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) involving
lengthy bureaucratic payment approval processes,
which were further deteriorated by the impacts from
Covid-19 pandemic over the past few years.
However, the credit-rating of these entities are
assessed to be with low credit risk by the Group as
these are mostly located in cities where are
economically affluent. In addition, no significant
credit concentration is identified given the individual
outstanding balance is not considered to be
significant.

To speed up the collection process, the Group has
been continuously communicating and negotiating
with responsible officers of local governments or top
management of state-owned enterprises of relevant
projects. In consideration of maintaining a good
relationship for long-term business development, the
Group would continue to commit its effort in the
communication flow to facilitate their payment
approval processes. Legal action would be taken as
the last resort by the Group if no significant
improvement on the collection process from these
entities is identified.

6.
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HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

| IETE :
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMHEEBRER(H)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRE)
Trade and bills receivables and contract assets ESERGEREREZZEUREH
(Continued) BE (&)
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect FRNEZREREFERERERARE
of trade and bills receivables and contract assets HNEEMBEREBREHOT

during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
SEme= e —

—_—=—= =T ==

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT

At 1 January Hn—H—H 99,800 67,497
Impairment losses recognised FREBWRMEERE

for the year 37,140 85,408
Reversals for the year EAIEIE (25,770) (53,105)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 111,170 99,800
Other receivables H W H
All of the Group’s other receivables are considered Kﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁf&ﬁﬁuﬁﬁlﬁiﬂ?&ﬁ%ﬂ
to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance BREERR - Bt - FRERNE
recognised during the year was therefore limited to Té!ﬁéﬁ@lﬁﬁ“ﬂﬂ RTEERESIE o B
12-month expected losses. These other receivables 7% B A R R IE A B K E L AR
are considered to be low credit risk when they have BT ABREE NERHRNETE
a low of default and the issuer has a strong EHREREARERAERBREE
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow [B. Bz o

obligations in the near term.

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect FREAMERFIENBERERES
of other receivables during the year are as follows: R

2023 2022
—E=-= =ER==GE

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T

At 1 January Hw—A—H 2,865 2,675
Impairment losses recognised FABHERBEERE

for the year 18,334 2,025
Reversals for the year F A B £ (2,779) (1,835)
At 31 December RT=A=F=E 18,420 2,865
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

6. HBERERE(H)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) #"BELERRK
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current AEEMBOR AT HERRK RTEH
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it B ESHmEE - AERAEAERE N
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its ENEHEREARDESTENIR
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. DREE -
The maturity analysis based on contractual ERNAEBFETESRBENEGRR
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s BRIRIRS MM EIEAD TR -
non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows:
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and 5 Over Carrying
1 year years years 5 years Total amount
DIE 15226 2FE5E BiB5%E At SERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT AR%T:R
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=f+=-A=t+-H
Trade and bills payables B RMNTERERNRE 219,162 77,132 110,330 - 406,624 406,624
Accruals and other payables FERHE A R E A 3R 41,051 — — - 41,051 41,051
Lease liabilities HEAMR 382 382 206 - 970 841
Bank loans FITER 591,011 26,547 72,761 18,958 709,277 675,702
851,606 104,061 183,207 18,958 1,157,922 1,124,218
At 31 December 2022 RZZT-=F+-A=+—-H
Trade and bills payables BoRNFERERER 359,898 — — — 359,898 359,898
Accruals and other payables FEET 2 B R th & (4 3R 50,756 = = = 50,756 50,756
Bank loans BITER 581,191 25,781 73,575 24,317 704,864 660,002
991,845 25,781 73,575 24317 1115518 1,076,656
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 6. HMHEEBRER(H)

(d) Interest rate risk (d) R=R
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises AEEEEG KRB RITHERRIBITERK
from its bank deposits and bank borrowings. These WA EEE - ZEFRLEREEE
deposits and borrowings bear interests at variable BB TR Z BN AR AT B o
rates varied with the then prevailing market
condition.

Consolidated profit after tax
for the year (lower)/higher
FEFRABEANEB(BRE) BS

2023 2022
=®2== —ZE=-=
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Interest rate F 2 AR®T T AR®ETTT
100 basis points 10018 2 (9,280) (2,831)
(100) basis points (100) & £ 2 9,280 2,831
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the net FlSRES N AREF LGS
impact on the Group’s consolidated profit after tax HRBIWA KRBT EEF(EFE - F
for the year that would have arisen assuming that EEB A R E AR EFNERERTE
there is an annualised impact on interest income wHEERELE o

and expense by a change in interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the yearended 31 December 2023
HE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(e)

Categories of financial instruments at
31 December

6.

MBEREE (K)
() R+T=—A=+-BANEMI AR5

2023 2022
T —m— —

S l— = ==

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Financial assets: TRMEE
Financial assets measured at R HKATENCREE
amortised cost 1,988,734 1,841,714
Financial liabilities: cEAsE:
Financial liabilities measured at RBHEKATENCRIBE
amortised cost 1,124,218 1,076,656

(f)  Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the
consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.

\Ad =

Bl |

) 2FE

rEESRHEERERABRGEY
i““ﬂkﬂi’%ﬁﬁ}iﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ-ﬁﬁ{ HEZAW
RFERE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &3 187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

7. REVENUE 7. WA
The Group’s revenue represents the revenue derives from AEBBRAEFANREEEEG O R EER
construction contracts and maintenance services over time 745 B e ] T 2R O B LA I 0 3K — I B i 328
and agency income at a point in time for the year. IR A ©
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) ZHFWA
Disaggregation of recognition of revenue from FARERRGERBAFFHESHES
contracts with customers by service line and timing BHWADIFWT ¢

of revenue for the year is as follows:

2023 2022
—s-= —E- 4

[ =

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT AR®BT T

Revenue from contracts with B R B 75 3R 5 ZE RISE155%
customers within the scope HERNEFEHWRA
of IFRS 15
Disaggregated by service line AR TS &R  IF
— Revenue from construction — BESHWE
contracts 1,846,230 1,991,887
— Revenue from maintenance — KEERBUA
services 29,570 19,248
— Agency income — REIA 3,643 7,213
1,879,443 2,018,348
Timing of revenue recognition W e B BE B
Services transferred over time WA F T B A 1Y AR TS 1,875,800 2,011,135
Services transferred at a point in time % — R 2585 8 IR 15 3,643 7,213
1,879,443 2,018,348
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
s med e ea e B S o — (5] [l 42

7. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 7. WA (&)
(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (b) PEEZFEHNBABTEBHNEEN
performance obligation for contracts with X5E
customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining RZE-=R-ZT-_—_F+-A=+
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially —B 9EERTEHNEE(RTX
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and HHDARTEN) R ZERTBHAER
the expected timing of recognising revenue are as WARBT :
follows:
Construction contracts Maintenance services
BEEN HEERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E=-= —E-C —E=-= —F-—
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT EUNERPA ARYTT N R

Within one year —FR 2,911,218 2,861,530 21,058 6,227

More than one year but —FE
not more than two years BORME 970,406 953,843 7,019 2,076
More than two years MF A E 970,406 953,843 7,019 2,076
4,852,030 4,769,216 35,096 10,379
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

W 1 |
fiy - A
8. OTHER INCOME, AND GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HhliA RUKBZKRER
2023 2022
—ZE_= g T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARKETTT
Interest income on bank deposits IR171F A B U A 1,699 1,951
Interest income arising from contract revenue & %W z5F B U A

(note (a)) (H1i#(a)) 13,418 25,446
Total interest income F B WA 4258 15,117 27,397
Bad debt recovery ZER I E 545 1,079
Compensation income EEE WA 104 —
Gain on partial disposal of a subsidiary £ 5 B0 BT B8 X R) IR A B

subsequently as an associate (note 32(c))  EEME (Ki£32(c)) — 27
Government incentives and awards RT3 & 52 B (A7 2 (b))

(note (b)) 2,509 1,639
Exchange gain b 5 e 116 910
Loss on disposals of property, LEME - BELREESR

plant and equipment (235) (6,436)
Others HAth 637 2,289

18,793 26,905

Note:

(a) Interest income arises from contracts with customers which
provide the customers with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of construction services to the
customers. The promised amounts of consideration for
construction services are adjusted using the discount rates
that reflect the credit characteristics of the customers.

(b)  Government incentives and awards mainly related to the
incentives and awards received from the municipal
government authority of the PRC for the achievement of the
Group and Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Government of Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE B ISR R MY & (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

AT Fi

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. oEEHR
The Group has four operating segments as follows: ANEE[E G DA T U fE A4S & &
Landscape construction — Variety of municipal and private landscaping projects such as

planting of trees, modifying the layout of land, carrying out
foundation work for landscape construction, building and
construction of parks, etc.

B MR ER — BERMBRLABEMNELS  flAREGR SR timiRE - ETE
MEROWETRR  BERERREF -

Municipal works construction — Mainly municipal or local government works such as municipal
road construction, water and lighting works, etc.

MR TIRZER — FERMBEMABNLIE  flmmBRERER  KERBEALRR
% o

Building works — Construction of gas stations, auto repair shops, office building
and temporary warehouse, etc.

BETR — BEREEERBEFTES-

Others — Maintenance, heritage restoration services and undertaking
renovation works and agency income for trading of materials.

Hit — RERGBEGCERBURAZERETIREIMBNBESRIBKA -

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business REBMA 2R/ D S REREDFEER KR

units that offer different products and services. They are EHRBEREN  MARNBEEESE

managed separately because each business requires DRI R &R - NEBEITER o

different technologies and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are B E D BB HY S R IR BB 4 Tl 35 AR
the same as those described in note 4. [ °

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent DEBWANFESXNEBEEGEEREME
with that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss ek — B o

and other comprehensive income.

The directors assess the performance of the operating i%ﬂ?‘dfﬁ"*ﬁ%iﬁE’J?r%%ﬁ%%’n%
segments based on a measure of segment results. RRIR - DPEETBERDEMA - KD
Unallocated income, unallocated corporate expenses, NG @ﬁ%}ﬂiﬁ ISR RBR
finance costs, income tax expense and other major items BN EEENEMEEIER -

that are isolated and non-recurring in nature are not

included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and DHEEFERIERE UKD EKTHEE
non-current assets as disclosed in the consolidated WnEBEERIEREEE  ERDEIRT
statement of financial position except unallocated bank R RN REMARDBEEERIN o
and cash balances and other unallocated assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

l |
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. oWER (&)
Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities as DHBEEETEBRELRE MR R E
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial MRBaE EANPHEaE B &
position except current tax liabilities, borrowings, trade 5 Ko F A FE S B8 DA R H AR BR D o
and other payables and others.
(i) Information about operating segment profit or (i) BAELEIHER BEERBEBENE
loss, assets and liabilities: e
Municipal
Landscape works Building
construction  construction works Others Total
EAER THIRER BEIR Hith A&t
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR AR®TR
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-2-=%
+=A=t+-HLEFE
External revenue SNEBIA 187,077 691,265 942,411 58,690 1,879,443
Segment results PEEE 18,159 67,984 41,523 13,740 141,406
Additions to segment non-current assets DEIEREEELM — 7,279 — 1,661 8,940
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f
+=BA=+-H
Segment assets PHEE 306,547 527,920 559,128 8,374 1,401,969
Segment liabilities PHEE (16,809) (9,278) (40,639) U] (66,733)
Municipal
Landscape works Building
construction construction works Others Total
BMER THRIBER BEIR Hity A&t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARETT ARETR  ARETR
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE2-F-—-%
+-A=t-ALEE
External revenue LIS:1ON 406,734 797,275 775,128 39,211 2,018,348
Segment results DEELE 29,154 78,554 23,966 7,894 139,568
Additions to segment non-current assets DEIEREEELM — 7,056 — 745 7,801
At 31 December 2022 RZZZ=F
+=A=+-A
Segment assets PHEE 375,193 564,253 410,378 11,525 1,361,349
Segment liabilities AR (30,849) (17,367) (52,514) (1) (100,731)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 .
BE-E-ZFT-AZTALFE Zogipe

! = o EllE o
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. AHTER(E) :1
(ii) Reconciliation of operating segment revenue and (i) KEI>BUARBEZNWEER:

profit or loss:

2023 2022
—=E_= —=E-=
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETTT
Revenue WA
Total revenue of reportable segments 7] 2 {5 ZPUL A 4B 58 1,880,706 2,018,348
Elimination of intersegment revenue 7 B U A T 85 (1,263) =
Consolidated revenue AW 1,879,443 2,018,348
Profit and loss B
Total profits of reportable segments A 235 E0m T 4258 141,406 139,568
Unallocated amounts: KOS
Interest income F B U A 15,117 27,397
Government incentives and awards AT 55 B K 22 ) 2,509 1,639
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BB RERETE
equipment (1,147) (2,169)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FAEEENE (142) —
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH (1,364) (1,972)
Finance costs B T B AR (27,937) (23,760)
Operating lease payments LEEEE ST (1,188) (1,192)
Net exchange gain P& 5 I a5 358 42 439
Staff costs BT A (32,483) (34,643)
Research and development e
expenditure (376) (1,447)
Gain on partial disposal of a HEHHHE AR A
subsidiary subsequently as an B 12 (B a1 32(c))
associate (note 32(c)) — 27
Loss on disposals of property, HEME - BEREHE
plant and equipment &8 (235) (6,436)
Impairment loss on trade and H 5 K H fth lE YIE K
other receivables and ABHNEERBEEEFE
contracts assets, net (26,925) (32,493)
Others H (23,484) (18,000)
Consolidated profit before tax 4R A BRELR @ A 43,793 46,958
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RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

= 2 S ! |
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. ZAWER (EA)
(iii) Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities (iiiy »HEEREBBNWHE

2023 2022
SEme= —m— —

= — = ==

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBT T

Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AIERoEEERE 1,401,969 1,361,349
Bank and cash balances IR1T MR € 4R 416,098 332,906
Prepayments and other receivables TE FRI8 K Bt fE W SR IE 389,795 486,721
Intangible assets B AE 73,720 67,805
Investments in associates B b3 2R 29,917 25,181
Others Hth 14,484 14,630
Consolidated total assets IREEEETE 2,325,983 2,288,592
Liabilities =R
Total liabilities of reportable segments A 23 H & EEZE 66,733 100,731
Trade and bills payables B S RN RIBERENER 406,624 359,898
Accruals and other payables FEET B & E b FE S 3R 64,014 85,110
Lease liabilities HEESE 841 —
Borrowings (EE 675,702 666,002
Current tax liabilities EVHARIE & 1E 135,012 129,977
Consolidated total liabilities e BEESE 1,348,926 1,341,718
(iv) Geographical information (iv) #EEFR
Based on the locations of the customers, all the RIBREEM - TERAHREF
revenues are earned in the PRC. FEHE o
The information about the Group’s non-current AEEERSEEMTHDMHIUT :

assets by location of assets is detailed below:

2023 2022
—E_= ===

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETT

Hong Kong BB 1,089 309
PRC except Hong Kong R (BFABBRIN 117,032 107,307
Consolidated total non-current assets  3ERENEE £ XD 118,121 107,616
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RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 s
BE-F-SFH-AS+ALFE Zamine
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. AWER (A) 1%@
(v) Revenue from major customers (v) EEEFHIKA:
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of BERAEE R ABI0%HNE P
the total revenue of the Group is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —=E-—
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT
Building work customer A BETIEEPA — 326,654
Building work customer B BETEEPB 314,993 —
314,993 326,654
Revenue from building works customer A and HEETERPAREETIERB
building works customer B contributed less than FIBRAD IR E—TS_=F K=
10% of the total revenue for the years ended 31 T —F+-_F=+—HItEELK
December 2023 and 2022 respectively. ADRR10% °
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BMEK X
2023 2022
—=E=-= ==
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ETR ARETT
Interest on bank borrowings IRITERF B 29,188 31,059
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAEBENESER
(note 20) (Ht7#20) 49 —
Total borrowing costs B AN 485 29,237 31,059
Amount capitalised Bt & & (1,300) (7,299)
27,937 23,760
The capitalisation rate on the bank loans borrowed is BITERFERNMEERR43% (2T

4.3% (2022: 5.5%) per annum.

5.5%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FBHiMAxX

2023 2022

—=EBE=-= I v
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® T ARKETTT

Current tax — PRC BVHARE B — &

Provision for the year FNEE 10,597 12,161
Under-provision in prior years NEFEERETR 3,013 1,698
13,610 13,859

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since
the Group has no assessable profit for the year (2022:
Nil).

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“PRC EIT”) has been
provided at a rate of 25% (2022: 25%).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company, HT/IEEBTXAERE QT
(Zhejiang Zhanhai Industrial Company Limited) (“Zhejiang
Zhanhai”), is qualified as a small and low-profit enterprise
in the PRC. Zhejiang Zhanhai is assessed the PRC EIT on
the following basis: if its annual taxable income is less
than RMB1,000,000, the applicable enterprise income tax
rate determined by the relevant authority is 5% (2022:
5%); if its annual taxable income is more than
RMB1,000,000 but less than RMB3,000,000, the
applicable enterprise income tax rate is 10% (2022:
10%).

One of the subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in
the PRC, Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited (#/T}&
BERAMR AR (“Chanhigh Construction”) obtained the
qualification of High and New Technology Enterprise with
a validation period of three years starting from 2023
(2022: three years starting from 2020). The applicable
income tax rate for Chanhigh Construction is 15% (2022:
15%) for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 .
BE-E-ZFT-AZTALFE Zogipe
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! - S —
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 1. FEHExX (E) "
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and Fr 15 %1 5 =2 B2 BR B A i ) 3 LA A B 1 2 P
the product of profit before tax multiplied by the PRC EIT SR EMSEENEEDT :
rate is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=& —EC-CF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR% Tt ARETTT
Profit before tax B ¢ A g A 43,793 46,958
Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% 1R25% KR B (b PTG X
(2022: 25%) FFEMIE
(Z2EZ=F :25%) 10,948 11,739
Tax effect of different tax rates TRABENMGZE (5,771) (5,684)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERMBANRE & (2,752) (2,654)
Tax effect of expenses that are Rk b
not deductible 8,172 8,760
Under-provision in prior years NEFEREBTR 3,013 1,698
Income tax expense PIT 157 B 2 13,610 13,859
As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of RZEBE_=F+-_A=+—H EfEA
temporary differences associated with undistributed RIADRENEBAEY ERAZELHRESR
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities EREREZHAEELN B ARE25474,000
have not been recognised is approximately T (ZZ =% : AR¥23,534,0007T)  #
RMB25,474,000 (2022: RMB23,534,000). No liability has BEABHMAEERERR  DEHRAEE
been recognised in respect of these differences because BEENZEHBOEREZBNNEERZEE
the Group is in a position to control the timing for TR RERAIgE T S ERED -
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in foreseeable
future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FRER

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging/ AEBERGFENR,(GFA) THIFIE :
(crediting) the following:

2023 2022

—E—-=

— = — —

—_—

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®ETT

Auditor’'s remuneration % SRR B & 1,220 1,265
Amortisation of intangible assets EEESE 1,364 1,972
Bad debts written off AR RR 2,003 —
Cost of services rendered Fe 4 AR 75 B AR AR 1,731,367 1,870,993
Cost of inventories consumed FEFERKAE 2,762 5,861
Depreciation of property, M WERERHTE
plant and equipment 1,147 2,169
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BEGCAENE 142 —
Loss on disposals of property, LEWE - WEREHERE
plant and equipment 235 6,436
Research and development expenditure eEF = 376 1,447
Net exchange gain PE 7 I & F 5 (42) (439)
Impairment loss on trade and other 25 BENHAMEKHRIE
receivables and contract assets, net MEHNEERERE -
R 26,925 32,493
Operating lease payments KEHE T 233,109 338,064
Cost of services rendered includes cost of inventories AKEE  RERBOKABEFEFERK
consumed, staff costs, depreciation of property, plant and AK-BIRA ERKEHERSE 5
equipment and operating lease payments of A& AR #2,762,000t (ZEZZ4F : A
approximately RMB2,762,000 (2022: RMB5,861,000), R #5,681,0007T) *+ AR #12 542 0007
RMB12,542,000 (2022: RMB9,677,000), RMB44,000 (2022: —ET-—4F: AR¥9677,000T) * AR
RMB282,000) and RMB231,921,000 (2022: 44,0007 (Z B = —4F : AR#282,000
RMB336,872,000), respectively, for the Year which are 7T) R AR¥231,921,000t (2 ==
included in the amounts disclosed separately. A R #336,872,0007T) 51 A T8 3L # 55 B 5K
HH o
13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 13. EEEAMEX
2023 2022
—E=-= g
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥®T T N T

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e AL R EBRL 37,303 36,797
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RARE F FH 8] 4 51 7,722 7,125
45,025 43,922
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans which are available for eligible
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, the Group has joined defined contribution
retirement schemes for the employees arranged by
local government labour and security authorities (the
“PRC Retirement Schemes”). The Group makes
contributions to the PRC Retirement Schemes at the
applicable rates based on the amounts stipulated
by the local government organisations. Upon
retirement, the local government labour and security
authorities are responsible for the payment of the
retirement benefits to the retired employees.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong).
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
the employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions
under the PRC Retirement Scheme and MPF
Scheme and which may be used by the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions. There
were also no forfeited contributions available at
31 December 2023 and 2022 under the PRC
Retirement Scheme and MPF Scheme which may be
used by the Group to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

13.

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

EEEFFEX (H)

(a)

BAhE — ERMANE

AREBTERESHAERARR
f R B FUR MR B AR K -

AEBEDEBRTPEARLMENEA
SERER - 2@ BN S BIRE
BB R B 2 e E B FUR NG 8
(THRERARETE)) - ARERER &
R RBHTBNASEEN SRR
hEBRRGH B R - B BRIKEZ -
TRFSBREBRFEERZERNKE
B X fPRIREH -

AEERFZECGR M RBESFENEF)
(BBENIF485F) - AE(EEER
IEBY(EBEDIESTE) BEEEHE RN
XEMEEERATMEAESTE
([afEestaEl]) - BB TEB TR
BERKRTE HBUITATHE -
BERELTE BEEREEBESH
REBEERANS%ATEER
B% A B BKAR LR AE30000%
=

HE_ZT-_=FK-_F-_—_F+-_H
=+—HIFE AEBRFBERENK
B KR TE ST EIT - WA QU
KAl AR BRRIR A HFOKFE - =
T —FRZEZZFF A=+
B AEBERFERAKGERAEES
FEIT - IER B RR A RREF R
BB AR B RN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

il o § 0.7 | |

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13. EERABAX (&)

(b) Five highest paid individual emoluments (b) EEESTFMALHE
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during AEERFANRAEZRSHHALTE
the year included one (2022: one) director and F—R(ZEZ=F: —R)EF A
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis SR FE14 2 5B DT R - 84
presented in note 14. The emoluments of the TOE(ZEZ 4 : M%) ATHB
remaining four (2022: four) individuals are set out SEINAT
below:

2023 2022
o= o —

—_—=—— =T ==

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®BT T

Basic salaries and allowances HAF & KRR 1,353 1,148
Retirement benefit scheme RRE A FT B
contributions 262 231
1,615 1,379
The emoluments fell within the following band: EEMeBRATEE :

Number of individuals
A"

2023 2022
o= = —

—_—=< —_—<

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,00078 7T 4 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

14.

The emoluments of each director are as follows:

EEEARER
(a) BESHHMEWMT :

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
RBARER
e HEREH WAL AR A&t
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR%T T AR¥TR AR%T T AR¥TR AR%T T
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E2-=%
TZA=t+-HLEFE
Executive directors HIESF
Peng DaoSheng Yk - - - - -
Peng Tianbin EZNi - - - - -
Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer) PoKE (THEH) - 323 - 93 416
Non-executive director FHTES
Wang Sufen E-9°N - 70 - — 70
Independent non-executive directors BUFHITES
Fan Rong B — 70 — - 70
Shi Weixing izci= - 70 - — 70
Yang Zhongkai B - 70 - - 70
- 603 - 93 696
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus  contributions Total
RINER
ik e R [l=pize BE 570 Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETT ARBTFT ARETT ARBTFT
Year ended 31 December 2022 HzE-Z-—fF
+ZA=+—-HLEE
Executive directors HTES
Peng DaoSheng Yk = = = = =
Peng Tianbin ERA = = = = =
Peng Yonghui (Chief Executive Officer) kB (1TREH) — 323 — 75 398
Non-executive director FHTES
Wang Sufen E-90N = 70 = = 70
Independent non-executive directors BUFRITES
Fan Rong SBE = 70 = = 70
Shi Weixing HEE = 70 = = 70
Yang Zhongkai sl — 70 — — 70
o 603 i 5] 678
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

had

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The emoluments of each director are as follows:
(Continued)

Note:

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. Mr. Peng
DaoSheng and Mr. Peng Tianbin waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Mr. Peng DaoSheng waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2022: Nil).

Director’s termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received any
termination benefits during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company did not pay considerations to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, bodies corporate
controlled by and entities connected with such
directors

As at 31 December 2023, there are no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of the directors,
their controlled bodies corporate and the directors’
connected entities (2022: Nil).
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14. EEEANRER (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

15.

16.

DIVIDEND 15. RE

The directors do not recommend the payment of any EETERREEE-_ZT_=F+=-A=
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022 +—HEFENERRE(ZE ==
Nil). z)e

EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. SRER

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per BRERNRESEHF THIRE T BIETE

share is based on the following:

2023 2022
—E-=E —E__F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Earnings B
Profit attributable to owners of the Company, FRETHERERBEF| &
used in the basic and diluted earnings BERAMN 2 ARIMESE
per share calculation JE {5 A1) 30,745 33,173
2022
s =
‘000
T A%
Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FRFE & REAREF| &
used in basic and diluted earnings EERMNNB BT R
per share calculation IEFEHHE 618,502 618,502
The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used RETEERAARBERFND SN LB
as denominators in calculating the basic and diluted BmEFEHHE - - R=Z2FT=_=F+=A8
earnings per share are the same. As at 31 December =+—B FXAREEEEEETER(Z
2023, the Company had no dilutive potential ordinary To—FF)o

shares (2022: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

L

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. 9% BERRE

Office
equipment,
Land and Leasehold Plant and furniture and Motor
building improvement  machinery fixtures vehicles Total
BRRE
THRETF % HEREE HKARKE RE Rt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT AR%Tz ARETT ARETT AR%T:R
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—%—f—H 13,387 4,782 16,332 3,448 12,268 50,217
Additions RE - . — 46 699 745
Reclassification from right-of-use assets mEREEEEN R (i)
(note 20) = = 1,608 = = 1,608
Partial disposal of a subsidiary subsequently BHHEHBARLN AL E
as an associate (note 32(c)) ¥ (H#32c) = (250) — (179) (123) (552)
Disposals HE — = (5,181) = (8,812) (13,993)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZ-—f+-A=t-BK
“F-=%-f—-H 13,387 4532 12,759 3,315 4,032 38,025
Additions NE - 371 - 38 330 739
Disposals & = = = = (1,004) (1,094)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=4+ZA=+-H 13,387 4,903 12,759 3,353 3,268 37,670
Accumulated depreciation RiHHE
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—f—H 1,103 3,883 13,373 2,725 2,008 23,092
Charge for the year FREHR 509 834 131 329 366 2,169
Partial disposal of a subsidiary subsequently as an A HEM BT LK A E
associate (nofe 32(c)) ¥ (W#32c)) = (223) — (92) (86) (401)
Disposals HE — — (1,272) — (193) (1,465)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBZ_#+-A=+-HR
—T-=%#-f-H 1,612 4,494 12,232 2,962 2,095 23,395
Charge for the year FRErE 509 62 1 166 409 1,147
Disposals HE = = = = (576) (576)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=4+ZA=+-H 2,121 4,556 12,233 3,128 1,928 23,966
Carrying amount ERAE
At 31 December 2023 RZZE=-=%+-A=1-H 11,266 347 526 225 1,340 13,704
At 31 December 2022 RZE-=%+-A=1+-H 11,775 38 521 353 1,937 14,630
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

[ I
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BILEE
Construction Concession
licenses Copyrights rights Total
BEFTE i KRR A&t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARBTT

Cost %3
At 1 January 2022 RZZBE-__F—A—H 109,726 150 32,286 142,162
Additions NE — = 7,056 7,056
Partial disposal of a subsidiary subsequently BALEMBRRYKAEE

as an associate (note 32(c)) % (B1232(c)) (76,000) = = (76,000)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 %*ﬁ - *¢+ —A=+-H

ZT=5-f-H 33,726 150 39,342 73,218

Additions ‘Z“\E — — 7,279 7,279
At 31 December 2023 —T-=#+-RA=+-H 33,726 150 46,621 80,497
Accumulated amortisation ESE
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-_—%—A—8 16,169 40 — 16,209
Amortisation for the year FRE#E 1,957 15 — 1,972
Partial disposal of a subsidiary subsequently as ~ #% HEH B AR L MK AL

an associate (note 32(c)) ¥ (H:i232(c) (12,768) — — (12,768)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 _§22¢+ A=+—-H

—Z-=F-f-H 5,358 55 = 5413

Amortisation for the year ﬁlﬂqiﬁiﬁ 1,349 15 — 1,364
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+ZA=+—H 6,707 70 - 6,777
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2023 RZZ_=#+-A=1—H 27,019 80 46,621 73,720
At 31 December 2022 R-ZF-—%+-RA=+—H 28,368 95 39,342 67,805
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

= 2 Md 1 |
18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. B EE (&)
The breakdowns of the net carrying amounts of BHE-_Z-=Gr-Z-__F+=-A=+
construction licences as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 —HANBERRFIREMSESEAT

are as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=HF —=ET-=

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

First-Grade General Contractor for Housing T2 T AEBZK

Construction Projects qualification 10,801 11,342
Second-Grade General Contractor NEETI2ME T RFABER K

for Highway Construction Projects KFKELRRETLFEE

qualification and Second-Grade General B

Contractor for Water Works and

Hydropower Projects qualification 10,652 11,196
Grade-A Professional Contractor for B = BRI IERFZETR

Landscape Construction Design Projects

qualification 5,566 5,830

27,019 28,368

The construction licenses and the copyrights are BEFAIERIREAESED BIIRHEET AT
amortised on straight-line basis over an estimated useful FAE BR25F R 10 B35 - BREEFT ] B R AR
life of 25 years and 10 years respectively. The average REFIAEEE D R B20FE (B —F : 21
remaining amortisation period of the construction licenses F)RSF(ZTZZF : 65) °

and copyrights are 20 years (2022: 21 years) and 5 years
(2022: 6 years) respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ

P I e =

18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The concession rights are related to a service concession
arrangement with Public and Private Partnership Project
Services Centre of Fuyang, Hangzhou (%11 = F5 & BFF
Mt & & AES1EHEE RIEHR L), in which the Group carries
out construction work for the granting authority and
receives, in exchange, a right to operate the assets
concerned in accordance with the pre-established
conditions set by the granting authority for a period of 10
years. As the Group receives a right to charge users of
public service, with an undeterminable amount, the assets
are classified as intangible assets. The carrying amount is
measured by the construction and other cost incurred by
the Group plus estimated profit margin. During the year,
RMB7,279,000 of construction cost (2022: RMB7,056,000)
was capitalised as concession rights. Once the
underlying infrastructure of the concession arrangements
has been completed, the concession rights will be
amortised on a straight-line basis over a 10-year period
of operation granted by the granting authority.

18.

BELEE (&)

FrF &2 R BN T & 5 & BF M
HEEARAIERB RBH L —BRERT
Rk - REBEBEOEGME  AEE/EES

EREBABRBIOFELBBEENE
A o R AR E TR A QKRS EAE K
RAAEEERNEN  ZFEENER

BREE BFRHEERASBEZEREANK
AN EFEFFEFETE - REA  BEKARA
R#7,279,000(ZE = —F : AR
7,056,0007T) B ANt BREFET & # - B 48
AR RELRENERER TR @ FiTL
ERBUNEREILER TR TH10FK
& B Y -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

1 |

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. RMIBARMKE
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 =R =B == iEAT
are as follows: R BIT :

Place of incorporation/ Particular of issued

Name establishment share capital Equity interests attributable to the Group Principal Activities
28 AR H BRTRAFE AREEARE TEEH
2023 2022
—E-= kSt :2
Directly held:
HEERR:
Chanhigh Investments Limited British Virgin Islands United States 100% 100% Investment holding
(“Chanhigh Investments”) Dollar 2
BEREBRAR(RERE] RERTEES 2% RERK
Indirectly held:
BiEEs:
Chanhigh Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
(“Chanhigh HK")
REEBERAR(NAEEE] BB 1T RERR
Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited The PRC RMB182,264,000 100% 100% Provision of services of
(“Chanhigh Construction”)* municipal work and
landscape construction
and related services
MLRBRRARAR (NABRR])* e AR% REERARRHETHIR
182,264,0007C R E R R PR AR
R
Zhejiang Chanhigh Industrial Investment The PRC HK$235,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Co., Ltd*
HDRBEERERR A" i 235,000,000/ 7 RERKR
Ningbo Chanhigh Small Town Investment The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Management Limited*
ERRBNEREERERBEEAA" i AR #10,000,0007 RERKR
Ningbo Yinzhou Zhanhai Enterprise The PRC RMB?25,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Management Limited
ERSMNRELCXERERAR HE AR #25,000,0007 RERKR
Zhejiang Hai Sui Xin Mao Construction The PRC RMB69,800,000 89.8% 89.8% Provision of construction
Management Limited and related services
HIERHXERERERD HE AR #69,800,0007C REERRABRS
Zhejiang Zhanhai Industrial L\mned The PRC N/A 100% 100% Provision of Agency
services
WIREEXZAERAR! HE TER RERE R

208 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED g/E#ZERERATF




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 19.

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
which, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

& These subsidiaries are registered in the PRC with limited
liability.
* These subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of
the Group’ subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB
amounted to RMB415,149,000 (2022: RMB328,928,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20.

Leased properties
HEWX
2023 2022
—ECCE il
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETT PNSERW

RE QR WRE (F)

FRREHEARARRAEETRRIBERESR
AEEXBRAEEEEFBERABODH
MEARMFE - EEZRA - RUEEGHE
RENHBREERATIER -

& ZEETHRELHBRARAEREE -

- RERZEBEBINEDRE -

R-E-_=F+-_A=+—8 K£EEH
FEMBARNUAREFENRITRIES
EHRAARE 415,149,000 (—ZFE - —4F:
A R #328,928,0007T) ° A K ¥ 5 # 5 Hh
k2o B CHME B IR IGH)) R(ERE - SER
NEEE A E)HMR -

EREEE
Leased machineries Total
HEHE &%

2023 2022 2023 2022

- ekl T —F etlmiegll T
RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETT PR AR%ETn PN:Ew

At 1 January n—A—A — = — 1,608 — 1,608
Additions NE 922 — — — 922 —
Depreciation e (142) — - — (142) —
Reclassification to property, ENEENE BER

plant and equipment R (HEE17)

(note 17) — = — (1,608) — (1,608)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 780 = — = 780 =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EiER = = =hEar = B = qr—[EllcSE e

% i b %
ol Y % il |
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20. ERAEEE (&)
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or LATAFTABENESE -
loss:
2023 2022
—E-= —ZF-=
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARKETTT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEENE 142 —
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBERNSER
(included in finance costs) (BETETBEA) 49 —
Short-term lease expenses (included in cost EHIHEER (BEEHE
of sales, and administrative and other AR RITB R HEE B
operating expenses) ) 233,109 338,064
Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in note HER SR L ATEMEAKIFE32(b) HEE ©
32(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE T =#+_A=+—HItEE

21.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

PG F & B

Share of net assets

21, BELEIER

2023
o=

— ==

RMB’ 000
AR®T

29,917

2022
=

I~

RMB’000
ARBTTT

25,181

Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 December
2023 are as follows:

Particulars of
issued sharing
capital/paid-up

Place of
incorporation/

Name establishment capital
AR S /
=t R ST 3t B BRITRAFE
China Railway First Group East The PRC RMB11,500,000
China Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd.
(“CRFG Construction”)
PEH-REBRERERIEERAA HH AR#11,500,0007T

(TERER))

The following table shows information on the associate
that is material to the Group. The associate is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method. The summarised financial information
presented is based on the IFRS financial statements of
the associate prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards.

AREBBMENCER T _=F+-"A=+

—BEEmT :

Equity interests attributable

to the Group Principal activities
A B e 1L B R TEEK
2023 2022
—E-=F g
45% 45%  Provision of
(note 32(c)) construction and
related services
45% 45% HRELER KAEEH
(Fi7E32(c)) PR

AT RESNAEBEA S BA L LER -
e Y R LI R
BRIE o TR OB 4B A AR AR IR A
%> BB B HRENMHEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &% 211




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

21, BedxsEs (E)

CRFG Construction

ERER
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZF-=
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARETT
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8":
Non-current assets EREBEE 57,821 62,788
Current assets mEEE 62,254 56,566
Current liabilities mEaE (53,593) (58,017)
Net assets FEE 66,482 61,337
Group’s share of carrying amount N2 & Fr{G 4 25 BR E (B
of interests 29,917 25127
CRFG Construction
ERER
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBT
Year ended 31 December HE+-_A=+—HBLFE
(2022: Period from 14 March (ZEBE-—F:=A+mWA=
to 31 December): +=—A=+—HIHHE) :
Revenue WA 47,435 46,406
Profit/(losses) after tax BEEFE(EBE) 645 (7,394)
Other comprehensive income Hih2milas — =
Total comprehensive income THKERRE 645 (7,394)

Dividend received from an 1o 21| Bt o b FE AR B

associate

As at 31 December 2023, the bank balances of the
Group’s associates in the PRC denominated in RMB
amounted to RMB7,113,000 (2022: RMB1,722,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22, EZNHMEKRKE
2023 2022
—E-= =S T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR% Tt ARETT
Trade and bills receivables EZRRREREKREE
Trade receivables B 5 R RIA 301,138 325,686
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIZREE (75,702) (79,291)
225,436 246,395
Bills receivables e 3,786 7,086
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIBREE (2,624) (639)
1,162 6,447
226,598 252,842
Other receivables H o fE IR IR
Construction contracts performance BERANBHRBS RIZEZ
guarantees and deposits for tender REE 34,832 14,180
Retention receivables (note) FEWIR E & (F72F) 40,851 44,574
Receivables for demolition expenses paid FEUSFE A B FRIB
in advance 32,075 32,065
Amount due from an associate JE B e 1 5
(note 36(a)(ii)) (H15#36(a) i) 28,403 32,903
Others Hh, 52,830 27,955
188,991 151,677
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts RIZREE (18,420) (2,865)
170,571 148,812
Prepayments and deposits ANRERES
Advance of suppliers and other HIERE TR R R E M TER K
prepayments 219,128 387,909
Lease deposits HERE 96 —
219,224 337,909
616,393 739,563
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22.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

22, EZRHEHMEWNRIE (&)
Trade and bills receivables represented the construction B ZRERFIAREREEIER S ®E B H
contracts and rendering of services receivables from the MEZREHARRBERBELEZFKIE - N
customers at each of the reporting dates. The Group’s EEEZEFHNEZEREZERNE LR o
trading terms with its customers are mainly based on the N ER B BN B 1 I R M [B] W R IE - DA
contract terms. The Group seeks to maintain strict control BIREERR Z=TFHEEE MG -
over its outstanding receivables to minimise the credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and bills AEEEZEWFIERERZENEREEE
receivables is all denominated in RMB. AAREEEHE -
The aging analysis of trade and bills receivables, based BB ZE LIRS RRIED RINKRR
on the contract terms for the works certified, net of ZERBEBEENE S EWHIE R EREIRE
allowance for bad and doubtful debts, is as follows: BOMBAT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR¥ET T
0 to 90 days 0E90K 87,250 100,407
91 to 180 days 91E180Kk 4,892 9,450
181 to 365 days 1812 365K 41,430 47,632
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 16 EBDR2F 23,789 51,116
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F LA FBADRIFE 32,226 11,127
Over 3 years 3FM 37,011 33,110
226,598 052,842
214 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED A#ZEKRAERAD A ==




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE

22.

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 22.

Note:

The aging analysis of retention receivables past due but not
impaired is as follows:

TLT;E ~f
4

B2 RHEAAEWRR (&)
s

£ 380 5 i 2RO (E B B WAR Bl & B BR iR 20 A 40
Fi

2023 2022

—g=-= —E-—F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR TR AREF T

Within 1 year 1FR 1,506 408
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 16 A LB DR2F 2,150 992
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F A EBDRIE 7,040 7,711
10,696 9,111

As at 31 December 2023, retention receivables, net of
allowance for bad and doubtful debts, included in other
receivables are RMB40,751,000 (2022: RMB44,574,000),
in which RMB30,055,000 (2022: RMB35,463,000) is
expected to be recovered after more than twelve months.

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23.

Contract assets

R-ZTE-_=F+-_A=+—8 st A&
FEUERTE R E SR E € (FNBR REBERE#E)
BAR®40,751,000c (ZE=Z—F : AR
#544,574,0007T) + H# AR #30,055,000
T(ZZE =4 : AR®35,463,0007T) f&
sHEBB+ =@ A &I -

BREE EGRNAMHE
BREE

2023 2022
—_=E_= —=E=-—

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT

Arising from performance under EAXB

— construction contracts — BEEY 1,207,686 1,125,828
— maintenance services — HERY 529 1,196
1,208,215 1,127,024
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts BB R REREE (32,844) (19,870)
1,175,371 1,107,154

Receivables from contracts with customers B &7 [ & 5 & H #h fE U 5k

within the scope of IFRS 15, which are H] - FEEBRVBHRE

included in “Trade and other receivables” 4 BI| 25 1556 &3 [ /9 8 Ut
& AT P RIE 267,349 263,207
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e

23. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. EHNEBE EAHNEE(E)

(CONTINUED)

Contract assets (Continued) EHNEE (H)

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from HENEERANSEREEAEBEIRE
customers under construction contracts that arise when —ZRIEEXNABNIER RRRBKIEP
the Group receives payments from customers in line with N BESNEENERRTERE -
a series of performance related milestones. Payment for EHERB TR A BEETEXN#E
maintenance services is not due from the customer until BR 7S MY RRIE - B AT A S PR TS 01T A 1
the maintenance services are complete and therefore a REREBEE  METRASELHREEZER
contract asset is recognised over the period in which the HEZ Bk -

maintenance services are performed to represent the
Group’s right to consideration for the services transferred

to date.
No revenue is recognised during the year from RERWEERKRGAABIT(KHBHE
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in THBAHRERWA -

previous period.

The amount of contract assets that is expected to be BB —FRREMNENEESTENR
recovered after more than one year is approximately ARBEIIO1EBL(ZE_F: ARK
RMB119.1 million (2022: RMB51.4 million). 5148 8&7T) °
Contract liabilities EHEE
2023 2022
—=E-= —_E-—
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥®T R ARETT

Billings in advance of performance BITEBORAIASR

obligation

— construction contracts — BEEY 66,733 100,731
Contract liabilities relating to construction contracts are HERANBEENANABERERNERR
balances due to customers under construction contracts. REEEANGBTE IREEERBARK
These arise if a particular milestone payment exceeds the BB S R IERIBRA A E AR AWA -
revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost BlgEd S LR -
method.

216 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED g/E#ZRERATR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
fRE M ERR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-F-SFt-AZ+-ALFE 2eming
I =
23. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. AHNEBE SHNAEEBE) \%
(CONTINUED)
Contract liabilities (Continued) BREEE)
Movements in contract liabilities: EHaEES):

2023 2022
—E_=fF —E-—F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T

At 1 January Rn—HA—H 100,731 84,833
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ZEH¥FAE L EE
recognising revenue during the year was ARG E A R WA

included in the contract liabilities at the MEBRLPNELNEE
beginning of the period (87,095) (76,177)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of i L& 8) 2 A #9785 3 &
billing in advance of construction activities BEEENNEHEEEM 53,097 92,075
At 31 December R+—A=+—8 66,733 100,731
24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 24, BITRBESER
2023 2022
—_ 2= —=E=-=
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREEF T
Cash at banks and on hand RITHFEESEFHEES 259,598 262,990
Deposits with initial terms of ¥#7 BAPR B 38 = & A 877 3K
over three months 156,500 69,916
416,098 332,906
Included in cash at banks and on hand, bank balances BERTRENEFRS HE-_ZT—_=
as at 31 December 2023 amounting to RMB7,026,000 FTA=T—"HHRTESRABARE
(2022: RMB33,737,000) were restricted for use mainly in 7,026,000 (ZE=Z-F : AR K
construction and building works projects. 33,737,0007T) ' PRI EZR R BEMBE
THREZR-
The interest rates on deposits with initial terms over three M HRBERA=EANGTERREBEE_S =
months were 1.7% to 3.4% (2022: 1.7% to 3.4%) per —F+_A=+—HLEFENFMNENTF
annum for the year ended 31 December 2023. 1.7%23.4% (ZB==F :1.7%%3.4%) °
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24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES (CONTINUED) 24. BIORBREHERR(HEH)
The carrying amount of the Group’s bank and cash AEERTERCESRNERBENATIE
balances is denominated in the following currencies: BEETHE

2023 2022
o= S

—_—_=—= —_—= ——

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTIT

RMB AR 415,365 328,928
HK$ BT 732 3,977
US$ ETT 1 1
416,098 332,906
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
The Company
KATF
No. of
ordinary
shares Amount
EEROEE G- ]
‘000 HK$’000 RMB’000
Fi& TET ARBTRT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, W-ZE-_—F—HA—H8 -
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —E-—F+—A
=t+—H -ZZE==%F
—A—RARZZT==%
+-A=+—H 2,000,000 20,000 17,733
Issued and fully paid: ERTRBE:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-—ZE-_—F—A—H"
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 ZEZZF+ZR
=+—HB ZZ=-=%F
—H—BRZZ_=%
TZHAEr—E 618,502 6,185 5,487
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25.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the payment of
dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. The Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts
or selling assets to reduce debts.

25. KR (&)

AEBEEEANBRINEBEERKRE
BENTFERREARBRFELENES
KR AR @

AEERBREBRREEATH AKEE
BEARER  URELHEARRNE(CMAE
REEMNRRFHETHE - B HH
BEAGERE  AEEARHEREXNM - #1T
AL - EREAD - BEMER  BLBRAR
B EEEARDER o

7N 6 538 48 B A AR AN AR I S 5 KB iR AN 4R
MO EAREEEHBRARE AREK
BIBATBR - BITHARD R A A BB 2 2A
RETHE BRRABEBINELEEEMN
HIR AR 75 2R T 18 L B BB AR AN ARAE o
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 25. BRA (48)
The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing AEBERBERGEL KEIZHER - %
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt (comprising kEHBEEE(RERESERER) R
lease liabilities and borrowings) divided by total equity AARRBIHEBE ANELBEERGTE - R_F
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios Z=EERZTEZFH+ZH=T—HAKE
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: KEBELENOT :
2023 2022
—=E-= —_EF-—
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt AR¥ET T
Lease liabilities HERE 841 =
Borrowings & 675,702 666,002
Total debt BEEE 676,543 666,002
Total equity attributable to owners of RAGIEB ANEGEER
the Company 970,970 940,225
Gearing ratio BARBEKEE 0.70 0.71
The Group overall strategy of gearing remains unchanged FR - AEERBEEBBERBRIFTE -

during the year.

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group
is in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it
has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from its share registrar
weekly on substantial share interests showing the
non-public float and it demonstrates continuing
compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year. As at
31 December 2023, 27.1% (2022: 27.1%) of the shares
were in public hands.
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 26.

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

RARNHMBRARKFEEE

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) ARAFART=A=+—HBHBRREK
as at 31 December
2023 2022
—EBE_=5F =fR= =&
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Kt AR®T T ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR E 19 — —
Total non-current assets ERBEELE — =
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AR ENGIE/$ ] 424,259 424,327
Bank balances IRIT4 R 893 3,923
Total current assets REBEERE 425,152 428,250
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 425,152 428,250
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners NATIHEB AEIGEZ
of the Company
Share capital [ 25 5,487 5,487
Reserves & 26(b) 418,506 421,316
Total equity EEEE 423,993 426,803
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FERT B REMER K 1,159 1,447
Total current liabilities REBEEHEE 1,159 1,447
TOTAL EQUITY EEkBaERE
AND LIABILITIES 425,152 428,250
Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March R-EBE-_NME=A=-t+ "BEhEZE
2024 and are signed on its behalf by: B WHUTATRERESSEE:
Peng Yonghui Peng Tianbin
T KE N
Director Director
EZE E=Z
e
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 26. AARMPBRRERRBESD (H)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) EATREES
Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
R4 5 8 RtER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETTT ARETT

At 1 January 2022 R-B-—#—A—R 457,366 (37,016) 420,350
Total comprehensive income FREAWELE

for the year = 966 966
At 31 December 2022 R-B-——#+-A=+—A 457,366 (36,050) 421,316
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=%—HA—H 457,366 (36,050) 421,316
Total comprehensive income FRE2EKRBE

for the year — (2,810) (2,810)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=%+=-A=+—H 457,366 (38,860) 418,506

27. RESERVES 27. f##E
(@) Group (a) A%KHE

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and AEENFEESEREEZEH 27N
movements therein are presented in the GiEmMAEMEE KGR ARERE
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other mEHRA -

comprehensive income and consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) RENEERAZR
(i)  Share premium () BREZE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the iES Tfﬁ'ﬁ BHERAEKEE
Cayman Islands, the funds in the share i) AR RIRMRERAMNE
premium account of the Company are @ﬂﬁiﬁ%$@ﬂﬂ§$ R
distributable to the shareholders of the BEIR B EZENDIKAH  AAF
Company provided that immediately following BHERN A EEBBREESH
the date on which the dividend is proposed to B ERERS H AR RE o

be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.
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27. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Other reserve

Other reserve arose as a result of the group
reorganisation as more fully explained in the
section headed “Reorganisation” in “History,
Development and Reorganisation” section of
the prospectus dated 21 March 2017 issued
by the Company and represents the difference
between the consideration of repurchase of
equity interests in Chanhigh Construction by
Chanhigh HK over the registered capital of
Chanhigh Construction.

Statutory surplus reserve

The statutory surplus reserve, which is
non-distributable, is appropriated from the
profit after tax of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries under the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC.

27. f#% (&)

(b) REHNMERARZR ()

(i)

(iii)

Rt e

HipFmREEEHE (FRRA
RAR_FB—tF=A=1—
ATZENERERIESL  #R
REMRI—HIER]DE) ME
ERRRBEERBASER
BN EBERESEREME
RZBEEERR -

EEBBRE

AEBBREBEIADIK - IR
BRBRERERIERBASE
] e 8D P B 2 ) O Bk A 1R )
PREAS -
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28. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 28. EFENRERENRE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date B S REMNFIBRKREY B 8RR ST
of receipt of goods, is as follows: wnR

2023 2022
o= o —

—_—_=—= —_—= ——

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBET ARBTIT

0 to 90 days 0Z 90K 96,355 83,066
91 to 180 days 91EF 180k 39,593 67,287
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 83,214 59,680
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 1FE A EEDR2F 77,132 80,875
Over 2 years but less than 3 years 2F A EBDRIF 55,606 19,296
Over 3 years 3ELE 54,724 49,694
406,624 359,898
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and bills AEEEZSENFERENEBENEEE
payables are all denominated in RMB. AANRBEHE -
29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. EFtEARHEMEMNRE

2023 2022
e T = —

—_—_=—= —_—=

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTIT

Accrued staff costs fEst 8 TR K 31,395 29,897
Accrued expenses EETF 4,178 3,886
Other tax payables E b E AR 5,478 16,973
Deposits from suppliers HERIZS 22,963 34,354

64,014 85,110
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

Within one year
More than one year,

30. HEA®E
Present value
of minimum
Minimum lease lease
payments payments
=EHEE
REBREXH S IEE
2023 2023
—EC=fF —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETF T ARETTT
—FRX 382 301

—FLAFERBE_F

but not exceeding two years 588 540
970 841

Less: Future finance charges kR RRIFIEKA (129) N/A i
Present value of lease obligations HEAERE 841 =
Less: Amount due for settlement within R T ZEARENESE

12 months (shown under current liabilities)  (BIRAREBEE) (301)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months + =B A B EN &5

(shown under non-current liabilities) B RAEREEE) 540
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates HE_ZT-_="F+-A=+—HILFEE
applied to lease liabilities for the year ended AREEEENINETHEEERNER
31 December 2023 was 12%. 12% °
All lease liabilities are denominated in HKS. FMEHEGEREERBT
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31.
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BORROWINGS 31. B
2023 2022
—ZE_= g T
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ANE¥ET T
Bank loans IRITER 675,702 666,002
The borrowings are repayable as follows: FEEEMNERAT
Within one year —F AR 573,700 560,000
More than one vyear, —F LA BT EBIBEWRF
but not exceeding two years 21,000 20,000
More than two years, LA BB B R
but not more than five years 63,000 63,000
More than five years RAELE 18,002 23,002
675,702 666,002
Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 B R B HA(EE M
within 12 months (shown under FEGIRTREBEE
current liabilities) HT) (573,700) (560,000)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  121& A & ZI| HiE & 0 218
(shown under non-current liabilities) (FIRIEREEE) 102,002 106,002

The carrying amount of the Group’s borrowings is

denominated in RMB.

REBERERAR
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31.

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The average interest rate per annum at 31 December is
as follows:

Bank loans RITER

& ™ (&)

R+-A=1+—HKFIGFEFERMT :

2022
= —

A I

%

4.38 4.41

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank loans of
RMB675,702,000 (2022: RMB666,002,000) were arranged
at floating rates and expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Bank loans of RMB497,700,000 (2022:
RMB492,000,000) were secured by a corporate
guarantee from a related company, BB EEEGRE R
7l (Chanhigh Holdings Group Limited (“CHHG”")) of
RMB560,000,000 (2022: RMB740,000,000), bank loans of
RMB56,000,000 (2022: RMB50,000,000) are secured by
directors of the Group and bank loans of
RMB122,002,000 (2022: RMB124,002,000) are secured by
a corporate guarantee from a subsidiary of the Group,
Chanhigh Construction of RMB254,000,000 (2022:
RMB254,000,000).

R-ZE-_=F+_A=+—H A£EEHN
IRITER A ARMGE75,702,000T (— & =
—F : AR#666,002,0007T) © BT ENF X
B SASEEERSREN KRR - iR
TERARBE 497,700,000 (= F——

A R #492,000,0007T) F B3 B A R R G 1L
BMEBBRAR (AEEKREER]) RBED
R ARBES560,000,0007T (ZF = — 4
AR #740,000,0007T) @ RITERARE
56,000,000 (T - —F: AR
50,000,000 ) A A& EE FIRHER R
TERAREE122,002,0007T (ZE = —4F:
AR #124,002,00070) A AL B/ — R
BRAAABERRELEERARK
254,000,000 (ZE - —F : AR
254,000,0007T) °
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32. LREBHE&REXRMTE
CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) MEZDEENEBHIER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRAMBETHEFINAEEEE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including gE) - REHEeRIRSED - GE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising EHELANABANAEBLGERS
from financing activities are those for which cash MERIEARETHMEHRERSE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in R eRENRKRERENEE -

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

At At
1 January Operating Financing Interest 31 December
2023 cash flows cash flows expenses Additions 2023
i
»n —EZZ=fF
—E=-= +=A
—HA—B RKRERTK WERER FEMAX #n Eqr=1[=
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTRE AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®TR ARBTT AR®TT
Bank borrowings RITIEFK
(note 31) (H15£31) 666,002 (29,188) 9,700 29,188 — 675,702
Lease liabilities HEBE — (49) (81) 49 922 84
666,002 (29,237) 9,619 29,237 922 676,543
At At
1 January Operating Financing Interest 31 December
2022 cash flows cash flows expenses  Reclassification 2022
Ji —E-fF
—T—_— +=A
—A—B &=2ReR ®WERER MERX ENR =+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFTT AREFTT ARBTE AR¥FTT AR¥FTT AR¥EF T
Bank borrowings RITERK
(note 31) (K1a£31) 688,796 (31,059) (22,794) 31,059 = 666,002
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,081 - — — (2,081) —
690,877 (31,059) (22,794) 31,059 (2,081) 666,002
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32. e BEE&RERMEE (&)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Total cash outflows for leases (b) HEBRSRHEAES
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of BEhEmeRenseRktTNEERS
cash flows for leases comprise the following: MEBEAT :
2023 2022
—=E-= —_E-—
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt AREFTT
Within operating cash flows BEELEREM 233,109 338,064
Within financing cash flows BEEREREN 81 —
233,190 338,064

These amounts relate to the lease payments.

(c) Partial disposal of a subsidiary subsequently as
an associate

On 14 March 2022, the Group partially disposed of
55% of the equity interest in CRFG Construction, an
originally wholly-owned subsidiary engaging in the
provision of construction and related services,
pursuant to an agreement with an independent third
party for a consideration of RMB35,000,000 with
reference to the fair value of the total identifiable
net assets approximate to their carrying amount at
the date of partial disposal. Subsequently, CRFG
Construction is an associate of the Group upon
losing control from the partial disposal while
significant influence is retained. Such partial
disposal is part of the Group’s strategy to optimise
its organisational structure.

e
25T

BAXMNMEERS -

(c) HEBIMBARLMABE SR

RZZE-—_F=A+MAB ' AEER
BHEBYE=ARIMNAME - 280 H
ECRFGER (RIEEZE KBRS
ME2EMEBRR) 5% E  RE
A AR #35,000,0007T © 2 0 R
FEEBTEMNRAREER  EURED
HEBAMRmMERE- - K% CRFGE
LA HEREITHIEERAEE

VEtE AR RBREBTERTE
o ZEFHHHEREEB BB
*%?)JZIBD E"]_ﬁBTJ °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A== =hEgr = B = Sr—[ElIr S E

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32.

e

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c)

230 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED

Partial disposal of a subsidiary subsequently as

FERERERME (H)

(c) HEBIMEBLARLKABERE

an associate (Continued) (%)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAnBEFAENAHAFEERT
approximate to their carrying amount at the date of GEURE S HEE BREEE) A
partial disposal were as follows: N
RMB’000
AR¥ETTT
Property, plant and equipment M - WE KR 151
Intangible assets mEE 63,232
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E g WK1 16,011
Contract assets GHEE 26,770
Bank and cash balances RITRIE S &8 2,060
Trade payables 5 BN RIE (11,225)
Accruals and other payables FEEHE A & E M RIE (133)
Amounts due to the Group e S E IR (33,279)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AIRRFEEANBEE 63,587
Fair value of 45% of the equity interest in RERERAS%ERE A
CRFG Construction retained as investment in A EERNREE
an associate (28,614)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value partially BHEXDIHRBFEER
disposed of REEE 34,973
Gain on partial disposal of a subsidiary subsequently & 285 B Q=LK A
an associate (note 8) Bk > ZEPTIS (H7E8) 27
Total consideration satisfied by cash BHeRELT 35,000
Net cash inflow arising on the partial disposal: HoOHEMEEANIREIN
Cash consideration received WEIHReRE 35,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of TENReRREFEY (2,060)
32,940

REBERERAR




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
s med e ea e B S o — (5] [l 42

33.

34.

35.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
have any significant contingent liabilities.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee regularly entered into short-term
leases for office equipment and offices. The lease
commitments for those short-term leases are similar to the
short-term lease expenses recognised for the year. The
corresponding short-term lease expenses of the portfolio
of short-term leases during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 were disclosed in note 20.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
have any significant capital commitments.

33.

34.

35.

FREE

R-BE_=FR-_F_—"F+_A=+—
B AEBTETMEAKABE -

REHERY

AEBEAEAAARTEHEENRAER
BERAE - S HHENHEERIER
EFHANEHEAEERAAN -HE_Z
ZEERZEFFTZA=+—HLHF
ERHEEHENEEEHEEERAER
B 5E20 R 4 5 o

BAREE

R _=FR_FE-_—_F+-_A=+—
B ANEBETREKNEAREE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE MEERRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements,

the Group had the following

transactions with its related parties during the year:

(M)

(ii)

Related party transactions

36. BABALIXZ

(a) BBMBMEEMEBOMEENZER
MO RERIN NEBRFARAYE
EHERM S ETIATRS

(i) BHELIXS

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
Rental expenses and building S TEBARMNES
management fee paid to AXREFEERS
a related company 883 872
Peng Family is interested in the transactions ZRRIEEREE RS A
above to the extent they are ultimate H’]F%E\ BREMNBERLTRE

beneficial shareholders of the related MR G EERELR -
company.
Related party balance (i) BB &
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR T T AREFTT
Amount due from an associate JE Uk B 2 FE TR
(note 22) (H1zE22) 28,403 32,903
Allowance for bad and RIZREAE
doubtful debts (10,792) —
17,611 32,903

The balance as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

232 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED g/E#ZRERATR

RZBE_=FR_F__F+
“A=1+—HB BEAEEE
REBEBRIEFER -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

36.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)  The remuneration of directors and other members of
key management during the years is as follows:

RE M BHRRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+"_A=+—HILFE

36. BEALXZ (&)

(b)

RER EEREMEIZEEARDN
T

2023 2022
o= —m—

—_—=—= —_—=

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTIT

Salaries and other benefits Fre REAER 603 603

Retirement benefit scheme BRIREFF B
contributions 93 75
696 678

(c) The related company, CHHG has guaranteed bank
loans made to the Group totalling RMB497,700,000
(2022: RMB492,000,000) at 31 December 2023.
CHHG is related to the Group to the extent that
Peng Family are the ultimate beneficial shareholders
of CHHG.

(d) Peng DS and Peng YH, directors of the Company,
have guaranteed bank loans made to the Group
totalling RMB56,000,000 (2022: RMB50,000,000) as
at 31 December 2023.

(c)

RN-ZB-=F+=-—A=+—H @
RERGIEREBIRE T AEEMNR
TEFEREG T AR 497,700,000
T(ZZ=—4F: AR¥492,000,000
T0) ° RS RR £ B A K E R 2
AAERKREAEKIKRERTRE -

RZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 XA
RERZEANT KB AAERER
A R #56,000,000t (= = — 4 :
A R #50,000,0007T) R 17 & FUIR
ER -
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Definitions

Bx

“Acting-in-Concert
Confirmation”

[—BITBHERE]

“AGM”
[RRBFRE ]

“Articles of Association”

(AR ER2 4R )

“associate(s)”

RN

“Audit Committee”

[BE%ZLZEg]

“Auditor”

[ 1% 2 A

“Board Committees”

[EE5ZE=]

“Board of Directors” or
“Board”

X34

“BVI”
[(REBEXES]

“Canghu”

(2]

234 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED BiSZERAERA ”ME’M é% e

L |

an acting-in-concert confirmation dated 20 March 2011 executed by Mr. Peng
YH, Mr. Peng TB, Mr. Peng DS and Ms. Wang SF whereby the Peng Family
confirmed that, inter alia, it has a common control and influence on the
management, operations and voting rights of Chanhigh Construction and its
subsidiaries

HEKEBEYE ZRBALE ZEELAERTFEFLXIFZEYNBHRR-_T——F
ZSAZTHO—BTHERE  BUTZRFREER (HP i) HEREEREA
MBARMNER LERREEEAHLRAZHILTE

the annual general meeting of the Company

ARBNBRRBFRE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
KRBT AR AEBEIRZAE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB ETRAE FRANKE

audit committee of the Company, comprising all the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fan Rong, Mr. Shi Weixing and Mr. Yang
Zhongkai
RAFIEREZEE  AEBBEIERNITERER  BIERAE  MEELEERE
Rl 5 &

RSM Hong Kong
BEREGMELA

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Strategy Committee
ERZZET FHEZEw REZESRFREZEE

il2)S

the board of Directors
e

the British Virgin Islands
RBRELES

Huzhou Canghu Construction Investment Company Limited (G158 53R I% &
BMRAF]), a limted liability company established in the PRC which is
indirectly owned as to 72.7% by CHHG, 20% by Huzhou Nantaihu Municipal
Construction Company Limited (/N AMHEER AR A F]) (an Independent
Third Party) and 7.3% by Mr. Peng TB and his spouse
HMINAMERIREEBRART  —KRABEKZMNERAR  ARAGEREE B
NEZAMMNERXATHRERBERAFTURZRBEERARBY HIBERE
72.7% * 20% 5 7.3% & #E




Definitions (Continued)

gx (&

“Cayman lIslands
Companies Law”

[FERERRE]

“CG Code”
[{EER<FA

“Chanhigh Construction”

“Chanhigh HK”

REEE]

“Chanhigh Investments”

RERE]

“‘CHHG”

RS EE ]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands
REMBERFRE(RREN—NA—FEBIFIEN - BixE RIERT)

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
FHRAIE T MEREHSEEGTA

Zhejiang Chanhigh Construction Limited (/T2 /&2:Z AR A7), formerly
known as Zhejiang Chanhigh Municipal Landscape Construction Limited (/T
BETMHEMERAERAF), Yin County Shanshui Landscape Engineering
Limited (Z8SZIL7KEMTIZAGR A R]), Ningbo Shanshui Landscape Construction
Limited (2 )& IL/KEMEFZRABR A7) and Ningbo Shanshui Construction
Limited (228 IL7KERAR AR, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 22 February 2001, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chanhigh
HK and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

IR BERERAT (FIBANILAESTHEMERER AR » 2 &% ILKEMK
TRERAT BRIUWKEMESBRAFTRERLKEZERZBERAA) « —RR
ZETF AT ZHAERBEKINERAR - RREEENZEWNB AR R
RAREEEZENBE A A

Chanhigh Hong Kong Limited (/8 & & AR A F]), a limited liability company
established in Hong Kong on 30 March 2016, which is wholly-owned by
Chanhigh Investments

BEBBERAF  —RRZEBE—RNF-A=Z+HEEEKXINERRAR ' A
BREZEHRE

Chanhigh Investments Limited (/81 & B MR A 7)), a limited liability company
established in the BVI on 15 March 2016, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

BEREBRAR —FR_E—AF-ATHAGERBEZHEXNTIHNERA
Al RARANEEWERA

]

Chanhigh Holding Group Limited (/8% EHBR A 7)), formerly known as
Ningbo Chanhigh Investment Ltd. (2R /8K EHGR A7) and Ningbo
Chanhigh Holding Group Ltd. (22 /EI1EREBEFR A A, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 26 April 2005, which is owned as to 30%
by Mr. Peng TB, 20% by Mr. Peng DS and 50% by Ms. Wang SF, and a
connected person of the Company

BREEREBERAR (AIBABRREREARAFRERABIEREEFR
RE)  —FKR_ETRAFMOMA_+TANBEFBEKINERAF - BEZRWEE
CEETERTERZLTHEAEZ0% - 20% K50%#e + AARABEAL

the People’s Republic of China, which for geographical reference only,
excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China and Taiwan

hEARANE B 2ZME  TREFE  PEARANMBERPIREFRIFTER

BRAH
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Definitions (Continued)

B= (&)

head

“close associate(s)”
[ A

“Company”

[ARAaE]

“connected person(s)”

(B AL]

“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”

[ 22 AR

“Director(s)”

(%]

“EIT
[ERATEH

“EIT Law”

[EEMAEBIA]

“ESG”
[RFEHEER]

“ESG Guide”

H

[REHEERES ]
“ESG Report”

[(REMEE WS

“Global Offering”
[EEREE]

“Group”
[AEE]

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
(&8 ]

“Hong Kong dollars”,
“HK$” or “HKD”
[Tl
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| IR et |

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB LHRBETZANRE

Chanhigh Holdings Limited (B/EIEREMR A F]), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 1 April 2016
BEZERBRAR — XN _E—A"FUA—BEHASHSIMKINERES
[{E/N]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BA AR T % e R =

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the Peng Family, Vast Base and TEUR

AR EWARANETZANRERENEREAEN  AIRZERRE SR ERE

the director(s) of the Company

ARBIEF

the PRC Enterprise Income Tax

REMEMEH

the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (FZEARKEFMBEREMERE), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

(PEARKMBEEMRBHREL) - ETRET AT

Environmental, Social and Governance

RE e RER

Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide”

FARANE T ECGRE g RERBRERES)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B HEREEHE

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Placing
EEAHABENEREE

the Company and its subsidiaries
ARRREHE R A

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEBRRITHE

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

7 RtEE B REBE BT KB

(i




Definitions (Continued)

gx (&

“Hong Kong Share
Registrar”
[BEEEFELE]

“Hongyuan Construction”

[ AR

“IFRS”

[ B R B 7% &5 22 R

“Listing”
[

“Listing Rules”
[ Em A

“Main Board”
[FHx]
“Model Code”
[EAE<T R

“Mr. Peng DS”

“‘Mr. Peng TB”

EZZ S

“‘Mr. Peng YH”

[KIE 5 A |

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
EREPAREBRERARRAA

Ningbo Hongyuan Construction Limited (Z&sARERARAR]), formerly
known as Xingfengying (Fujian) Construction Limited (f2$2& (1812) 2R AR
~|]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 11 December
2017, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BERLRERBRAT (AIBEER (BR)ERBERRARF) —KRZZ—+kF+
ZAT—BEHREKRIMNBRAT  AAATNEEZERNB QR

IFRS Accounting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board
B 2 5 2E 13 55 & 28 40 O B IR B TS 3R A R

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PR An B 32 AT E AR TR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B 32 e o L AR B

the stock market (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM
B PTEEMNRETS (TERBETS)  BYNGEMAEEE FITEE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
FHARAMETAE B ITAEFETERR HNIFRESTA

Mr. Peng Daosheng (¥i#E4), the founder and an executive Director, a
member of the Peng Family, spouse of Ms. Wang SF, and father of Mr. Peng
TB and Mr. Peng YH
BIARATESZBELRE  ZREKKE - TRFLLHEBREZREELE
HR 25K IR S A BV AR

Mr. Peng Tianbin (¥X#), an executive Director and chairman of the
Company, a member of the Peng Family, son of Mr. Peng DS and Ms. Wang
SF, and brother of Mr. Peng YH

RRARMITEEREIFZRBEE  ZRERKKE - ZEETEREIRZFLLH
FFAREZKIEEERI

Mr. Peng Yonghui (¥7K}#8), an executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company, a member of the Peng Family, son of Mr. Peng DS and Ms.
Wang SF, and brother of Mr. Peng TB

RABITESRITBAERZ KELE  ZREGKE  ZEBELEERTFREFTX
TR F AR R 5t £ B 2R
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Definitions (Continued)

B= (&)

“Ms. Wang SF”

[E&ZF Lt

“Nomination Committee”

[fREZEg

“Peng Family”

EZEN

“PPP”

[PPP |

“PRC government”

[ B

“PTB Family Trust”

EZNEEN IR

“PYH Family Trust”

EZZNEN I

“Remuneration Committee”

[(FHEEE

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[ARE ]

238 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED g/E#ZERERAR

Ms. Wang Sufen (E£Z7%5), a non-executive Director, a member of the Peng
Family, spouse of Mr. Peng DS, and mother of Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH
FATESIZH XL  ZTRRKKE  ZEELENRRB ZREEERTK
18 5T A B BERR

nomination committee of the Company, comprising two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Shi Weixing and Mr. Yang Zhongkai and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Peng YH

ARAIREBEZES  AMEBBUIFNTEFHRBRZ LERGHILEAR—BH
TEFZKIETEAK

Mr. Peng DS, Ms. Wang SF, Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH
CEESE  TEFZT  ERBEERTKBEAE

Public-Private-Partnership, a business model in which public infrastructure
projects are financed, built and operated by way of partnership between the
public sector and the private sector

NIER  —BEBEX EEBREREAT  AHEWRWER HUALaEAR
RHEES  HEERLE

the government of the PRC including all political subdivisions (including
provincial, municipal and other regional or local government entities) and their
instrumentalities thereof or, where the context requires, any of them

FEBA  BREMEBEAD XHE (BEAR  mRAKEMME ST BUTEE)
K H AR SN ERE - AP ER—IR

The Peng Tian Bin Family Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Peng YH,
the beneficiaries of which shall include Mr. Peng TB and his descendants
who carry the “PENG” (¥) surname

TRBREETS B KBEEERUNZEERE X AREERBEERE
[Z e s

The Peng Yong Hui Family Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Peng YH,
the beneficiaries of which shall include Mr. Peng YH and his descendants
who carry the “PENG” (¥) surname

CKBREES BT KBEEERUNEEER X AREEXKEBELEERAE
[Z e %

remuneration committee of the Company, comprising two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yang Zhongkai and Mr. Shi Weixing and one
executive Director namely Mr. Peng TB

ARAFIFHEE S AMEBYFATEEGHITERBHELEUNR B
TEFZRMEEEKX

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEEERE®ARK




Definitions (Continued)

gx (&

“SFC”

]EUIP
B
ils)3

“SFO”

[7& 7 & B E 501

“Share(s)”
[ A& 1R

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“Stock Exchange”

[ 22 A

“Strategy Committee”

[REZE R

\

WEH
m
23

“subsidiary(ies)”

NGl

“substantial
shareholder(s)”
[F ZRREE ]

“TEUR”

[REE]

“Trustee”

[ZFEA]

“Vast Base”

V&2 ]

“Year”

[AEE]

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
ERESLHAEEBEREZES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BRAVIESTIBC(EZ R EGRODEREERT - WA EL T N ER)

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company
ARRA R PRAN A ) R AR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMAERXFBRRAR]

strategy committee of the Company, comprising two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Peng TB and Mr. Peng YH, and one independent non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Fan Rong

ARAFIRREEG  AMEBRTEFZRBEERZKEBEEE AR —EBIIEH
TEFEBRTEAK

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EWmRBIEFZANRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB AR T % R &

TEUR Holdings Limited (REEIZERRBRAF]), a company incorporated under
the laws of BVI with limited liability on 15 March 2016, and is wholly-owned
by Mr. Peng YH as the Trustee of the PTB Family Trust

REERBRAT  — KR ZZE-—A"F-ATHARBRERE XS EETMK
VYHERAR  HERBREEAORTEAZKELEL2ERSF

Mr. Peng YH, the trustee of the PYH Family Trust and the PTB Family Trust
ZAKBREEARZRBRIEETEHNRTAZKIELE

Vast Base Investments Limited (5i2#% & AR A7), a company incorporated
under the laws of BVI with limited liability on 15 March 2016, and is wholly-
owned by Mr. Peng YH as the Trustee of the PYH Family Trust
ERREBRAR S — KR ZE—R"F-A+AEREBEEBE XS AETMK
VHARAR AR KEREEENIEAZKELELERESR

the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLFE
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Definitions (Continued)

B= (&)

L . ]
“YZTB” Ningbo Yinzhou Tianbin Trading Limited (BEMEMREZZERAR]), a
company owned as to 90.18% by CHHG and as to 9.82% by Ms. Wang SF
[ENRE ] B ZEERMENKEEZEZIERAR —HHARIEREBRTEZS L+ H5ES

90.18% %.9.82% A% 1 H) A &

‘%" per cent.

[%] ¥ Bk

240 CHANHIGH HOLDINGS LIMITED A&EZRAERA N [ﬁ’ﬁ(ﬁ’r | ﬁ
I| I| I| I| wf






	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Financial Highlights
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Directors and Senior Management
	Report of the Directors
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Definitions
	Back Cover

